

Primary islet graft function and its impact on the success of pancreatic islet transplantation Mikaël Chetboun

▶ To cite this version:

Mikaël Chetboun. Primary islet graft function and its impact on the success of pancreatic islet transplantation. Human health and pathology. Université de Lille, 2022. English. NNT: 2022ULILS059 . tel-04218262

HAL Id: tel-04218262 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04218262

Submitted on 26 Sep 2023

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





Thèse de doctorat d'Université Pour l'obtention du titre de

DOCTEUR DE L'UNIVERSITÉ DE LILLE Discipline : Chirurgie Viscérale et Digestive

Présentée par Mikaël CHETBOUN

Rôle de la fonction primaire du greffon d'îlots pancréatiques et impact sur le succès de la transplantation d'îlots pancréatiques

Présentée et soutenue publiquement le 9 décembre 2022

JURY

Président : Monsieur le Professeur Marc HAZZAN Rapporteurs : Monsieur le Professeur Michael R. RICKELS Monsieur le Professeur Lorenzo PIEMONTI Examinateurs : Monsieur le Professeur Lionel BADET Invitées : Madame le Professeur Marie-Christine VANTYGHEM Madame le Professeur Julie KERR-CONTE Directeur de thèse : Monsieur le Professeur François PATTOU Codirecteur de thèse : Monsieur le Docteur Thomas HUBERT

Remerciements

À mon Maître et Directeur de Thèse,

Monsieur le Professeur François PATTOU

Professeur des Universités - Praticien Hospitalier Service de Chirurgie Générale et Endocrinienne Hôpital Claude-Huriez - CHU de Lille Unité Inserm 1190 - Egid - Université de Lille

Je vous remercie de la formation scientifique et chirurgicale dont je bénéficie.

L'énergie que vous mettez en œuvre pour les patients et la recherche est un exemple pour notre équipe et nourrit ma motivation.

Je vous remercie de m'avoir confié ce travail et de m'avoir fait confiance pour sa réalisation. Vous me faites l'honneur de diriger cette thèse.

Merci pour votre soutien ces dernières années, ainsi que de l'opportunité de travailler à vos côtés pour les années à venir. Soyez assuré de mon profond respect.

À mon codirecteur de Thèse,

Monsieur le Docteur Thomas HUBERT

Maître de Conférence des Universités Unité Inserm 1190 - Egid - Université de Lille

Thomas, tu me fais l'honneur de codiriger cette thèse. Je te remercie de m'avoir encouragé et soutenu dans tous les moments importants personnels et professionnels tout au long de ce travail et depuis mon arrivée à Lille. Merci de ton aide précieuse et de ta présence.

À mes juges,

Monsieur le Professeur Marc HAZZAN

Doyen de la Faculté de Médecine de Lille Henri Warembourg Professeur des Universités - Praticien Hospitalier Service de Néphrologie Hôpital Claude-Huriez - CHU de Lille

Vous me faites l'honneur d'accepter de faire partie du Jury de cette thèse. Veuillez accepter mes sincères remerciements et soyez assuré de mon profond respect.

Monsieur le Professeur Michael R. RICKELS

Professor in Diabetes and Metabolic Diseases

Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes & Metabolism, Department of Medicine, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania,

Institute for Diabetes, Obesity & Metabolism, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA

Vous me faites un grand honneur par votre présence tout d'abord et par vos remarques et aides qui m'ont guidé dans la réalisation de ce travail.

Votre intervention auprès du CITR a été précieuse et a permis une riche collaboration avec leur équipe et l'environnement nécessaire pour la réalisation de ce travail. Soyez assuré de ma reconnaissance profonde.

Your presence is a great honor for me, first of all, and your comments and help guided me in the realization of this work.

Your intervention with CITR was precious and allowed a rich collaboration with their team and the appropriate environment for the realization of this work.

Please, be certain of my deepest gratitude.

Monsieur le Professeur Lorenzo PIEMONTI

Professor in Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases Diabetes Research Institute IRCCS Ospedale, San Raffaele, Milan, Italy

Vous me faites un grand honneur par votre présence tout d'abord et par vos remarques précises et pointues sur ce projet. Merci de votre aide et soutien dans la réalisation de ce travail.

Soyez assuré de ma reconnaissance profonde.

Your presence is a great honor for me, first of all, and your sharp and detailed comments on this project were particularly important. Thank you for your help and support in the realization of this work.

Please, be assured of my deepest gratitude

Monsieur le Professeur Lionel BADET

Professeur des Universités - Praticien Hospitalier Service d'Urologie, Chirurgie de la transplantation Hôpital Edouard Herriot - CHU de Lyon

Merci d'avoir accepté de juger mon travail. Merci pour l'énergie et la passion que vous avez engagées pour unifier notre communauté de cliniciens impliqués dans la Transplantation d'îlots et de Pancréas.

Veuillez accepter mes sincères remerciements et soyez assuré de mon profond respect.

Madame le Professeur Marie-Christine VANTYGHEM

Professeur des Universités - Praticien Hospitalier Service d'Endocrinologie, Diabétologie, Maladies Métaboliques et Nutrition Hôpital Claude-Huriez - CHU de Lille Unité Inserm 1190 - Egid - Université de Lille

Merci d'avoir accepté de juger mon travail. Merci de m'avoir fait confiance pour la réalisation des travaux de recherche chez les patients greffés d'îlots, de tous vos conseils et corrections ainsi que d'avoir toujours pris du temps pour moi. Merci pour l'énergie que vous avez engagée durant toutes ces années dans le suivi des patients.

Veuillez accepter mes sincères remerciements et soyez assurée de mon profond respect.

Madame le Professeur Julie KERR-CONTE

Professeur des Universités Unité de Thérapie Cellulaire - CHU de Lille Unité Inserm 1190 - Egid - Université de Lille

Merci d'avoir accepté de juger mon travail. Merci de vos conseils et soutiens depuis mon arrivée au laboratoire, de votre expérience et connaissance aiguë de la biologie des îlots. Merci pour l'énergie que vous avez engagée avec les membres du laboratoire durant toutes ces années dans l'isolement des îlots de Langerhans pour le traitement des patients diabétiques.

Veuillez accepter mes sincères remerciements et soyez assurée de mon profond respect.

L'achèvement de ce travail est l'occasion pour moi de remercier les personnes qui m'ont permis de le réaliser et grâce à qui j'ai pu mener cette thèse à son terme.

Je tiens particulièrement à remercier la Fondation de l'Avenir, la Fondation i-Site ULNE, l'INSERM, l'Université de Lille et la fédération EGID pour leur soutien durant cette thèse.

Au terme de ce travail, je tiens tout particulièrement à remercier pour votre aide et votre soutien:

L'équipe de l'Unité U-1190 pour votre aide précieuse durant ces nombreuses années, votre grande expertise dans cette merveilleuse thématique de la transplantation d'îlots de Langerhans et les heures passées à l'isolement des pancréas.

L'équipe du DHURE pour votre grande expérience dans la recherche animale sur modèle porcin, votre disponibilité, bonne humeur et pour votre professionnalisme.

L'équipe du service de Chirurgie Générale et Endocrinienne pour votre expertise et le grand honneur de faire partie de votre équipe.

L'équipe du service Service d'Endocrinologie, Diabétologie, Maladies Métaboliques et Nutrition pour votre expertise, votre soutien et votre grande expérience dans le suivi des patients gréffés.

Merci particulièrement à :

Julie, Valéry, Mehdi M., Caroline, Violeta, Nathalie, Julien, Chiara, Rofigua, Benjamin, Alexandre, Gianni, Mehdi D., Pierre, Bruno, Sandrine, Renée, Isanga, Pauline, Anaïs.

Arnold, Audrey, Franck, Martin, Thibault, Mimi, Sabrina.

Robert, Greg, Camille, Naïma, Clothilde, Hélène, Mathilde, Laurie, FX, Houssem, Toni, Juliette, Christelle, Anne-Sophie, Anastasia, Jennifer, Ilona

Marie-Christine, Kristell, Frédérique, Anne-Sophie, Géraldine

À Jean-Luc, Kata, Régis, Jean Philippe, Sylvie, Stéphanie, Vincent, Jérémy, Antoine et tous mes frères d'armes du CEKN

Merci de votre amitié et de votre soutien.

À ma chère famille, merci de m'avoir toujours soutenu et encouragé.

Maman, Patrick, Monique, Aïda, Papy Jo, Ilan, Salomé, Lara, Robert, Simon, Charlyne, Yann, Nathan, Eléa, Huguette, Nelly, Arlette, Colette, Victor, Denis, Laure, Eric, Michelle, Guy, Hervé, Emanuelle, Christian, Micha, Mylène, Pédro, Joëlle, Bruno, Carole, Roxane, Lisa, Léa, Pierre, Arnaud, Romain, Clara, Hannah, Alex, Maxime, Elias, Arthur, Laurent, Julien, Mimi, Henri, Martine, Myriam, Rachel, Jonathan, David, Yoël.

À mes grands-parents, Odette, Mireille, René et Meyer.

À mon cher papa. J'aurais tant aimé que tu sois aujourd'hui avec nous.

À mon petit Raphaël, mon petit prince chéri, À Norah, ma fille d'amour, Je suis tellement fier et fou de vous. À Sarah, la plus belle moitié de moi, je t'aime si fort, Merci d'être le pilier de notre famille, de ton soutien et de ton aide inconditionels, Je n'aurais jamais pu y arriver sans toi.

Table of Contents

Table of Contents14
List of Figures
Abbreviations
Part 1: Introduction
1.1 Overview
1.2 Pancreatic islet transplantation 21
1.3 Indication of islet allotransplantation for the treatment of type 1 diabetes 24
1.4 Islet Transplantation is Standard of Care in brittle type 1 diabetes
1.5 Complications of islet transplantation
1.6 Long-term outcome and multifactorial decline in functional beta cell mass following islet transplantation
1.7 Objectives
Part 2: Methods and Results 45
2.1 Article 1: Optimizing primary graft function in islet allotransplantation: the Lille experience
2.2 Article 2: Ten-year outcome of islet alone or islet after kidney transplantation in type 1 diabetes: a prospective parallel-arm cohort study
2.3 Article 3: Examination of the Igls criteria for defining functional outcomes of β-cell replacement therapy: Ipita symposium report
2.4 Article 4: Relation between primary graft function and 5-year outcomes of islet allogeneic transplantation in type 1 diabetes: a retrospective cohort study in 1210 participants from the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry
Part 3: Discussion and Perspectives128
3.1 Findings
3.2 Limitations
3.3 Perspectives and clinical implications 135
Part 4: References
Part 5: Abstract
Abstract
Résumé

List of Figures

Figure 1: Key steps of pancreatic islet transplantation developments (adapted from Figure 2: Different generations of insulin delivery systems. First generation (A), second generation with tubeless pumps (B), third generation with glucose sensor augmented pump, called open loop when help the decision (C), closed-loop automated delivery systems (D) Figure 3: Indications for allogeneic islet β -cell replacement therapy in type 1 diabetes with preserved kidney function, end-stage renal disease or previous kidney transplantation (adapted from Vantyghem and colleagues²) 27 Figure 4: Metabolic outcomes at the baseline and 6 months in islets transplanted recipients Figure 5: Islet cell isolation with digestion of pancreas using mechanical and collagenase Figure 6: Islet purification: The diagram on the left represents a solution of digested pancreas (islet cells in red and exocrine/ductal cells in green) and on the right after purification procedure by Ficoll[™] gradient of different densities, release of rings of islet of different purity, the purest fraction (top ring) will be transplanted (adapted from U-1190 Cell Therapy Unit). Figure 7: Surgical islet transplantation by mini-invasive laparotomy. Under general anesthesia, a 5 cm incision is made in the operating room (A). The last intestine loop is found (B) and the vessels are visualized with a vein scanner device (C, black arrow), then a catheter is inserted in the vein (D) and moved to the portal trunk. The islets are then infused into the patient's liver. Images of the slow infusion of the islets (E) (adapted from U-1190, Cell Therapy Unit). Figure 8: Islets engrafted in the liver, one year following intraportal islet transplantation. On the lower picture we visualize the islets after immunostaining of alpha cells (anti-glucagon antibody immunostaining, green) and beta cells (anti- insulin antibody immunostaining, red) Figure 9:Prevalence of graft function (serum C-peptide level \geq 0.3 ng/mL) post last infusion during 5 years in ITA (top diagram) and IAK recipients (bottom diagram) in the CITR cohort Figure 10: Prevalence of insulin Independence post last infusion during 5-years in ITA (top diagram) and IAK recipients (bottom diagram) in the CITR cohort(adapted from eleventh CITR Figure 11: Outline representation of early- and long-term factors involved in beta-cell Figure 12: Islet cell (anti-chromogranin A Ab immunostaining, red) infiltration by T cells (mononuclear cells with anti-CD3 Ab immunostaining, blue), in a liver biopsy performed in a patient following intraportal islet transplantation (12A). Pancreatic cells activate coagulation, leading to activation of platelets and to portal thrombosis and stimulation of polynuclear cells, that damage the endothelial wall (12B). (Pre Edmonton era, adapted from U-1190, Cell Figure 13: Survival of cadaveric kidney grafts according to the number of HLA-A, B, and DR mismatches and according to the urine flow on the first day post transplantation. The

Abbreviations

Islet Transplantation (IT) Type 1 Diabetes (T1D) Islet Transplantation Alone (ITA) Simultaneous Islet and Kidney transplantation (SIK) Islet-After-Kidney transplantation (IAK) Serious Adverse Events (SAEs) Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate (eGFR) Primary islet Graft Function (PGF) Continuous Glucose Monitoring Systems (CGMS)

Part 1: Introduction

1.1 Overview

Pancreatic islet transplantation is an established β -cell replacement therapy strategy for the treatment of severe type 1 diabetes. Modern developments in islet isolation, cell culture, immunosuppression and transplantation have significantly enhanced patient safety and improved long-term clinical outcomes^{1,2}.

For type 1 diabetes patients, islets isolated from a pancreas procured from a deceased donor associated with intrahepatic allogeneic transplantation under immunosuppression allow restoration of endogenous insulin secretion associated with glucagon counter-regulation³. The recovery of endogenous secretion of insulin significantly reduces and sometimes even discontinues the use of exogenous insulin therapy, decreases or even stops the occurrence of severe hypoglycemia by stabilizing glycemic lability and maintaining an optimal glycemic balance, with a better quality of life ^{2,4–6}. Most often, recipients receive several islet infusions from several human pancreases. This multiple islet infusion from several pancreas donors approach differs mainly from allogeneic pancreas organ transplantation.

The development of alternative sources of insulin-secreting cells for diabetes β -cell replacement therapy is also a growing field of research with ongoing clinical trials and promises to expand the availability of islet transplantation in the future treatment of diabetes⁷.

Nevertheless, the function of transplanted allogeneic human islets decreases over time, and this failure is multifactorial and due to the characteristics of the donor, recipient, isolation process, cell culture and islet transplantation itself in the context of immunosuppressive therapy.

Our work focused on the optimization of islet transplantation, and in particular on the predictive role of the primary islet graft function on the long-term outcome of allogeneic islet transplantation.

1.2 Pancreatic islet transplantation

While islet transplantation (IT) is now considered as a standard of care approach to restore glucose control in patients with severe type 1 diabetes (T1D) in many countries, this approach, which is complementary to whole-organ pancreas transplantation, has benefited from many developments.

The earliest preclinical reports on murine diabetic models, published in the early 1970s $^{8-10}$, confirmed that IT was effective in achieving glucose control under both syngeneic and allogeneic conditions, and that transplantation into the liver route was an effective transplant site $^{10-12}$.

This proof of concept of using the liver as a transplantation site for isolated islets through infusion of cells via the portal vein opened the way for the development of IT for cell therapy of T1D patients. Attempts to improve the islet purification procedure, which represents less than 5% of the total pancreas volume, and to improve human islet preparation quality through viability of the isolated islets during the isolation procedure by some groups ^{13,14} led to the diffusion in 1988 of an automated method of human islet isolation by Ricordi and colleagues ^{15,16} which today, more than thirty years later, still stands as the "state-of-the-art" method even if it has benefited from some refinements since then ^{17,18}. This method of mechanical and enzymatic purification using collagenase has allowed the success of allogeneic IT leading for the first time in 1990 to a brief period of insulin independence ¹⁹. Finally, in 2000,the Edmonton group reported seven consecutive patients with T1D all achieved insulin independence after IT with a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppression regimen ²⁰.

The so-called Edmonton immunosuppression regimen involved immunosuppression induction with an interleukin-2 receptor antagonist monoclonal antibody (initially Daclizumab, but which is no longer marketed and will later be replaced by Basiliximab) and a maintenance regimen using Sirolimus (m-TOR inhibitor agent) and Tacrolimus (Calcineurin inhibitor agent) without the use of glucocorticoid, which was (and still is) the gold-standard in kidney transplantation.

If finally, today, in the field of IT, the non-use of corticosteroids seems rational, given the direct toxicity on β -cells and the resulting insulin resistance, it is since the release of the Edmonton immunosuppression regimen that the development of numerous clinical research programs has appeared worldwide.

In 2005, the Minnesota group proposed several modifications to the management of the peritransplant period including the use of T-cell depleting agent (anti-thymocyte globulin) with the use of TNF alpha antagonist, and reported the achievement of insulin independence in eight consecutive T1D patients who benefited from IT isolated from a single pancreas donor ²¹.

Figure 1 shows the key steps of pancreatic IT developments (illustrated from Juliet A.Emamaullee ²²).



<u>Figure 1: Key steps of pancreatic islet transplantation developments (adapted from</u> <u>Emamaullee and colleagues²²).</u>

1.3 Indication of islet allotransplantation for the treatment of type 1 diabetes

Since the invention of insulin more than 100 years ago, many innovative technologies have been developed to improve therapeutic education, adherence and glycemic control in diabetic patients. Figure 2 shows the different generations of systems allowing the subcutaneous release of insulin, from the first pump generation that delivers a planned basal dose of insulin with bolus initiated by patients according to his diet and physical activity, to the latest generation where the interstitial glucose level measured by the glucose sensor informs a computer that modulates the release of insulin according to artificial intelligence algorithms. Since the publication of the Edmonton protocol and its associated multicenter trial ^{20,23}, many clinical trials have been developed and have proposed allogeneic IT for the treatment of the most severe T1D patient, i.e. those with severe hypoglycemia unawareness and significant glucose lability leading to major alteration of the quality of life with numerous stays in hospital and/or in intensive care units ²⁴, or in patients who are already under immunosuppressive regimen because of a pre-existing kidney transplant and whose glucose control is not achieved ^{25,26}.

The management of hypoglycemic events in diabetic patients under insulin should be supervised by a diabetologist to: 1) promote educational interventions related to the optimization of insulin therapy through the use of continuous subcutaneous insulin delivery systems (insulin pumps), 2) assess glucose variability and lability through continuous glucose monitoring devices (CGMS), and 3) introduce composite systems combining "smart" pumps and continuous monitoring.



<u>Figure 2: Different generations of insulin delivery systems. First generation (A), second</u> <u>generation with tubeless pumps (B), third generation with glucose sensor augmented pump,</u> <u>called open loop when help the decision (C), closed-loop automated delivery systems (D)</u> <u>(adapted from "Fédération Française des Diabétiques"</u>²⁷ The assessment of glucose lability, perception and severity of hypoglycemia symptoms can be evaluated using specific tools such as the HYPOscore ²⁸ (scale for quantifying the severity of hypoglycemia), the lability index (LI) ²⁹ and the Clarke score ³⁰ (scale for quantifying the degree of perception of hypoglycemia).

Thus, after failure of educational and technological approaches, islet transplantation alone (ITA) under long-term immunosuppressive therapy can be recommended for adult T1D patients with severe hypoglycaemia unawareness (HYPOscore \geq 800, Clarke score \geq 4, or LI \geq 400) after failure of optimal medical therapy ³¹.

Simultaneous islet and kidney transplantation (SIK) or islet-after-kidney transplantation (IAK) is indicated in unbalanced T1D adult patients (HbA1c > 7%) with end-stage renal disease for whom kidney transplantation is recommended among patients contraindicated for pancreas transplantation (recused to major abdominal surgery for morbid conditions or when the recipient's arteries compromise pancreas transplantation) or after a first failure of pancreas transplantation.

In these very selected patients with severe forms of T1D, the most physiological approach to achieve and maintain an optimal glucose control and to decrease the occurrence of hypoglycemia and improve their sensitivity, is therefore to restore the endogenous mass of β -cells by allogeneic transplantation of pancreatic islets under long-term immunosuppression, without or with a project of kidney transplantation. (Figure 3).

As mentioned above, if the first clinical trials were able to demonstrate the proof of concept, the feasibility and the safety of intrahepatic IT, it is only later that many teams were able to demonstrate its superiority compared to the use of intensive insulin therapy.

Thus, a randomized trial ³² and various controlled studies evaluating IT versus intensive insulin therapy have reported better overall metabolic balance and prolonged decrease of the incidence of severe hypoglycemic events after IT ^{33–37}.



<u>Figure 3: Indications for allogeneic islet β-cell replacement therapy in type 1 diabetes with</u> <u>preserved kidney function, end-stage renal disease or previous kidney transplantation</u> (adapted from Vantyghem and colleagues²)



Figure 4: Metabolic outcomes at the baseline and 6 months in islets transplanted recipients or with insulin therapy (adapted from Lablanche and colleagues ³²).

1.4 Islet Transplantation is Standard of Care in brittle type 1 diabetes

Intraportal IT is widely available and is a standard of care in most countries, with 69 IT programs since its widespread use, covering 84 centers worldwide and 5 transplantation networks. Islet transplantation is covered in many countries with full reimbursement by the health-care system in 9 countries: Australia, Belarus, Canada/Province of Alberta, Finland, France, Iran, Poland, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom. Reimbursement is partially covered by the health-care system in Belgium, Czech Republic, Germany, Italy, Japan and Norway ³⁸.

The Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry ⁴, which is the most comprehensive international registry for the follow-up of patients with allogeneic or autologous IT, now includes the results of more than 1,300 islet allogeneic transplant recipients (80% ITA recipients / 20% IAK recipients). Almost 20 years after the landmark papers of the Edmonton group, the latest registry report has clearly confirmed the global spread of IT and the reproducibility of IT outcomes.

The reproducibility over time could be explained in particular by the standardization of procedures, including pancreatic procurement, islet isolation and purification, cell culture, transplantation and immunosuppression strategies.

Allogeneic IT in T1D patients does not require HLA matching, but a careful look at the occurrence of anti-HLA antibodies in the recipient and requires ABO blood group match. Islet transplantation involves pancreas organ graft mostly procured from deceased donors, even if

the organ donation from dead donors due to controlled circulatory arrest is currently under development ³⁹.

Following agreement between the recipient's transplant team and the organ procurement coordination team, the pancreas is procured from the abdominal floor after the liver and before the kidneys. The procurement of the pancreas does not modify the conventional steps of multi-organ procurement. Crucial for the success of the procedure is the preservation of the integrity of the peripancreatic membrane that will allow optimal distension by collagenase during the isolation procedure. The main pancreatic duct is then catheterized in the middle of the pancreatic gland in the region of the pancreatic neck, which will enhance the infusion of the collagenase for pancreatic digestion (Figure 5)^{6,40}.

The duration between the time of clamping (when the systemic circulation stops in the donor and is replaced by preservation solution) and the time when the pancreas starts to be dissociated by the collagenase is called the cold ischemia time. The cold ischemia time should be as short as possible in order not to alter islet viability and ideally isolation should be started after a cold ischemia time of 8-12 h maximum⁴¹. Enzyme dissociation is initiated by infusion of collagenase at 4°C directly into the main pancreatic duct (Wirsung duct) and optimal distension of the pancreatic parenchyma are key elements during this step. Then, the pancreas is shipped to the isolation facility, sectioned and placed in the Ricordi chamber, which is connected to a system containing collagenase heated to 37 °C to finish islet dissociation from exocrine cells (Figure 5). After isolation, islets are purified from the exocrine contents by Ficoll[™] gradient of different densities (Figure 6). Islets can then be transplanted directly as the original Edmonton protocol, but for organizational reasons, the vast majority of transplantation centers have instituted an overnight culture in a human albumin medium before IT ⁴².



Figure 5: Islet cell isolation with digestion of pancreas using mechanical and collagenase dissociation in the Ricordi chamber (adapted from U-1190 Cell Therapy Unit).



Figure 6: Islet purification: The diagram on the left represents a solution of digested pancreas
(islet cells in red and exocrine/ductal cells in green) and on the right after purification
procedure by Ficoll™ gradient of different densities, release of rings of islet of different purity,
the purest fraction (top ring) will be transplanted (adapted from U-1190 Cell Therapy Unit).

Human islet preparation is usually infused under general anesthesia into the portal trunk, either by percutaneous radiological trans-hepatic approach or by trans-mesenteric surgical approach, after exposure of the last intestinal loop by minimally invasive laparotomy (Figure 7).

After radiological or surgical route performed, islets are infused into the portal flow in the transplantation solution (CMRL cell culture media with human albumin) previously supplemented with heparin (70 IU / kg of the recipient's weight), a procedure that lasts about 30 minutes under continuous monitoring of portal pressure and blood glucose in the recipient. The islets travel into the recipient's liver through the sinusoidal capillaries to engraft with the donor liver (Figure 8).



Figure 7: Surgical islet transplantation by mini-invasive laparotomy. Under general anesthesia, a 5 cm incision is made in the operating room (A). The last intestine loop is found (B) and the vessels are visualized with a vein scanner device (C, black arrow), then a catheter is inserted in the vein (D) and moved to the portal trunk. The islets are then infused into the patient's liver. Images of the slow infusion of the islets (E) (adapted from U-1190, Cell Therapy Unit).



<u>Figure 8: Islets engrafted in the liver, one year following intraportal islet transplantation. On</u> <u>the lower picture we visualize the islets after immunostaining of alpha cells (anti-glucagon</u> <u>antibody immunostaining, green) and beta cells (anti- insulin antibody immunostaining, red)</u> (adapted from U-1190 Cell therapy Unit)

1.5 Complications of islet transplantation

Complications following IT are scarcer and less severe than those following pancreas organ transplantation ^{43–45}.

However, according to the last report of the CITR, approximately 11% of ITA recipients and 14% of IAK recipients experienced a serious adverse event (SAEs) within the first 30 days after transplantation ⁴. In this report, there was a sharp decline in the occurrence of SAEs after 2010, with 15% of the patients experiencing SAEs at baseline, compared with about 5% in 2015-2018.

The most common transplantation-related adverse events are transient elevation of liver transaminases, portal vein thrombosis, liver hematoma and hemorrhage. Portal vein thrombosis is more frequent in islet autologous than allogeneic transplantation, firstly as it occurs after major pancreatectomy and secondly because islets are mostly unpurified. Even though the total islet mass transplanted is often lower than in allotransplantation, the total cell volume is often higher. Consequently, portal vein thrombosis occurs in islet autologous transplantation in 6-10% of adults and in 2% of children ^{46–49}. Portal vein thrombosis occurs mostly in a segmental branch of the portal vein ⁴⁷ (2/3 of cases).

In the literature, the rate of portal vein thrombosis in allogeneic IT is about 3-4% ^{6,47,49}. Caiazzo and colleagues showed that early surgical adverse events affect early function and long-term islet graft survival in islet transplant recipients ⁵⁰.

With regard to immunosuppression-related adverse events, they are common to all organ transplants and depend on the specific agent used and edema, oral aphtosis,

neutropenia/lymphopenia, opportunistic infections are the most common SAEs, with a mortality rate less than 2% ^{1,2}.

As for kidney function, previous studies have reported impaired glomerular filtration rate in islet transplant recipients ⁵¹, but these results have not been confirmed by a prospective study comparing T1D patients treated with IT or insulin therapy ⁵² or in a prospective study that compares ITA and IAK recipients ⁶.

The impact on long-term kidney function in islet transplanted recipients under prolonged immunosuppression with sustained islet graft survival is still debated but a very recent study of the Edmonton group's largest single-center cohort, which compared kidney function in islet transplant patients with and without sustained islet graft survival during a 20-year follow-up seems to allow to set some speculations ⁵³.

This study showed that first, patients in both groups had a significant decrease in the estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) after IT during the follow-up. Second, the significant decrease in eGFR was more pronounced in the prolonged graft survival recipients with a higher incidence of stage 3 chronic kidney disease, which could be explained by prolonged exposure to immunosuppression. This higher rate of stage 3 chronic kidney disease was not associated with an increased mortality rate in these patients.

Finally, recipients with stage 3 chronic kidney disease before transplantation and sustained graft survival had delayed progression to end-stage renal disease compared with recipients without sustained graft survival.

Other transplant-related events may be observed such as alloimmunization, but these are not specific to islet allotransplantation and the relationship between the occurrence of preformed or de novo donor specific anti-HLA antibodies (and their quantity) and their specific impact on islet graft survival and function are still debated ^{54–56}.

1.6 Long-term outcome and multifactorial decline in functional beta cell mass following islet transplantation

Islet transplantation has emerged as a proven treatment option for restoring endogenous insulin secretion in patients with T1D and severe hypoglycaemia, and/or who have previously benefited from a kidney transplant. The Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry now compiles data from 1108 patients who have received islet transplantation alone and 291 patients with islet and kidney transplantation (simultaneously or not) reaching altogether 2832 human islet infusions from the isolation of 3326 human pancreases.

Long-term (\geq 10 years) reports of IT are now increasingly present in the literature.

Thus, two prospective cohort studies ^{6,43} and several retrospective cohort studies ^{37,53,57} reported 86-100% patient survival and 52-78% graft survival at 10 years, as well as improved glycemic control and lability and a significant reduction in severe hypoglycemic event ⁵³. Unadjusted prevalence of graft function (i.e retention of serum C-peptide level \geq 0.3 ng/mL) and insulin independence post last infusion during a 5-year follow-up are presented in Figures 9 and 10 respectively ⁴. However, all these mono-centric cohorts and the international registry demonstrated a progressive decrease in islet graft function and insulin independence in recipients over time, which persisted respectively in only 45% and 25% of patients after 5 years in the global registry ⁴.


<u>Figure 9:Prevalence of graft function (serum C-peptide level \geq 0.3 ng/mL) post last infusion</u> <u>during 5 years in ITA (top diagram) and IAK recipients (bottom diagram) in the CITR cohort</u> <u>(adapted from eleventh CITR report)⁴</u>.



<u>Figure 10: Prevalence of insulin Independence post last infusion during 5-years in ITA (top</u> <u>diagram) and IAK recipients (bottom diagram) in the CITR cohort(adapted from eleventh CITR</u> <u>report)⁴.</u>

The decrease in graft function observed over time is probably multifactorial as shown by the Edmonton International Trial, where, considering the same immunosuppression protocol, the functional results of the transplanted patients were heterogeneous one year after transplantation in different centers ²³.

The Figure 11 illustrates the different mechanisms that could be involved in the progressive failure of the transplanted islets. An obvious component of this process is the allogeneic and/or autoimmune rejection of transplanted islets by the recipient's immune system ⁵⁸. The Figure 12A shows islet infiltration (anti-chromogranin A antibody immunostaining, red) by T cells (mononuclear cells with anti-CD3 antibody immunostaining, blue), in a liver biopsy performed in a patient following an intraportal IT (48 hours after transplantation, pre Edmonton era)). This reaction is currently prevented or at least limited by long-term immunosuppression, induced and maintained by the combination of several treatments ^{4,59}. A large fraction of the transplanted islets is lost during the first days following intraportal IT. Indeed, under appropriate glycemic conditions, 60% of the transplanted islets were lost 3 days after syngeneic transplantation in a mouse model as a result of cell death by apoptosis and necrosis. This mechanism was even more significant in islets exposed to chronic hyperglycemia ⁶⁰.

A study was able to visualize with PET imaging labelled islets after intraportal infusion in the liver of T1D recipients and estimated that 50% of the islets mass was lost within a few hours after transplantation ⁶¹

Many authors have theorized that early islet loss was due to innate immunity involving both a non-specific inflammatory response and activation of the coagulation and complement systems, called the Instant Blood-Mediated Inflammatory Response (IBMIR)^{62,63}. Pancreatic cells activate coagulation early and intensely, leading to activation of thrombin, which

activates platelets and leads to portal thrombosis and stimulation of polynuclear cells, which release cytokines and damage the endothelial wall (Figure 12B).

Consequently, we routinely administer anticoagulation simultaneously to human islets preparation to prevent portal thrombosis and optimize islet engraftment.

In IT, the functional islet graft mass is not easily measurable for the reasons mentioned above and because a recipient is usually a combination of several grafts from heterogenous donors. The functional islet mass and its decrease is therefore multifactorial, because it depends on the interactions between the donor characteristics, the procurement and preservation of the pancreas organ, the quality of islet isolation and residual islet viability, and islet culture. In addition to these pre-transplant conditions, transplantation and immunosuppression strategies and the recipient (sex, insulin resistance, body mass index) are also relevant and impact the functional islet mass following IT⁶.

Thus, many teams have tried to estimate the functional islet mass following IT ^{64–66} and especially to associate it to long-term transplantation outcomes.

In the field of solid organ transplantation, there is a well-established relationship between early graft function and long-term functional outcomes, which appears to be unrelated to immune mediated mechanisms. Thus, Terasaki and colleagues ⁶⁷ showed that the survival of living donor kidney transplants from (MHC unmatched) spouses was excellent at 3 years and comparable to that of living donors from the same family and far superior to cadaveric kidney donors. Figure 13 also shows that the 3-year survival of kidney grafts from patients transplanted with deceased donors was better when patients had optimal primary graft function (diuresis on the 1st day) than suboptimal primary graft function (no diuresis on the 1st day), regardless of the number of mismatches. Primary graft function had a greater impact on survival than MHC matching.

Indeed, early kidney graft dysfunction, defined as the use of dialysis during the first week after transplantation (a non-standardized but relatively consensual definition), is associated with limited graft survival, even in the absence of acute immune rejection ⁶⁸.

On the analysis of 588 kidney recipients after transplantation from deceased donors. We can see on Figure 14 that patients who received a kidney graft with delayed graft function (i.e. using dialysis during the first 15 days after transplantation) and treated with a hypothermic machine perfusion benefited from a better graft survival ⁶⁹.

Thus, in this trial where grafts were randomized with or without the use of hypothermic machines, primary graft function optimized by hypothermic perfusion improved long-term survival of kidney grafts compared to those treated without hypothermic machine perfusion, regardless of the level of MHC matching.

In liver transplantation, early graft function can be measured by combining liver biomarkers (bilirubin, INR and transaminases; non-standardized definition). Early graft dysfunction is also associated with decreased patient and liver graft survival in the long term ^{70,71}.

In IT, the Lille team previously reported that primary islet graft function (PGF) could be measured using a validated composite categorical index , the Beta-score, measured from 0 to 8, one month after the last islet infusion with stimulated serum C-peptide, fasting blood glucose, HbA1c and the need for exogenous insulin ^{65,72}. The authors reported in this single-center cohort of ITA recipients with standardized procedures of islet isolation, culture, immunosuppression, and transplantation that optimal PGF (Beta-score of 7 or 8) was associated with significant prolonged islet survival and longer duration of insulin independence compared to patients who benefited from suboptimal PGF (Beta-score < 7) at 3 years (Figure 15).

- 1. Organ donation 4. Hypoxia
- 7. Alloimmunity
- 10. Glucotoxicity

- 5. Innate immunity 2. Islet isolation
- 8. Autoimmunity
- 3. Culture 6. Revascularization
- 9. Xenobiotics
- and islet exhaustion

Donor 1 100 Donor 2 β-cell functional mass (%) 1 Primary graft function 2 789 (10) 50 3 4 Glucose intolerance (5 6 **Diabetes** 0 T×1 T×2 (Months) (Years) Time



Figure 12: Islet cell (anti-chromogranin A Ab immunostaining, red) infiltration by T cells (mononuclear cells with anti-CD3 Ab immunostaining, blue), in a liver biopsy performed in a patient following intraportal islet transplantation (12A). Pancreatic cells activate coagulation, leading to activation of platelets and to portal thrombosis and stimulation of polynuclear cells, that damage the endothelial wall (12B). (Pre Edmonton era, adapted from U-1190, Cell Therapy unit).

Figure 11: Outline representation of early- and long-term factors involved in beta-cell functional mass failure (adapted from Chetboun and colleagues⁷³)



Figure 13: Survival of cadaveric kidney grafts according to the number of HLA-A, B, and DR mismatches and according to the urine flow on the first day post transplantation. The unmatched spousal donor (living donors of kidney transplants) group expected the highest survival rates and similar to that of parental donor kidneys (adapted from Terasaki and colleagues.⁶⁷).



<u>Figure 14: Analysis of 588 kidney recipients after transplantation from deceased donors.</u> <u>Patients who received a kidney graft with delayed graft function (i.e. using dialysis during the</u> <u>first 15 days after transplantation) and treated with hypothermic machine perfusion</u> <u>benefited from a better graft survival PGF optimized by hypothermic perfusion improved</u> <u>long-term survival of kidney grafts, regardless of the level of MHC matching (adapted from</u> <u>Moers and colleagues</u>⁶⁹).



<u>Figure 15: Kaplan-Meier (with CI 95%, dotted lines) estimates of the prevalence of insulin</u> <u>independence with good glucose control (HbA1c \leq 6.5%) (top panels) and graft survival</u> (fasting serum C-peptide \geq 0.5 ng/mL) (bottom panels) in the whole cohort of 14 consecutive islet transplant alone recipients (left panels) and in patients expected optimal vs suboptimal primary graft function following islet transplantation (adapted from Vantyghem and <u>colleagues⁷²</u>)

1.7 Objectives

The concept of primary islet graft function was firstly described in 2009 on 14 consecutive islet transplant alone recipients in Lille and has suggested its impact on transplantation success, i.e. islet graft survival and insulin independence at 3 years with IT.

The objectives of our work were to firstly explore the effect of the donor, recipient, transplantation, and PGF on IT outcomes in islet transplant alone and islet after kidney transplant recipients at 5 years on the Lille single-center cohort of patients under the Edmonton immunosuppressive regimen (article 1) and to confirm this impact on the long-term follow-up (10 years) in this cohort (article 2).

The second part of our work consisted in a collaborative study to refine the definition of IT success and in particular by studying the contribution of continuous glucose monitoring measures (Igls 2.0 criteria) (article 3).

Finally, the third and last part of our work was to demonstrate on the CITR registry, the largest international cohort with various transplantation and immunosuppression strategies, the impact of primary islet graft function on the 5-year success of allogeneic IT by using in particular the refine definition of success of Igls 2.0 criteria (article 4). In addition, we characterized the nature of the relationship between PGF and 5-year success, including the independence of PGF from other confounders known to impact islet outcomes and by characterizing its dose-response relationship on IT success.

We then focused on deriving and validating algorithms to predict the risk of the incidence of unfavorable IT outcomes based on the measurement of the primary islet graft function. We therefore developed an online web application to estimate the predicted risk of IT outcome

to assist the clinician in the decision to perform a new islet infusion based on the measure of the PGF, one month after the last islet infusion.

Part 2: Methods and Results

2.1 Article 1: Optimizing primary graft function in islet allotransplantation: the Lille experience

Islet allotransplantation is a validated therapy to restore endogenous insulin secretion in patients with T1D and severe hypoglycemia, and/or following a previous kidney transplantation.

The international registry documented a progressive loss of islet graft survival and insulin independence over time

This origin is multifactorial involving donor factors, pancreas procurement, islet isolation and culture, transplantation and immunosuppression strategies and recipient related factors.

In this study, between 2003 and 2012, 28 adult T1D recipients with undetectable serum Cpeptide levels benefited from islet transplantation at the Lille University Hospital: islet transplantation alone (ITA) was indicated for patients with severe hypoglycemia unawareness (n=14 patients, trial NCT00446264) and islet-after-kidney transplantation (IAK) (n=14 patients, trial NCT01123187).

The median islet mass (IQR) of the 28 transplanted patients was 13.5 (10.9-15.3) kIEQ/kg, in 3 (2-3) intraportal islet infusions, corresponding to a total of 74 infusions, mostly performed by minimally invasive laparotomy in 57/74 (77%) patients.

PGF, the exposure of the study, measured with the Beta-score at 1 month from the last islet infusion, was optimal in 18 patients (64%) (Beta-score of 7 or 8) and suboptimal in 10 patients (36%) (Beta-score < 7). Baseline patient and graft characteristics did not differ significantly between recipients with optimal or suboptimal PGF.

In this study, using an univariate Kaplan-Meier survival model, 82% (95% CI, 62-92 of patients had sustained graft survival (C-peptide ≥ 0.3 ng/mL) and 39% (95% CI, 22-57) were insulinindependent at 5 years. Optimal PGF recipients had a better 5-year graft survival rate than suboptimal PGF recipients with 100% vs 50% (18-75), respectively (P < 0.001). Similarly, the proportion of insulin-independent patients was 56% (31-75) vs. 10% (1-36), (P < 0.001) at 5 years, respectively. Only 24 % of the patients with suboptimal PGF vs. 81 % with optimal PGF recipients experienced IT success according to the IGLS 1.0 definition (P < 0.001).

In conclusion, this prospective mono-centric study performed in Lille in 14 consecutive ITA and 14 IAK recipients, treated with standardized isolation, culture, transplantation and immunosuppression (Edmonton) procedures, showed that no recipient or donor factors were significantly associated with transplantation success (graft survival or insulin independence). There was a trend toward sustained insulin independence when increased total islet mass transplanted, in female recipients and with longer diabetes history in the recipient and a trend

toward sustained graft survival in donors with shorter cold ischemia time.

On the other hand, patients experienced suboptimal PGF had a 6-fold higher risk of insulin reintroduction, and a 13-fold higher risk of graft failure at 5 years.

This chapter (pages 637-643) "Optimizing primary graft function in islet allotransplantation: <u>The Lille experience</u>" edited by Giuseppe Orlando, Lorenzo Piemonti, Camillo Ricordi, Robert J. Stratta, and Rainer W.G. Gruessner was published as first author in 2020 in the following <u>book</u> "Transplantation, Bioengineering, and Regeneration of the Endocrine Pancreas (Academic Press).

51

Optimizing primary graft function in islet allotransplantation: The Lille experience

Mikael Chetboun^{*,†}, Kristell Le Mapihan[‡], Valery Gmyr^{*}, Violeta Raverdy^{*,†}, Thomas Hubert^{*}, Robert Caiazzo^{*,†}, Christian Noel[§], Julie Kerr-Conte^{*}, Marie-Christine Vantyghem^{*,‡}, François Pattou^{*,†}

*Université de Lille, INSERM U1190, Translational Research for Diabetes, EGID (European Genomic Institute for Diabetes), Faculté de Médecine, Lille, France, [†]Department of General and Endocrine Surgery, CHU Lille, Lille, France, [‡]Department of Endocrinology Diabetology and Metabolism, CHU Lille, Lille, France, [§]Department of Nephrology, CHU Lille, Lille, France

	Ουτ	LINE	
Introduction	637	Results	639
Methods	638	Patient and graft characteristics	639
Patients	638	Primary graft function	639
Transplantation	638	Discussion and perspectives	643
Sequential multiple infusions in Lille	639	References	643

Introduction

Islet allotransplantation is today a validated therapeutic option for restoring endogenous insulin secretion in patients with type 1 diabetes and severe hypoglycemia,¹ and/or a previous kidney transplantation.² The Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry (CITR)³ now combines the results of more than 1000 transplanted patients (80% islet transplantation alone or ITA/20% islet after kidney Ior AK). Nearly 20 years after the landmark papers from the Edmonton group,⁴ the latest report of the registry clearly confirmed the worldwide spread of islet transplantation and the reproducibility of its early success. On the other hand, the registry also documented the progressive decrease in time of islet graft survival with C-peptide secretion and insulin independence persisting respectively in only 45% and 25% of patients after 5 years. Fig. 1 illustrates the various mechanisms

Transplantation, Bioengineering, and Regeneration of the Endocrine Pancreas, Volume 1 https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0.12-814833-4.00051-4 637

that contribute to the progressive decline of transplanted islets.

One obvious factor for this decline is the allogenic and autoimmune rejection of islets by the recipient immune system.5 This reaction is currently prevented or at least limited with immunosuppression, induced and maintained with a combination of several immunosuppressive drugs. Furthermore, a PET study imaging labeled islets following their intraportal infusion in a type 1 diabetic patients suggested that nearly 50% of islets are lost within only few hours.6 Some authors proposed that this early islet loss is due to innate immunity involving both nonspecific inflammation reaction and the activation of coagulation and complement systems, so-called instant blood mediated inflammatory reaction (IBMIR).^{7,8} Most teams are currently administrating high doses of heparin simultaneously to the islets to prevent portal thrombosis and optimize islet engraftment.9 Finally, like for any

© 2020 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.



FIG. 1 Outline representation of early- and long-term factors involved in beta-cell functional mass failure. *Tx*, transplantation.

other allogenic transplantation, the initial function of the graft is essential. In islet transplantation this functional mass depends not only on donor characteristics and the conditions of organ procurement but also on the outcome of islet isolation and/or culture prior to their transplantation. It is therefore highly heterogenous. For that reason we hypothesized that increasing "primary islet graft function" by optimizing islet quality and quantity could improve long-term cell survival and function. Noteworthy, most successful cases of islet transplantation for type 1 diabetes were initially described after the transplantation of islets combined from several donors, that were by chance simultaneously available.¹⁰ For that reason, we proposed to favor the deliberate sequential and repeated infusion of islets from several donors. This implied that under efficient immunosuppression, islet transplantation from multiple and non-MHC-matched donors would be superior to the strategy of exclusive transplantation with islets from a single, well MHCmatched donor. Likewise, the better outcomes of kidney grafts preserved with continuous perfusion¹¹ or obtained from nonrelated living donors,¹² demonstrated that the influence of the quality of the graft outstripped that of MHC matching in kidney transplantation. We first demonstrated the safety of sequential multiple islet infusions through a percutaneous catheter surgically placed in the portal vein in a minipig preclinical model.¹³ This technique was then initially translated in three T1D patients who received sequential infusions of islets isolated from up to four donors within 10 days.14 These first clinical cases confirmed the relevance of this strategy to significantly increase primary graft function. Based on a similar sequential islet infusions but with an optimized, corticoid free, immunosuppression regimen, the outstanding results reported by the Edmonton team convinced us to adopt this deliberate multiple infusion strategy for the upcoming clinical trials in Lille. In the present report we specifically analyzed the association

between primary graft function and long-term outcome of islet allotransplantation in 28 consecutive T1D patients.

Methods

Patients

Between 2003 and 2012, 28 consecutive T1D patients aged 18–65 years, with blood arginine-stimulated C-peptide level <0.2 ng/mL, received an islet transplantation at Lille University Hospital (islet transplantation alone (ITA) for severe hypoglycemia in 14 patients—NCT00446264; and islet after kidney (IAK) transplantation in 14 patients with a functioning kidney graft—NCT01123187). The overall long-term results outcome of these patients has been recently reported elsewhere.¹⁵ In the present report we analyzed more specifically the impact of primary graft function on 5-year outcome.

Transplantation

Islet transplantation consisted of two or three fresh sequential islet infusions to reach 10,000 IEQ/kg of the recipient body weight. Human islets were isolated from ABO-compatible pancreata from deceased donors, and transplanted in case of negative cross-match with satisfactory islet viability and number. The success criterion was adequate metabolic control without exogenous in sulin. We applied the steroid-free immunosuppression provided by Edmonton/University of Alberta,⁴ consisting of tacrolimus, target through levels 3–6 ng/mL, siro-limus, target through levels 3–6 ng/mL, siro-limus, target through levels 12–15 ng/mL for 3 months and at 7–10 ng/mL thereafter. A five-dose induction course of daclizumab (1 mg/kg) was also administered bimonthly, beginning 1 h before the first infusion as previously described.¹⁵

B. Islet allo-transplantation

Sequential multiple infusions in Lille

Each islet preparation should contain at least 4000 IEQ/ kg with a purity of at least 30% and a tissue volume of less than 0.15 mL/kg of the recipient's body weight. Heparin (35 units/kg) was added to the final human islet preparation, gently infused by gravity under portal pressure monitoring, in 21 (15–25) min. Islet infusions were initially performed with percutaneous radiological catheterization of a peripheral portal branch under ultrasound guidance. An alternative surgical route was first developed to limit the risk of bleeding in IAK recipients who were treated chronically by aspirin.¹⁶ This approach was progressively adopted as the main procedure in all patients.

Results

Patient and graft characteristics

The 28 patients received a median (IQR) islet mass of 13.5 (10.9–15.3) kIEQ/kg, in 3 (2–3) intraportal islet infusions, corresponding to a total of 74 islet infusions, predominantly performed surgically (57/74 (77%)).¹⁶ The median portal pressure postinfusion remained stable at the end of the first, second, and third infusions with 11 (8–13), 12 (8–15), and 11 (8–15) mmHg, respectively

(Fig. 2A).The median portal pressure before second: 10 (7–13) and third: 8 (7–12) islet infusions did not increase significantly from the first islet infusion: 9 (6–11) mm Hg (Fig. 2A).

Plasma c-peptide at day 7 postinfusion increased significantly from undetectable to 0.9 (0.5–1.3) ng/mL after first infusion to 1.4 (1–2) ng/mL (P = 0.0191) after the second and 1.5 (1–1.8) ng/mL (P = 0.0116) after the third infusion (Fig. 2B). Fig. 2C shows the Kaplan-Meier estimates of insulin withdrawal following first infusion. All 28 patients could stop insulin following islet transplantation. The median time to quit exogenous insulin following the first infusion was 68 days with 75% of the patients who had discontinued insulin by 3 months (Fig. 2C and D).

Primary graft function

Primary graft function (PGF) was estimated by measuring HbA1C, fasting glucose, daily insulin dose, and plasma c-peptide, 1 month after the last infusion (Fig. 3). The Beta-score was calculated as previously described.¹⁷ PGF was considered optimal in 18 patients (64%) who had a Beta-score of 7 or 8 at 1 month and suboptimal in 10 patients (36%) when Beta-score was less than or equal to 6. Baseline patient and graft characteristics did



Results

FIG. 2 Portal venous pressure monitoring in the first, second, and third islet infusion (A), C-peptide increase at day 7 postinfusion (B, one-way ANOVA), insulin withdrawal postislet infusion (C), and median time from first infusion to second, third transplantations, and total transplantation duration (D). *, P-value <0.05; ns, nonsignificant; Tx, transplantation.

B. Islet allo-transplantation

51. Optimizing primary graft function in islet allotransplantation



FIG. 3 Details of beta-score determinants measured in the optimal (n = 18) and suboptimal (n = 10) PGF recipients. Primary graft function (PGF) was evaluated 1 month after the last islet infusion with the beta-score, a previously validated composite index ranging from 0 (no graft function) to 8 (excellent graft function). This score gives two points for normal fasting glucose (\leq 0.99 g/L or \leq 5.5mmol/L), HbA1c \leq 6.1% (43mmol/mol), stimulated and/or basal C-peptide (\geq 0.9ng/mL or \geq 0.3mmol/L), and absence of insulin or oral hypoglycemic agent use. No point is awarded if fasting glucose is in the diabetic range (\geq 1.26 g/L or \geq 7 mmol/L), HbA1c is \geq 7% (53 mmol/mol), C-peptide secretion is <0.3ng/mL (<0.1 nmo-I/L), or daily insulin use is \geq 0.25 units /kg. One point is given for intermediate values. Graft function was considered optimal when the beta score was seven or eight, suboptimal when the beta score was four to six, and poor when the beta score was three or less. Optimal and suboptimal recipients were compared with Chi-square or Fisher exact tests.

not differ significantly between recipients with optimal and suboptimal PGF (Table 1).

Primary graft function (PGF) was estimated by measuring HbA1C, fasting glucose, daily insulin dose, and plasma c-petide, 1 month after the last infusion (Fig. 3). The Beta-score was calculated as previously described.¹⁷ PGF was considered optimal in 18 patients (64%) who had a Beta-score of 7 or 8 at 1 month and suboptimal in 10 patients (36%) when Beta-score was less than or equal to 6. Baseline patient and graft characteristics did not differ significantly between recipients with optimal and suboptimal PGF (Table 1).

Fig. 4 shows the rate of graft survival (C-peptide ≥ 0.3 ng/mL) and insulin independence (associated with a glycated hemoglobin less than or equal to 6.5%) following islet transplantation in the 28 patients. At 5 years, graft function and insulin independence were maintained respectively in 82% (62–92) and 39% (22–57) of patients (Fig. 4A and B). Patients with optimal PGF experienced a better graft survival rate at 5 years than recipients with suboptimal PGF with 100% vs 50% (18–75), respectively (P < 0.01) (Fig. 4C). The proportion of patients remaining insulin independent with HbA1c inferior to 6.5% at 5 years was also superior in recipients who experienced optimal PGF as compared to those with suboptimal PGF: 56% (31–75) vs 10% (1–36), respectively (P < 0.001) (Fig. 4D).

The association between patient (gender, age, BMI, diabetes duration, autoimmunity, metabolic balance with continuous glucose monitoring, number of severe hypoglycemic events, and kidney function) and graft characteristics at baseline (donor characteristics, human islet quality proxies, and islet mass infused) was studied in a Cox proportional-hazards model for insulin reintroduction and graft loss. As illustrated in Fig. 5, PGF was significantly associated with both outcomes. Overall, patients with suboptimal PGF had a 6-fold higher risk of insulin reintroduction at 5 years, and a 13-fold higher risk of graft loss. Donor's characteristics, autoimmunity status at baseline, IAK or ITA status and time to achieve infusions did not seem to impact long-term insulin-independence. Noteworthy, these results were

B. Islet allo-transplantation

Results

TABLE 1 Patients and transplantation characteristics at baseline in optimal and suboptimal recipients

	Optimal PGF patients, $n = 18$	Suboptimal PGF patients, $n = 10$	P-value
Patient characteristics at baseline			
IAK recipient	9 (50%)	5 (50%)	1
Gender female	11 (61)	4 (40)	0.433
Age (years)	43 (37–51)	43 (37–49)	0.891
BMI (kg/m ²)	22.8 (21.3–24.4)	23.5 (22.5–25.1)	0.491
Diabetes duration (years)	30 (25-36)	24 (16–28)	0.059
GAD/ICA/IA2 autoantibody	8 (44)/2 (12)/1 (6)	4 (44)/3 (30)/0	1/0.326/1
Exogenous insulin requirements (UI/day/kg)	0.5 (0.4–0.6)	0.7 (0.5–0.8)	0.099
HbA1c (%)	8 (7.3–8.9)	8.6 (7.3–9.2)	0.593
HbA1c (mmol/mol)	64 (56–74)	70 (56–77)	0.593
Mean glucose (CGM, mg/dL)	144 (125–203)	148 (137–220)	0.306
SD of mean glucose (CGM, mg/dL)	56 (42–77)	72 (61–87)	0.260
Time spent with glycemia ${<}70{\rm mg}/{\rm dL}$ (CGM, % of total time)	11 (3–16)	9 (2–17)	0.710
Severe hypoglycemia events (per year)	2 (1–5)	1.5 (1–7)	0.950
eGFR (mL/mn/1.73 m ²)	63 (58–74)	73 (63–88)	0.291
Graft characteristics			
Donor's age (years)	46 (37–52)	43 (37–52)	0.7372
Donor's BMI (kg/m²)	28.9 (25.7–31.8)	25.3 (24.1–26.9)	0.125
Cold ischemia time (min)	354 (307–382)	313 (283–368)	0.3623
Time between first and last infusion (days)	71 (50-88)	67 (42–140)	1
Total islet mass (10 ³ IEQ/kg)	14.1 (10.34–15.67)	13.32 (12.22–13.88)	0.6316
Exclusive surgical transplantation	12 (67)	4 (40)	0.2425

PGF, primary graft function; *IAK*, islet after kidney recipient; *BMI*, body mass index; *CGM*, continuous glucose monitoring; *SD*, standard deviation; *IEQ*, islet-equivalent; *No.*, number; *cGFR*, estimated glomerular filtration rate. Variables are presented with *n* (%) or Median (Quartile1–Quartile3); optimal and suboptimal recipients were compared with Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney's test and Fisher's Exact test when appropriate.



FIG. 4 Kaplan-Meier estimate of graft survival (A) (C-peptide $\geq 0.3 \text{ ng/mL}$) and insulin independence plus Hba1c $\leq 6.5\%$ (B) in the whole cohort of 28 recipients and in optimal (n = 18) and suboptimal (n = 10) PGF recipients (C and D). PGF, primary graft function.

B. Islet allo-transplantation

51. Optimizing primary graft function in islet allotransplantation

Insulin reintroduction			Graft loss			
lonor's and graft characteristics		Hazard ratio (95% CI)	P-value		Hazard ratio (95% CI)	P-value
ge (years)	ė	1.021 (0.95-1.096)	0.5747	ė	0.937 (0.812-1.081)	0.3714
MI (kg/m²)	ė	1.105 (0.907-1.348)	0.3216	ė	1.182 (0.807-1.73)	0.3904
old ischemia time (min)	Ó	1 (0.995-1.006)	0.8649	Ó	1.004 (0.999-1.009)	0.0916
ime between first and last infusion (days)	ò	0.996 (0.987-1.005)	0.4161	ė.	0.989 (0.965-1.014)	0.389
otal islet mass (kIEQ/kg)	6	0.852 (0.721-1.006)	0.0585	÷	1.104 (0.821-1.485)	0.5131
xclusive surgical transplantation	-0-	0.492 (0.189-1.281)	0.1464		0.467 (0.078-2.799)	0.4045
ptimal PGF	-0-	0.169 (0.062-0.461)	5e-04		0.079 (0.01-0.277)	0.0025
A recipient	-0-	1.023 (0.394-2.655)	0.9628		1.474 (0.246-8.825)	0.6707
Arecipient	-0-	1.023 (0.384-2.655)	0.9828		1.474 (0.240-6.625)	0.6707
emale gender		0.41 (0.155-1.068)	0.0733		0.202 (0.025-1.815)	0.1535
ge (years) M (kalas ²)		0.062 (0.862, 1.077)	0.5110		0.800 (0.800-1.070)	0.176
(Algentian (Japane)	ä	0.963 (0.862-1.077)	0.0704		0.622 (0.616-1.092)	0.2827
iabetes outeinerweitet		0.957 (0.911-1.005)	0.0794	6	0.95 (0.866-1.043)	0.2627
versageus insulie sem insegente (Ullidaulter)		7 399 (0 474 111 06	0.3572		0.46/0.004 50.226)	0.7542
hAte (%)		1.185 (0.753 .1.995)	0.4835		1.227 (0.664, 2.121)	0.5342
loop objects (CCM mobili)		1.003 (0.035-1.003)	0.7722		0.002 (0.004=3.121)	0.5107
D of more always (CCM, mold)		1.002 (0.081 1.013)	0.8143		0.003 (0.072-1.013)	0.0202
of time apart is humahapania (c70 mald). C2N		0.003 (0.061=1.024)	0.7840		1.015 (0.008 1.111)	0.7202
s or one spent in hypogrycema (or higher, cow)</td <td></td> <td>0.852 (0.842-1.043)</td> <td>0.7049</td> <td></td> <td>0.047 (0.320-1.111)</td> <td>0.7353</td>		0.852 (0.842-1.043)	0.7049		0.047 (0.320-1.111)	0.7353
evere nypogycenna events (per year) CED (m) (minit 32m)		1.009 (0.927-1.21)	0.5955	d .	0.947 (0.712-1.259)	0.7067
3FR (mDmin/1.73m)		1.01 (0.96-1.041)	0.5136		1.042 (0.979-1.109)	0.199
	0.1 1.0 10.0			01 10 100		

FIG. 5 Donor, graft, and recipient characteristics associated with insulin reintroduction and graft loss at 5 years postislet transplantation represented with Forest plot. The impact of donor and graft characteristics were analyzed using a Cox proportional hazard model on insulin reintroduction and graft loss at 5 years posttransplantation in 28 consecutive islet recipients, expressed with their respective hazard ratio and 95% confidence intervals. *At least one diabetes autoantibody present at baseline. *BMI*, body mass index; *CGM*, continuous glucose monitoring; *SD*, standard deviation; *kIEQ*, 10³ islet-equivalent; *PGF*, primary graft function; *ITA*, islet transplantation alone recipient; *eGFR*, estimated glomerular filtration rate (MDRD).



FIG. 6 Longitudinal follow-up diagram of beta-cell function according to the EPITA-IPITA IgIs-score (optimal, good, marginal, and failure) in optimal and in suboptimal primary graft function recipients. For each optimal and suboptimal group, results are presented in % of total time. The proportions of time spent were significantly different between optimal and suboptimal primary graft function recipients (P < 0.0001, Chi-square test). ITA, islet transplantation alone recipient; *IAK*, islet after kidney transplantation recipient; *PGF*, primary graft function.

confirmed when analyzed at 10 years,¹⁵ as well as the protective impact, although to a lesser extent, of female recipient gender, long history of diabetes previous to islet transplantation, and higher total infused islet mass from insulin reintroduction.

Fig. 6 summarizes the 5-year individual evolution of beta cell function according to the IPTA-EPITA Igls

score,¹⁸ in patients with optimal or suboptimal PGF. According to this new classification, successful beta cell replacement (i.e., optimal or good graft function) was maintained during 81% of time when PGF was optimal vs 24% when PGF was suboptimal (P < 0.0001). There was no difference between recipients of islet alone and islet after kidney transplantation.

B. Islet allo-transplantation

Discussion and perspectives

References

This observational cohort study confirmed that longterm successful beta cell replacement can be obtained with islet transplantation when optimal PGF is initially achieved.¹⁹ Our results suggest that, in addition to the development of better tolerated strategies to combat autoimmune and allogenic reactions, optimizing the primary function is crucial for improving the overall outcome of islet transplantation. In islet transplantation, the first and obvious determinant of PGF is the functional mass of islets available for transplantation. We, like many others, have deployed in past decades many efforts to identify optimal donors,²⁰ to improve pancreas harvesting and preservation from available donors²¹ and to refine the procedures used to isolate and culture islets.²² However, despite all these improvements, the outcome of islet isolation has remained most often insufficient to achieve optimal PGF after the transplantation of islets obtained from only one donor. On the other hand, the benefit of the proposed strategy of initial repeated islet infusion is hampered by donor pancreas availability. Transplanting islets from multiple donors also carries the risk of allogenic immunization that could limit future access to renal transplantation. For these reasons, the ultimate goal remains the description of an alternative and less limited source of insulin-secreting cells. In the meantime, further improvements in islet preparation from deceased donors are still needed to significantly increase the number and/or function of islets isolated from a single pancreas, and thus avoid the need for repeated islet infusions. Other advances, in alternative transplant sites or peritransplant adjuvant therapies, may eventually further contribute to increase islet engraftment and foster PGF. Eventually, our results also suggest that PGF, as a relevant proxy of long-term outcome of islet allotransplantation, could serve as a valuable early endpoint in future clinical trials.

References

- Choudhary P, Rickels MR, Senior PA, et al. Evidence-informed clinical practice recommendations for treatment of type 1 diabetes complicated by problematic hypoglycemia. *Diabetes Care*. 2015;38(6):1016–1029. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc15-0090. Vantyghem M-C, de Koning EJP, Pattou F, Rickels MR. Advances
- in β -cell replacement therapy for the treatment of type 1 diabetes. *Lancet.* 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31334-0.
- Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry (CITR). Scientific Summary of the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry (CITR) Tenth Annual 3.
- of the Collaborative lister transplant Registry (CITK) lenth Annual Report. http://www.citregistry.org/; 2017. online.
 Shapiro AMJ, Ricordi C, Hering BJ, et al. International trial of the Edmonton protocol for islet transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(13):1318–1330. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa061267.
 Davalli AM, Scaglia L, Zangen DH, Hollister J, Bonner-Weir S, Weie CC, Welderschülter Glabelin the immediate a esthermularty
- Weir GC. Vulnerability of islets in the immediate posttransplanta-tion period: dynamic changes in structure and function. *Diabetes*. 1996;45(9):1161-1167. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab.45.9.1161.

- Eich T, Eriksson O, Lundgren T. Visualization of early engraftment 6. in clinical islet transplantation by positron-emission tomography N Engl J Medi. 2007;356(26):2754–2755. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEIMc070201.
- Bennet W. Sundberg B. Groth CG. et al. Incompatibility between human blood and isolated islets of Langerhans: a finding with implications for clinical intraportal islet transplantation? Diabetes 1999;48(10):1907–1914. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.48.10.1907 Diahetes
- Johansson H, Goto M, Siegbahn A, Elgue G, Korsgren O, Nilsson B. Low molecular weight dextran sulfate: a strong candidate drug to block IBMIR in clinical islet transplantation. *Am J Transplant*. 2006;6(2):305–312.https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005.01186.x.
- von Zur-Mühlen B, Lundgren T, Bayman L, et al. Open randomized multicenter study to evaluate safety and efficacy of low molecular weight sulfated dextran in islet transplantation. Transplantation. 2019;103(3):630-637. https://doi.org/10.1097/ TP.000000000002425
- Pattou FN, Proye CA. Clinical studies of human islet transplanta-tion. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl*. 1996;78(1):72. 10.
- 11. Moers C, Smits JM, Maathuis M-HJ, et al. Machine perfusion or cold storage in deceased-donor kidney transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(1):7–19. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0802289.
- Terasaki PI, Cecka JM, Gjertson DW, Takemoto S. High sur-12. vival rates of kidney transplants from spousal and living unrelated donors. N Engl J Med. 1995;333(6):333–336. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJM199508103330601.
- Mulliez E, Pattou F, Kerr-Conte J, Amrouni H, Proye C, Lefebvre J. 13 Islet intraportal transplant through a percutaneous catheter placed in a portal vein tributary in pigs. *Transplant Proc.* 1997;29(4):2101– 2102. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0041-1345(97)00251-0.
- Pattou F, Vantyghem MC, Noel C, et al. Sequential intraportal is-14. let allografts in immunosuppressed type I diabetic patients: pre-liminary results. *Transplant Proc.* 2000;32(2):391–392. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0041-1345(99)00990-2.
- Vantyghem MC, Chetboun M, Gmyr V, et al. Ten-year outcome of islet alone or after kidney transplantation in type 1 diabetes: a prospective parallel arm cohort study. *Diabetes Care*. 2019. in press.
- Caiazzo R, Vantyghem M-C, Raverdi V, et al. Impact of procedurerelated complications on long-term islet transplantation outcome *Transplantation*. 2015;99(5):979–984. https://doi.org/10.1097/ TP.0000000000000458.
- Ryan EA, Paty BW, Senior PA, Lakey JRT, Bigam D, Shapiro AMJ. 17. β-score an assessment of β-cell function after islet transplanta-tion. Diabetes Care. 2005;28(2):343–347. https://doi.org/10.2337/ diacare.28.2.343.
- Rickels MR, Stock PG, de Koning EIP, et al. Defining outcomes 18 for β-cell replacement therapy in the treatment of diabetes: a consensus report on the Igls criteria from the IPITA/EPITA opinion leaders workshop. *Transpl Int.* 2018;31(4):343–352 https://doi. org/10.1111/tri.13138.
- Vantyghem M-C, Kerr-Conte J, Arnalsteen L, et al. Primary graft 19. function, metabolic control, and graft survival after islet trans plantation. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(8):1473-1478. https://doi org/10.2337/dc08-1685.
- 20. Hubert T, Strecker G, Gmyr V, et al. Acute insulin response to arginine in deceased donors predicts the outcome of human islet isolation. Am J Transplant. 2008;8(4):872-876. https://doi org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2007.02131.x.
- 21. Hubert T, Gmyr V, Arnalsteen L, et al. Influence of preservation solution on human islet isolation outcome Transplantation. 2007;83(3):270-276. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. tp.0000251723.97483.16.
- Kerr-Conte J, Vandewalle B, Moerman E, et al. Upgrading pretransplant human islet culture technology requires human serum combined with media renewal. *Transplantation*. 2010;89(9):1154-1160. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e3181d154ac

B. Islet allo-transplantation

2.2 Article 2: Ten-year outcome of islet alone or islet after kidney transplantation in type 1 diabetes: a prospective parallel-arm cohort study

In 2019, the long-term outcome (\geq 10 years) of allogeneic IT was largely unknown with no evidence of prospective cohort exploring long-term metabolic results in IT recipients.

This report explored in a parallel cohort design 28 T1D recipients who were treated with islet transplantation either alone (14 ITA) or after kidney transplantation (14 IAK) according to the Edmonton protocol and followed up to ten years.

Patients received two or three intraportal allogenic islets infusions administered within 68 days (43-92).

28% (13-45) of patients remained insulin independent 10 years after IT, respectively (KM estimates, 95% CI). Graft function was sustained in 78% (57-89) of recipients after 10 years, respectively,

Optimal primary graft function, assessed 1 month after the last islet infusion with the Betascore (optimal PGF : Beta-score of 7 and 8), was significantly associated with sustained graft function and insulin independence and was associated with improved glycemic control, decreased need for exogenous insulin and a marked decrease in severe hypoglycemic events after transplantation.

There was no difference between ITA and IAK recipients in metabolic outcome in the followup. In this report in an univariate Cox regression analysis, increased total islet mass transplanted, female recipients and longer history of diabetes recipients before

transplantation confirmed to be associated with sustained insulin independence during the follow-up.

This article "Ten-year outcome of islet alone or islet after kidney transplantation in type 1 diabetes: a prospective parallel- arm cohort study" was published as first co-author in 2019 in Diabetes Care journal.

Ten-Year Outcome of Islet Alone or Islet After Kidney Transplantation in Type 1 Diabetes: A Prospective Parallel-Arm Cohort Study

https://doi.org/10.2337/dc19-0401



1

Marie-Christine Vantyghem,^{1,2,3} Mikael Chetboun,^{1,3,4} Valéry Gmyr,^{1,3} Arnaud Jannin,² Stéphanie Espiard,² Kristell Le Mapihan,² Violeta Raverdy,^{1,3} Nathalie Delaleau,^{1,3} François Machuron,⁵ Thomas Hubert,^{1,3} Marie Frimat,⁶ Eric Van Belle,⁷ Marc Hazzan,⁶ Pascal Pigny,⁸ Christian Noel,⁶ Robert Caiazzo,^{1,3,4} Julie Kerr-Conte,^{1,3} and François Pattou^{1,3,4}

OBJECTIVE

The long-term outcome of allogenic islet transplantation is unknown. The aim of this study was to evaluate the 10-year outcome of islet transplantation in patients with type 1 diabetes and hypoglycemia unawareness and/or a functioning kidney graft.

RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS

We enrolled in this prospective parallel-arm cohort study 28 subjects with type 1 diabetes who received islet transplantation either alone (ITA) or after a kidney graft (IAK). Islet transplantation consisted of two or three intraportal infusions of allogenic islets administered within (median [interquartile range]) 68 days (43–92). Immunosuppression was induced with interleukin-2 receptor antibodies and maintained with sirolimus and tacrolimus. The primary outcome was insulin independence with A1C \leq 6.5% (48 mmol/mol). Secondary outcomes were patient and graft survival, severe hypoglycemic events (SHEs), metabolic control, and renal function.

RESULTS

The primary outcome was met by (Kaplan-Meier estimates [95% CI]) 39% (22–57) and 28% (13–45) of patients 5 and 10 years after islet transplantation, respectively. Graft function persisted in 82% (62–92) and 78% (57–89) of case subjects after 5 and 10 years, respectively, and was associated with improved glucose control, reduced need for exogenous insulin, and a marked decrease of SHEs. ITA and IAK had similar outcomes. Primary graft function, evaluated 1 month after the last islet infusion, was significantly associated with the duration of graft function and insulin independence.

CONCLUSIONS

Islet transplantation with the Edmonton protocol can provide 10-year markedly improved metabolic control without SHEs in three-quarters of patients with type 1 diabetes, kidney transplanted or not.

The demonstration in 2000 that β -cell replacement with allogenic islet transplantation could restore endogenous insulin secretion and near-normal glucose homeostasis was an important landmark for the treatment of type 1 diabetes (1). Since then, islet transplantation has been offered worldwide in >1,000 patients with type 1

¹University of Lille, U1190-EGID, Lille, France ²Department of Endocrinology, Diabetology, and Metabolism, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Lille (CHU Lille), Lille, France ³Inserm, U1190, Lille, France

⁴Department of General and Endocrine Surgery, CHU Lille, Lille, France

⁵Department of Methodology, Biostatistics, and Data Management, CHU Lille, Lille, France ⁶Department of Nephrology, CHU Lille, Lille, France

⁷Department of Cardiology, CHU Lille, Lille, France

⁸Department of Biochemistry and Hormonology, CHU Lille, Lille, France

Corresponding authors: Marie-Christine Vantyghem, mc-vantyghem@chru-lille.fr, and François Pattou, francois.pattou@univ-lille.fr

Received 25 February 2019 and accepted 3 August 2019

Clinical trial reg. nos. NCT01123187 and NCT00446264, clinicaltrials.gov

This article contains Supplementary Data online at http://care.diabetesjournals.org/lookup/suppl/ doi:10.2337/dc19-0401/-/DC1.

M.-C.V. and M.C. contributed equally to this work.

© 2019 by the American Diabetes Association. Readers may use this article as long as the work is properly cited, the use is educational and not for profit, and the work is not altered. More information is available at http://www.diabetesjournals .org/content/license.

Diabetes Care Publish Ahead of Print, published online October 15, 2019

diabetes and hypoglycemia unawareness and/or a kidney graft for end-stage renal disease (2). The favorable early benefitrisk profile of islet transplantation has been reported by numerous single and multicenter studies (3-10), and confirmed in the international Collaborative Islet Transplantation Registry (CITR) (11). Furthermore, islet transplantation appeared superior to optimized medical treatment in several case-control studies (12-15), and a multicenter randomized controlled trial recently demonstrated that islet transplantation was associated with better glucose control at 6 months (16). Other studies also suggest that islet transplantation improves quality of life (16,17) and may favorably impact chronic diabetic complications (18-22). On the other hand, islet graft function may decline with time (4,11), and chronic immunosuppression has been associated with serious adverse events (SAEs) and a decrement in renal function (4.9.11.12). Moreover, the persistence of the early benefit of islet transplantation beyond 5 years can only be speculated from a few series of selected cases (23-28).

Therefore, the aim of the current study was to evaluate the 10-year outcome, in intention to treat, with islet transplantation in patients with type 1 diabetes and hypoglycemia unawareness and/or a functioning kidney graft initially included in two clinical trials. The secondary objectives were to explore the determinants of long-term successful β -cell replacement with islet transplantation.

RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS Study Design

This observational, prospective, parallelarm, cohort study was designed to evaluate the long-term outcome of allogenic islet transplantation in patients with type 1 diabetes. We enrolled all participants from two single-arm, single-center, phase 2 studies initiated in 2003 at Lille University Hospital to evaluate the 1-year outcome of islet transplantation, performed either alone (ITA) in nonuremic patients (NCT00446264) or after a kidney graft (IAK) in uremic patients (NCT01123187). Study protocols were approved by the institutional review board, and a signed informed consent was obtained from each patient, as previously described (10). The 28 consecutive participants in these two studies received islet transplantation between 13 March 2003 and 1 December 2012. As initially planned for each study, the enrollment was interrupted when the primary outcome (80% insulin independence with adequate glucose control after 1 year) was confirmed in the first 14 participants (sequential triangular design). Participants gave written informed consent to pursue follow-up beyond the 1st year and attended at least yearly routine hospital visits up to 10 years after islet transplantation. The database was frozen on 22 December 2017.

Patients

Enrolled subjects had type 1 diabetes documented for >5 years at the time of islet transplantation and argininestimulated C-peptide <0.3 ng/mL. Nonuremic patients had hypoglycemia unawareness and/or documented metabolic lability and an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) >60 mL/min/ 1.73 m². Uremic patients had a kidney graft with stable renal function, no episode of kidney graft rejection, and blood pressure in the normal range whatever the use of antihypertensive drugs. In these patients, simultaneous pancreas transplantation had been refused because of age >45 years, severe macroangiopathic complications, or by patient's choice, or performed but followed by a nonimmune complication requiring pancreas graft explantation. In all cases, exclusion criteria included an age <18 or >65 years, a BMI \geq 28 kg/m², albuminuria >300 mg/24 h, unstable arteritis or heart disease, active infection, insulin daily requirements >1.2 units/kg, history of malignancy, smoking, desire for pregnancy, psychiatric disorders, and lack of compliance.

Islet Transplantation

Islet transplantation consisted of up to three sequential islet infusions within 3 months, with the aim of reaching adequate metabolic control without exogenous insulin. Islets were isolated from pancreata harvested in ABO blood type-compatible deceased donors with a negative cross-match (10). The access to the portal vein was gained under general anesthesia by percutaneous catheterization of a peripheral portal branch under ultrasound guidance or by surgical catheterization of a small mesenteric vein. In all cases, heparin (35 units/kg) was added to the final islet preparation, gently infused by gravity with portal pressure monitoring.

Immunosuppression

The immunosuppression consisted of tacrolimus (Prograf; Astellas, Paris, France), target trough levels at 3-6 ng/mL, and sirolimus (Rapamune; Wyeth Pharmaceuticals, Paris, France), target trough levels at 12–15 ng/mL for 3 months and at 7-10 ng/mL the first year and 5-6 ng/mL thereafter. A five-dose induction course of daclizumab (1 mg/kg) (Zenapax: Roche, Welwyn Garden City, U.K.) was administered biweekly beginning 1 h before the first infusion. For IAK. the median (interquartile range) elapsed time between kidney and islet transplantation was 22 months (18–38). The kidney transplantation had been performed with a standard-of-care protocol, i.e., in most cases antithymocyte antibodies. mycophenolate, and tacrolimus with an initial bolus of 1 g of prednisolone. Steroids had been progressively tapered over 3-9 months until complete discontinuation if there was no sign of kidney rejection. About 12 months after kidney transplantation, mycophenolate was progressively switched to sirolimus to reach blood trough sirolimus levels of 7–10 ng/mL and tacrolimus levels around 5 ng/mL. The blood pressure and renal function had to be normal. When an islet preparation was available, a course of anti-interleukin-2 receptor antibody was performed, repeated for each of the two or three islet injections performed over 3 months.

Follow-up

A comprehensive clinical and biological evaluation was performed before islet transplantation and each year after the first islet infusion, with intermediate routine clinical visits at least twice per year. Daily exogenous insulin requirements, antidiabetic treatments, and adverse events were recorded at each visit. Exogenous insulin was reintroduced when A1C increased above 6.5% (48 mmol/mol) on two consecutive measurements. The following parameters were analyzed using standardized methods unless otherwise indicated: daily glucose profile (mean glucose, SD around mean glucose and percentage of time spent in hypoglycemia <70 mg/dL) assessed with continuous glucose

monitoring (CGM; Medtronic MiniMed, Northridge, CA) for three consecutive days, fasting and postprandial blood glucose and C-peptide (RIA-coat C-peptide; Mallinckrodt, Paris, France) (detection threshold 0.2 ng/mL), plasma creatinine, A1C, and tacrolimus and sirolimus trough levels. The presence and type of autoantibodies GAD, islet cell antibody (ICA), and IA2 were evaluated before transplantation, after each islet infusion, yearly during the follow-up, and, in case of graft loss, 3 months after discontinuation of immunosuppression.

Study Outcomes

The primary outcome was insulin independence, defined as the absence of exogenous insulin therapy associated with A1C \leq 6.5% (48 mmol/mol). Secondary outcomes were patient survival, vearly incidence of severe hypoglycemic events (SHEs), graft function defined as fasting plasma C-peptide \geq 0.3 ng/mL, metabolic control assessed by A1C. the CGM daily glucose profile, and the daily exogenous insulin requirement. Primary graft function was evaluated 1 month after the last islet infusion with the β-score, a previously validated composite index ranging from 0 (no graft function) to 8 (excellent graft function) (29,30). This score gives two points for normal fasting glucose (\leq 5.5 mmol/L). A1C \leq 6.1% (43 mmol/mol), stimulated and/or basal C-peptide (≥0.3 nmol/L), and absence of insulin or oral hypoglycemic agent use. No point is awarded if fasting glucose is in the diabetic range $(\geq 7 \text{ mmol/L})$. A1C is $\geq 7\%$ (53 mmol/mol). C-peptide secretion is undetectable on stimulation, or daily insulin use is \geq 0.25 units/kg. One point is given for intermediate values. Graft function was considered optimal when the β -score was 7 or 8, suboptimal when the β -score was 4–6, and poor when the B-score was 3 or less.

We also analyzed renal function with the eGFR calculated with the MDRD formula. Adverse events were classified according to the National Cancer Institute common terminology criteria for adverse events (version 3.0). SAEs (grades 3–5) were monitored and classified as most likely related to the islet transplantation procedure, immunosuppression, or diabetes complications.

Statistical Analysis

All results available at each time point were analyzed in intention to treat (i.e., including patients who had lost graft function and stopped immunosuppression) and expressed as medians (and interquartile range) for continuous variables and as frequencies (and percentages) for categorical variables, without any imputation Continuous variables were compared between groups with the Mann-Whitney U test. Discrete variables were compared with Fisher exact tests. To test the effect of time on the evolution of metabolic and renal measurements, a linear mixed model was applied with the "patient" effect considered as a random effect. Graft function and insulin independence survival rates were estimated with the Kaplan-Meier model. The impact of patient and graft characteristics on these survival rates were estimated with a Cox proportional hazards regression model. A P value <0.05 was considered significant. All statistical analyses were performed with SAS Studio Statistics (version 3.71) and Prism GraphPad (version 8.0.0) software.

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

A total of 28 patients (14 nonuremic and 14 uremic) were enrolled. The patient characteristics prior to transplantation are presented in Table 1. Three uremic patients had received previous pancreas transplantation (two simultaneously to and one after a kidney graft) and experienced a nonimmunological failure of the pancreas. Each patient initially received two (n = 10) or three (n =18) infusions delivered within 68 days (43-91), and, overall, 74 islet infusions were performed. No supplementary islet infusion was performed during the follow-up. At baseline, the clinical and biological characteristics of patients and grafts were not different between uremic and nonuremic patients, except for renal function and BMI (Table 1). Primary graft function. calculated 1 month after the last islet infusion (see RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS), was optimal in 18 patients (64%) and suboptimal in 10 patients (36%).

Patient Follow-up

The median follow-up duration was 11.5 years (8.9–12.9), corresponding to a total of 298 patient-years. One IAK patient

with a previous leg amputation died of a stroke 35 months after islet transplantation, with functioning islet and kidney grafts, and 27 patients were alive at the time of this analysis. The overall mortality rate was 0.3% per 100 patient-years. One ITA patient who had lost graft function declined follow-up after the 5-year visit. and one IAK patient moved from the region with a functioning islet graft after the 6-year visit. All other participants had attended each yearly visit, and at the time of this analysis, 27 (96%) and 20 (71%) of the patients initially enrolled completed the 5- and 10-year visits, respectively (Table 2).

Primary Outcome

After islet transplantation, exogenous insulin could be interrupted in all 28 patients, 91 days (61-115) after the first islet infusion. Overall, the Kaplan-Meier estimates of patients remaining off insulin with A1C \leq 6.5% (48 mmol/mol) were 39% (22-57) at 5 years and 28% (13-45) at 10 years (Fig. 1A). These figures did not differ significantly between ITA and IAK recipients (Fig. 1B). Among the five patients that were insulin independent at 10 years, three patients had received oral antidiabetic medications after 5. 7. and 8 years. In a Cox proportional hazards univariate regression analysis, optimal primary graft function, female sex, longer history of diabetes, and total islet mass infused were associated with retention of insulin independence with A1C \leq 6.5% after 10 years (Supplementary Table 1).

In patients who experienced optimal primary graft function, the median duration of insulin independence associated with A1C \leq 6.5% (48 mmol/mol) was 6 years (1.9–10) vs. 0.4 years (0.2–1.1) in those with suboptimal primary graft function (hazard ratio [HR] 0.19 [0.08–0.48], P = 0.0004) (Fig. 1C and Supplementary Table 1).

Secondary Outcomes

At last follow-up, graft function persisted in 20 patients (10 ITA and 10 IAK). Six patients lost their graft function while they were still under immunosuppression, 7, 15, 35, and 89 months after ITA and 7 and 10 months after IAK.

The Kaplan-Meier estimates of graft survival were 82% (62–92) and 78% (57– 89) after 5 and 10 years, respectively, in the entire study group (Fig. 1*D*). Table 1—Baseline patient and graft characteristics of the entire study group and comparison of ITA and IAK recipients before islet transplantation

· · ·	All recipients $(n = 28)$	ITA recipients $(n = 14)$	IAK recipients $(n = 14)$	P value, ITA vs. IAK
Sex male	13 (46)	7 (50)	6 (43)	1
Age (years)	43 (37–50)	42 (36-51)	44 (40-49)	0.6130
BMI (kg/m ²)	22.9 (21.3-24.6)	24.6 (22.9–25.9)	22.6 (20.2-22.9)	0.0012
Diabetes duration (years)	28 (24-31)	28 (17-31)	30 (24–34)	0.3749
Exogenous insulin requirements (IU/kg per day)	0.57 (0.41-0.74)	0.6 (0.42-0.73)	0.54 (0.39-0.74)	0.5757
No. of severe hypoglycemia events in previous year	2 (1-5)	3 (1-7)	2 (0-3)	0.4084
No. of autoantibodies	1 (0-2)	1 (1-2)	2 (0-2)	0.6749
Glycated hemoglobin (%) (mmol/mol)	8.15 (7.3–8.95) 66 (56–74)	8.45 (7.3–8.9) 69 (56–74)	7.9 (7.3–9.2) 63 (56–77)	0.7789
Mean glucose (CGM) (mg/dL)	146 (131–208)	159 (136-210)	139 (129–186)	0.3613
SD of mean glucose (CGM) (mg/dL)	63 (45–77)	60 (41-87)	68 (53–77)	0.4908
Time below range (<70 mg/dL) (CGM) (%)	9 (3-16)	14 (3-21)	9 (3-13)	0.5053
eGFR (mL/min/1.73 m ²)	68 (59-84)	84 (73-89)	59 (49–64)	< 0.0001
No. of islet infusions	3 (2-3)	3 (2-3)	3 (2–3)	0.6970
Total tissue volume (mL)	12.3 (8.8-15.2)	12.5 (10-14)	11.8 (8.7-16.3)	0.7743
Total islet mass (10 ³ IEQ/kg)	13.45 (10.93–15.28)	12.07 (10.64–14.65)	13.83 (12.79–15.43)	0.4025
Islet viability (%)	93 (90–96)	94 (91–95)	93 (89–97)	0.7988
Islet function (GSIS)	2.08 (1.57-2.45)	2.03 (1.48-2.52)	2.26 (1.62-2.38)	0.5683
Time from first infusion to insulin independence (days)	91 (61–115)	91 (62–115)	91 (56–111)	0.8678
Optimal primary graft function	18 (64)	9 (64)	9 (64)	1

Values expressed as medians (IQR) or frequencies (percentages). GSIS, glucose-stimulated insulin secretion; IEQ, islet-equivalent.

The Kaplan-Meier estimates of graft survival were not significantly different after 5 years (79% [47–93] vs. 86% [54–96]) and after 10 years (71% [41–88] vs. 86% [54–96]) in ITA and IAK recipients, respectively (HR 0.55 [0.1–3], P = 0.4877) (Fig. 1*E* and Supplementary Table 1).

In patients who experienced optimal primary graft function, the median duration of graft survival was 10 years (8–10) vs. 4.5 years (0.8–10) in those with suboptimal primary graft function (HR 0.07 [0.01–0.64], P = 0.0184) (Fig. 1*F* and Supplementary Table 1).

In a Cox proportional hazards univariate regression analysis, optimal primary graft function and a longer history of diabetes were associated with higher graft survival at 10 years (Supplementary Table 1).

The median incidence of SHEs per year significantly decreased from 2 (1–5) events per year prior to islet transplantation to 0 (0–0) events at 5 (P < 0.0001) and 10 years (P < 0.0001), respectively (Table 2).

All metabolic parameters A1C, daily exogenous insulin requirement, mean glucose, SD around mean glucose, and percentage of time spent in hypoglycemia were improved durably over time. These parameters slightly deteriorated with time but remained significantly improved at 10 years (Table 2).

Immunosuppression

Immunosuppressive drugs were stopped progressively in three out of the six ITA patients who lost graft function, within 3.6 months (2.8-5.8) after C-peptide became undetectable. One patient chose to stop his immunosuppressive treatment after reintroduction of insulin became necessary, despite detectable C-peptide. The last two patients are currently under progressive discontinuation. Immunosuppression was maintained after islet graft loss in two IAK patients with functioning kidney graft. Overall, 6 out of 28 patients (21%; 1 ITA and 5 IAK) had to be switched from sirolimus to mycophenolate after 26.1 months (11.5-43.2), for intolerance.

Adverse Events

All SAEs occurring during and beyond the 1st year are summarized in Supplementary Table 2. Each SAE was classified as most likely related to the infusion procedure, immunosuppression, or complications of type 1 diabetes. During the 1st year posttransplantation, 11 SAEs related to the infusion procedure were observed, 6 of them involving bleeding, including 3 potentially life-threatening events after percutaneous islet infusion. Five SAEs (hematological disorders, nonopportunistic infections, and diarrhea) were related to immunosuppression. One toe amputation was related to diabetic complications. After 1 year and until 10 years postislet transplantation, eight SAEs related to immunosuppression occurred: four infections (two opportunistic and two nonopportunistic) and four skin carcinomas (two squamous and two basal cell carcinomas). Three of these skin carcinomas, all successfully treated with local excision, occurred in IAK recipients. Eleven diabetes-related macroangiopathic events occurred, nine of them >5 years after the first islet transplantation: five symptomatic events four of them in the IAK recipients (one stroke in the IAK patient who later died as mentioned above, one myocardial infarct, one pulmonary edema, and two amputations), and six totally asymptomatic events, found by systematic yearly screening, two of them in IAK recipients. The six silent myocardial ischemic episodes were treated by coronary angioplasty stenting in five cases and surgical coronary bypass in the remaining case.

Table 2-Metabolic and renal long-term outcomes in the entire study group

	-					
		P value vs.		P value vs.		P value vs.
	1 year	baseline	5 years	baseline	10 years	baseline
Patients followed	28		27		20	
No. of severe hypoglycemia events in previous year	0 (0–0)	<0.0001	0 (0–0)	<0.0001	0 (0–0)	<0.0001
Glycated hemoglobin (%) (mmol/mol)	5.9 (5.5–6.7) 41 (37–50)	<0.0001	6.9 (6.1–7.5) 52 (43–58)	<0.0001	6.7 (6.1–8) 50 (43–64)	0.0009
Exogenous insulin requirements (IU/kg per day)	0 (0–0.04)	<0.0001	0 (0–0.36)	<0.0001	0.28 (0-0.43)	<0.0001
Mean glucose (CGM) (mg/dL)	112 (102–133)	< 0.0001	126 (110–144)	< 0.0001	118 (113–154)	0.0007
SD of mean glucose (CGM) (mg/dL)	22 (15-41)	< 0.0001	29 (17-52)	< 0.0001	40 (18-54)	< 0.0001
Time below range (<70 mg/dL) (CGM) (%)	0 (0–5)	<0.0001	1 (0-3)	<0.0001	3 (0–9)	0.0012
eGFR (mL/min/1.73 m ²)	68 (55-81)	0.8883	64 (51-80)	0.7926	54 (43–91)	0.252

Values expressed as medians (IQR) or frequencies (percentages).

Kidney Function

Renal function differed between ITA and IAK at baseline (Table 1). As illustrated in Fig. 2, a slight decrease of eGFR was observed in both groups with time: -1.1 $mL/min/1.73 m^2$ per year (-2.5 to 0.1) in ITA and -0.9 mL/min/1.73 m² per year (-2.2 to 0.8) in IAK. This reduction, however, did not reach statistical significance, even after 10 years (P = 0.52 in ITA and P = 0.38 in IAK, Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test between 10 years and baseline) (Table 2). One IAK patient, who received islet transplantation 45 months after kidney transplantation, while eGER had decreased to 30 mL/min/1.73 m², remained insulin independent 10 years after islet transplantation. From the three patients referred after pancreas graft failure, one who had received a kidney from a twin living donor lost islet graft function after 10 months. His eGFR was 40 mL/min/ 1.73 m² at 10 years after the islet transplantation. The second patient remained insulin independent at the last follow-up 8 years after islet transplantation. The third one died with a functioning islet graft as mentioned above.

CONCLUSIONS

In the current study, we evaluated the long-term outcome of allogenic islet transplantation in patients with type 1 diabetes and hypoglycemia unawareness and/or a previous kidney graft. After 10 years, graft function was maintained in 75% of patients, and 28% percent of patients met the study primary outcome: insulin independence with A1C \leq 6.5% (48 mmol/mol). In contrast to previous long-term reports of a single case or a small series of selected patients (23–28), we analyzed in this prospective study the 10-year outcome of an entire cohort, with minimal attrition and no secondary rescue islet infusion. Overall, the 10-year results appear comparable to those reported after pancreas transplantation when proposed for the same indications (31,32). Furthermore, half of our patients still maintained A1C level <7% without SHEs, the alternative end point considered for licensure of islet transplantation in the U.S. (9).

We also confirmed that long-term outcomes were first related to the primary graft function, evaluated 1 month after the last islet infusion (33). However, the precise determinants of early islet graft function remain to be clarified. Indeed, this early proxy reflects not only the mass and guality of transplanted islets but also their initial engraftment. In the present cohort, we deliberately optimized primary graft function by initially administering two or three sequential islet infusions. All patients reached insulin independence, an early outcome that was also associated with longer retention of islet graft function in the CITR (2). In the current study, an optimal primary graft function was associated with prolonged graft function and a median duration of insulin independence with A1C \leq 6.5% of 6 years. Since partial graft function is sufficient to prevent severe hypoglycemia (30), alternative and less stringent composite end points have been proposed to define success in islet transplantation, based on glucose

control and avoidance of severe hypoglycemia, independently of insulin independence (34). Nevertheless, in the current study, suboptimal graft function was associated with shorter overall islet graft survival. This is in line with the association between initial achievement of insulin independence, another proxy for good primary graft function, and long-term islet graft survival in the CITR (2). Second, we found that the duration of insulin independence was longer in female recipients, independently of their lower body mass. Although the underlying mechanisms remain unclear, recent studies argue for a favorable effect of estrogens on glucose metabolism (35, 36)

Importantly, we observed equivalent results when islet transplantation was performed after a kidney graft, in patients with more vascular complications and who had often been refuted for simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. Preexisting immunosuppression and a lower BMI may have contributed to these favorable results. Another key aspect was the stringent selection of the study participants, who had not experienced any acute rejection. uncontrolled hypertension, or macroalbuminuria after kidney transplantation. A progressive switch from mycophenolate to sirolimus was warranted prior to the registration on the islet waiting list, as well as a tapering of steroids. Finally, a previous nonimmunological loss of a pancreas transplant in three patients did not seem to have impaired the results of islet transplantation. Taken together, our results suggest that in uremic patients with





type 1 diabetes, the option of a pancreas or an islet transplantation should be discussed prior to kidney transplantation

to propose the best strategy according to patient characteristics and local possibilities (32,37).





As expected (2), islet infusion was associated with a significant risk of complications (Supplementary Table 2). However, the overall risk profile of intraportal islet infusion observed in the current study appears lower than reported after pancreas transplantation (31,32). All other complications were related to chronic immunosuppression and/or to diabetes. The overall mortality rate observed here (0.3% per 100 patientyears) was equivalent to the mortality rate observed in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) in patients with type 1 diabetes with little or no complications, and in absence of any immunosuppressive treatment (38). In contrast, the mortality rate reported in patients with characteristics similar to those of the participants enrolled in the current study (i.e., with frequent SHEs or a functioning kidney graft), but non islet transplanted, is three to four times higher and mostly related to SHE or ischemic heart disease (37,39,40). The yearly screening of macroangiopathic diabetes-related complications proposed in this study was more stringent than usually recommended. Likewise, 6 out of 11 events (54%) were detected in absence of any symptoms. Meanwhile, the five symptomatic cardiovascular events occurred >5 years after islet transplantation, and all in IAK

patients initially refuted for combined kidney-pancreas transplantation because of preexisting severe diabetes-related complications.

Importantly, the mean decline of eGFR in the entire cohort was similar to the rate expected in the general population >40 years old ($-2 \text{ mL/min/1.73 m}^2$ per year). This was also true for patients with a previous renal graft. Our study, which is in line with some other results (25) but in contrast to earlier ones (41), suggests that improved metabolic control obtained after islet transplantation may exert a favorable effect on kidney function in type 1 diabetes, such as after pancreas transplantation (5,42,43).

One limitation of this study is the lack of a control group of patients receiving optimized insulin therapy or a pancreas transplant. Therefore, whether the improved metabolic control resulting from islet transplantation is balancing the associated risks remains to be demonstrated. Another limitation is the sample size of our study, which was calculated according to its primary metabolic end point. This limits the conclusions that can be drawn about kidney function and macroangiopathic complications. One may also remain cautious when interpreting the difference in early graft function because all participants initially received the same intervention. Moreover, the proposed strategy of initial repeated islet infusion for optimizing primary graft function can be hampered by donor pancreas availability. Finally, we could not explore the impact of the immunosuppression regimen on the islet transplantation long-term outcome. Noteworthy, all participants in our study received low-dose tacrolimus and sirolimus, a drug combination associated with a favorable outcome in the CITR (2). In contrast, immunosuppression was induced here with anti-interleukin-2 receptor antibodies, and not T-cell depletion or TNF- α inhibitors (2.9).

To conclude, the current study provides direct evidence that islet transplantation performed alone or after a kidney graft in patients with type 1 diabetes can markedly improve metabolic control and suppress SHEs during 10 years.

Acknowledgments. The authors are indebted to clinical research nurses and the staff of the Department of Endocrinology, Diabetology, and Metabolism, the Department of General and Endorrine Surgery, and the Direction de la Recherche et de l'Innovation of Lille University Hospital, as well as to the Diaménord-AEDNL regional network and the G4 inter-regional network (Lille, Amiens, Caen, and Rouen), and the Platform of Biotherapy and Clinical Research Associates. The authors are also deeply indebted to their mentors Professor Jean Lefebvre and Professor Charles Proye, who early supported islet transplantation research at Lille University Hospital.

Funding. This study was supported by the French Ministry of Health, the Programme Hospitalier de Recherche Clinique 2001, the European Community (Fond Européen de Développement Régional), the Conseil Régional du Nord-Pas-de-Calais, the Programme d'Investissements d'Avenir Labex European Genomic Institute for Diabetes (ANR-10-LABX-46), the Société Francophone du Diabète, the Société Française d'Endocrinologie, the Association de Recherche pour le Diabète, Santelys, and the Agence de la Biomédecine.

Duality of Interest. No potential conflicts of interest relevant to this article were reported. Author Contributions M -C V contributed to study design, patient enrollment, patient followup, data interpretation, and writing of the manuscript, M.C. contributed to figure conception. data interpretation, analysis, and writing of the manuscript, V.G., N.D., and J.K.-C. contributed to islet isolation and writing of the manuscript. A.J., S.E., K.L.M., V.R., M.F., E.V.B., P.P., and M.H. contributed to patient follow-up. F.M. contributed to data interpretation and analysis. T.H. and R.C. contributed to organ procurement and islet transplantation. C.N. contributed to study de sign, patient enrollment, patient follow-up, and data interpretation. F.P. contributed to study design, transplantation, data interpretation, and writing of the manuscript. M.-C.V. and F.P. are the guarantors of this work and, as such, had full access to all the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis

Prior Presentation. Part of the results were previously published in abstract form and presented as a poster or oral communication at the 9th École d'Ingénieurs en Informatique (EPITA) and 38th Artificial Insulin Delivery Systems, Pancreas and Islet Transplantation (AIDPIT) Workshop, Innsbruck, Austria, 27–29 January 2019, and the 53rd Annual Meeting of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes, Lisbon, Portugal, 11–15 September 2017.

References

1. Shapiro AMJ, Lakey JRT, Ryan EA, et al. Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. N Engl J Med 2000;343:230–238

 Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry Coordinating Center Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry Tenth Annual Report [Internet], 2015. Available from http://www.citregistry.org/reports/ reports.htm. Accessed 1 February 2019

3. Alejandro R, Lehmann R, Ricordi C, et al. Longterm function (6 years) of islet allografts in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes 1997;46:1983–1989 4. Ryan EA, Paty BW, Senior PA, et al. Five-year follow-up after clinical islet transplantation. Diabetes 2005;54:2060–2069

 Fiorina P, Folli F, Maffi P, et al. Islet transplantation improves vascular diabetic complications in patients with diabetes who underwent kidney transplantation: a comparison between kidney-pancreas and kidney-alone transplantation. Transplantation 2003;75:1296–1301

 O'Connell PJ, Holmes-Walker DJ, Goodman D, et al.; Australian Islet Transplant Consortium. Multicenter Australian trial of islet transplantation: improving accessibility and outcomes. Am J Transplant 2013;13:1850–1858

 Qi M, Kinzer K, Danielson KK, et al. Five-year follow-up of patients with type 1 diabetes transplanted with allogeneic islets: the UIC experience. Acta Diabetol 2014;51:833–843

 Lablanche S, Borot S, Wojtusciszyn A, et al.; GRAGIL Network. Five-year metabolic, functional, and safety results of patients with type 1 diabetes transplanted with allogenic islets within the Swiss-French GRAGIL Network. Diabetes Care 2015;38:1714–1722

 Hering BJ, Clarke WR, Bridges ND, et al.; Clinical Islet Transplantation Consortium. Phase 3 trial of transplantation of human islets in type 1 diabetes complicated by severe hypoglycemia. Diabetes Care 2016;39:1230–1240

 Benomar K, Chetboun M, Espiard S, et al. Purity of islet preparations and 5-year metabolic outcome of allogenic islet transplantation. Am J Transplant 2018;18:945–951

11. Barton FB, Rickels MR, Alejandro R, et al. Improvement in outcomes of clinical islet transplantation: 1999-2010. Diabetes Care 2012;35:1436–1445 12. Warnock GL, Thompson DM, Meloche RM, et al. A multi-year analysis of islet transplantation compared with intensive medical therapy on progression of complications in type 1 diabetes. Transplantation 2008;86:1762–1766

13. Vantyghem MC, Marcelli-Tourvieille S, Fermon C, et al. Intraperitoneal insulin infusion versus islet transplantation: comparative study in patients with type 1 diabetes. Transplantation 2009;87:66–71

14. Gerber PA, Locher R, Zuellig RA, et al. Glycemia, hypoglycemia, and costs of simultaneous islet-kidney or islet after kidney transplantation versus intensive insulin therapy and waiting list for islet transplantation. Transplantation 2015;99:2174–2180

15. Holmes-Walker DJ, Gunton JE, Hawthorne W, et al. Islet transplantation provides superior glycemic control with less hypoglycemia compared with continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion or multiple daily insulin injections. Transplantation 2017;101:1268–1275

16. Lablanche S, Vantyghem M-C, Kessler L, et al.; TRIMEC0 trial investigators. Islet transplantation versus insulin therapy in patients with type 1 diabetes with severe hypoglycaemia or poorly controlled glycaemia after kidney transplantation (TRIMECO): a multicentre, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2018; 6:527–537

17. Foster ED, Bridges ND, Feurer ID, Eggerman TL, Hunsicker LG, Alejandro R; Clinical Islet Transplantation Consortium. Improved health-related quality of life in a phase 3 islet transplantation trial in type 1 diabetes care 2018;41:1001–1008

Diabetes Care

18. Fiorina P, Folli F, Zerbini G, et al. Islet transplantation is associated with improvement of renal function among uremic patients with type I diabetes mellitus and kidney transplants. J Am Soc Nephrol 2003;14:2150–2158

19. Thompson DM, Meloche M, Ao Z, et al. Reduced progression of diabetic microvascular complications with islet cell transplantation compared with intensive medical therapy. Transplantation 2011;91:373–378

20. Fensom B, Harris C, Thompson SE, Al Mehthel M, Thompson DM. Islet cell transplantation improves nerve conduction velocity in type I diabetes compared with intensive medical therapy over six years. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2016;122:101–105

21. Madrigal JM, Monson RS, Hatipoglu B, et al. Coronary artery calcium may stabilize following islet cell transplantation in patients with type 1 diabetes. Clin Transplant 2017;31

22. D'Addio F, Maffi P, Vezzulli P, et al. Islet transplantation stabilizes hemostatic abnormalities and cerebral metabolism in individuals with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2014;37:267–276 23. Lakey JRT, Kin T, Warnock GL, et al. Longterm graft function after allogeneic islet transplantation. Cell Transplant 2007;16:441–446

24. Berney T, Ferrari-Lacraz S, Bühler L, et al. Long-term insulin-independence after allogeneic islet transplantation for type 1 diabetes: over the 10-year mark. Am J Transplant 2009;9:419–423 25. Lehmann R, Graziano J, Brockmann J, et al. Glycemic control in simultaneous islet-kidney versus pancreas-kidney transplantation in type 1 diabetes: a prospective 13-year follow-up. Diabetes Care 2015;38:752–759

 Blau JE, Abegg MR, Flegel WA, Zhao X, Harlan DM, Rother KI. Long-term immunosuppression after solitary islet transplantation is associated with preserved C-peptide secretion for more than a decade. Am J Transplant 2015;15:2995– 3001

27. Brennan DC, Kopetskie HA, Sayre PH, et al. Long-term follow-up of the Edmonton protocol

of islet transplantation in the United States. Am J Transplant 2016;16:509–517 28. Williams J, Jacus N, Kavalackal K, et al. Over

 Williams J, Jacus N, Kavalackal K, et al. Over ten-year insulin independence following single allogeneic islet transplant without T-cell depleting antibody induction. Islets 2018;10:168–174
 Ryan EA, Paty BW, Senior PA, Lakey JR, Bigam D, Shapiro AM. Beta-score: an assessment of beta-cell function after islet transplantation. Diabetes Care 2005;28:343–347

30. Vantyghem MC, Raverdy V, Balavoine AS, et al. Continuous glucose monitoring after islet transplantation in type 1 diabetes: an excellent graft function (β -score greater than 7) is required to abrogate hyperglycemia, whereas a minimal function is necessary to suppress severe hypoglycemia (β -score greater than 3). J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012;97:E2078–E2083

31. Gruessner AC, Gruessner RWG. Pancreas transplantation of US and non-US cases from 2005 to 2014 as reported to the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) and the International Pancreas Transplant Registry (IPTR). Rev Diabet Stud 2016;13:35–58

32. Wojtusciszyn A, Branchereau J, Esposito L, et al.; TREPID group. Indications for islet or pancreatic transplantation: statement of the TREPID working group on behalf of the Société Prancophone du Diabète (SFD), Société Francaise d'Endocrinologie (SFE), Société Francophone de Transplantation (SFT) and Société Française de Néphrologie–Dialyse–Transplantation (SFNDT). Diabetes Metab 2019;45:224–237

 Vantyghem MC, Kerr-Conte J, Arnalsteen L, et al. Primary graft function, metabolic control, and graft survival after islet transplantation. Diabetes Care 2009;32:1473–1478

34. Rickels MR, Stock PG, de Koning EJP, et al. Defining outcomes for β-cell replacement therapy in the treatment of diabetes: a consensus report on the IgIs criteria from the IPITA/EPITA opinion leaders workshop. Transpl Int 2018;102: 1479–1486 35. Liu S, Kilic G, Meyers MS, et al. Oestrogens improve human pancreatic islet transplantation in a mouse model of insulin deficient diabetes. Diabetologia 2013;56:370–381

36. Allard C, Morford JJ, Xu B, et al. Loss of nuclear and membrane estrogen receptor- α differentially impairs insulin secretion and action in male and female mice. Diabetes 2019;68:490–501

37. Choudhary P, Rickels MR, Senior PA, et al. Evidence-informed clinical practice recommendations for treatment of type 1 diabetes complicated by problematic hypoglycemia. Diabetes Care 2015;38:1016–1029

38. Writing Group for the DCCT/EDIC Research Group; Orchard TJ, Nathan DM, Zinman B, et al. Association between 7 years of intensive treatment of type 1 diabetes and long-term mortality. JAMA 2015;313:45–53

39. Ortiz F, Harjutsalo V, Helanterä I, Lempinen M, Forsblom C, Groop PH. Long-term mortality after kidney transplantation in a nationwide cohort of patients with type 1 diabetes in Finland. Diabetes Care 2019;42:55–61

40. Nathan DM, Cleary PA, Backlund JY, et al.; Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/ Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications (DCCT/EDIC) Study Research Group. Intensive diabetes treatment and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 1 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2005;353:2643–2653

41. Senior PA, Zeman M, Paty BW, Ryan EA, Shapiro AM. Changes in renal function after clinical islet transplantation: four-year observational study. Am L Transplant 2007;7:01–08

42. Coppelli A, Giannarelli R, Vistoli F, et al. The beneficial effects of pancreas transplant alone on diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes Care 2005;28: 1366–1370

43. Kim YC, Shin N, Lee S, et al. Effect of posttransplant glycemic control on long-term clinical outcomes in kidney transplant recipients with diabetic nephropathy: a multicenter cohort study in Korea. PLoS One 2018;13:e0195566

2.3 Article 3: Examination of the Igls criteria for defining functional outcomes of β-cell replacement therapy: Ipita symposium report

The first version of the IgIs criteria was developed in IgIs, Austria in 2017 to provide a definition of success for β -cell replacement therapy (i.e. in islet and pancreas transplant recipient) in T1D patient during a workshop of the International Pancreas and Islet Transplant Association (IPITA) and the European Pancreas and Islet Transplant Association (EPITA). In July 2019, during the IPITA World Congress a symposium was dedicated to investigating its criteria after 2 years of clinical practice.

The IgIs 1.0 four categories of the success of β -cell replacement therapy was compared in IT, pancreas transplantation alone and simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation cohorts and through blood glucose targets derived from continuous glucose monitoring (CGMS) in a ten years prospective islet alone and after kidney transplantation cohort.

CGMS monitoring data were collected in the Lille cohort of 55 patients with T1D before and after transplantation for 10 years in ITA (n = 39) or IAK (n = 16) recipients, representing a follow-up of 302 patients-years and compared to the Igls 1.0 categories of success at any time points during annual visit from the first islet infusion.

These results allowing to validate that CGMS data were in accordance with the actual definition and could allow to discriminate each category of this definition.

Following IT, the median (IQR) time spent in the glucose range recommended by the American Diabetes Association (i.e. 70 to 180 mg/dL) was gradually and significantly improved in patients with failure, marginal, good and optimal categories og the Igls 1.0 criteria of success

with 58% (44-73), 75% (64-89), 90% (78-97), and 100% (95-100), respectively and compared with 54% (44-71) before transplantation (1-way ANOVA, P < 0.0001).

Similarly, the median (IQR) time spent below the glucose recommended range (i.e. < 70 mg/dL) was significantly and gradually decreased in those categories with 7% (3-13), 2% (0-7), 0% (0-5), and 0% (0-1) compared with 9% (3-15) before transplantation (P < 0.0001). Finally, this study allowed us to refine the definition of success and to define the Igls 2.0 criteria which included data from continuous glucose monitoring to discriminate the different categories.

This recommendation article "Examination of the Igls criteria for defining functional outcomes of β-cell replacement therapy: Ipita symposium report" was published as first coauthor in 2021 in the Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2021, Vol. 106, No. 10, 3049–3059 doi:10.1210/clinem/dgab386 Reports and Recommendations



Reports and Recommendations

Examination of the IgIs Criteria for Defining Functional Outcomes of β-cell Replacement Therapy: IPITA Symposium Report

Cyril P. Landstra,^{1,*} Axel Andres,^{2,*} Mikael Chetboun,^{3,*} Caterina Conte,^{4,*} Yvonne Kelly,^{5,*} Thierry Berney,² Eelco J.P. de Koning,¹ Lorenzo Piemonti,⁴ Peter G. Stock,⁵ François Pattou,³ Marie-Christine Vantyghem,⁶ Melena D. Bellin,⁷ and Michael R. Rickels⁸

¹Division of Endocrinology & Division of Nephrology, Department of Internal Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden 2333 ZA, The Netherlands; ²Divison of Transplantation and Visceral Surgery, Department of Surgery, Geneva University Hospital, Geneva 1205, Switzerland; ³Department of General and Endocrine Surgery, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Lille, and Inserm, Translational Research for Diabetes, Université de Lille, Lille 59000, France; ⁴Diabetes Research Institute, IRCCS San Raffaele Scientific Institute, and Vita-Salute San Raffaele University, Milan 20132, Italy; ⁵Division of Transplantation, Department of Surgery, University of California at San Francisco, San Francisco, CA 94143, USA; ⁶Department of Endocrinology, Diabetology and Metabolism, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Lille, and Inserm, Translational Research for Diabetes, Université de Lille, Lille 59000, France; ⁷Division of Endocrinology, Department of Pediatrics, and the Schulze Diabetes Institute, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN 55454, USA; and ⁸Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes & Metabolism, Department of Medicine, and Institute for Diabetes, Obesity & Metabolism, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA

ORCiD numbers: 0000-0002-2172-2198 (L. Piemonti); 0000-0002-7324-4837 (M. D. Bellin); 0000-0002-9253-838X (M. R. Rickels).

*Contributed equally as primary authors.

Abbreviations: AP, artificial pancreas; CGM, continuous glucose monitoring; CITR, Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry; HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin; IAK, islet after kidney; IPITA, International Pancreas & Islet Transplant Association; IPTR, International Pancreas Transplant Registry; ITA, islet transplant alone; PRO, patient-reported outcome; PTA, pancreas transplant alone; SHE, severe hypoglycemia event; SPK, simultaneous pancreas-kidney; TBR, time below range; T1D, type 1 diabetes; TIR, time in range.

Received: 28 December 2020; Editorial Decision: 27 May 2021; First Published Online: 1 June 2021; Corrected and Typeset: 22 July 2021.

Abstract

Context: The IgIs criteria were developed to provide a consensus definition for outcomes of β -cell replacement therapy in the treatment of diabetes during a January 2017 workshop sponsored by the International Pancreas & Islet Transplant Association (IPITA) and the European Pancreas & Islet Transplant Association. In July 2019, a symposium at the 17th IPITA World Congress was held to examine the IgIs criteria after 2 years in clinical

ISSN Print 0021-972X ISSN Online 1945-7197 Printed in USA © The Author(s) 2021. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the Endocrine Society. All rights reserved. For permissions, please e-mail: journals.permissions@oup.com

https://academic.oup.com/jcem 3049

practice, including validation against continuous glucose monitoring (CGM)-derived glucose targets, and to propose future refinements that would allow for comparison of outcomes with artificial pancreas system approaches.

Evidence acquisition: Utilization of the criteria in various clinical and research settings was illustrated by population as well as individual outcome data of 4 islet and/or pancreas transplant centers. Validation against CGM metrics was conducted in 55 islet transplant recipients followed-up to 10 years from a fifth center.

Evidence synthesis: The IgIs criteria provided meaningful clinical assessment on an individual patient and treatment group level, allowing for comparison both within and between different β -cell replacement modalities. Important limitations include the need to account for changes in insulin requirements and C-peptide levels relative to baseline. In islet transplant recipients, CGM glucose time in range improved with each category of increasing β -cell graft function.

Conclusions: Future IgIs 2.0 criteria should consider absolute rather than relative levels of insulin use and C-peptide as qualifiers with treatment success based on glucose assessment using CGM metrics on par with assessment of glycated hemoglobin and severe hypoglycemia events.

Key Words: pancreas transplantation, islet transplantation, type 1 diabetes, β -cell replacement, continuous glucose monitoring

The aim of β-cell replacement therapy is to achieve nearnormal glycemic control in the absence of clinically significant hypoglycemia for patients with diabetes and β-cell failure experiencing severe hypoglycemia, hypoglycemia unawareness, and/or marked glycemic lability, and for patients with diabetes already committed to immunosuppression in support of another organ transplant. Current options for β -cell replacement include whole pancreas (1) or isolated islet transplantation (2), both of which can restore endogenous insulin secretion and improve glycemic control and stability, ameliorate clinically significant hypoglycemia, and reduce diabetes-related complications (3). As an alternative to restoration of endogenous insulin secretion, the artificial pancreas (AP) uses continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) to automate exogenous insulin delivery (4). Despite varying uses and options for β -cell replacement therapy, there had been a lack of clear and standardized definitions for graft function and clinical success, as well as poor alignment of glycemic control metrics used to evaluate AP systems impeding comparison of outcomes with cellular and technological approaches to therapy (5). To that end, in January 2017, the International Pancreas and Islet Transplant Association (IPITA) and the European Pancreas and Islet Transplant Association held a 2-day workshop in Igls, Austria, to develop a standardized definition for functional and clinical outcomes of B-cell replacement therapy. now known as the Igls criteria (6, 7).

The Igls criteria define β -cell graft function as optimal, good, marginal, or failure, based on glycated hemoglobin

(HbA1c); severe hypoglycemia events (SHEs); insulin requirements; and C-peptide levels (Table 1). A SHE is defined as an event associated with loss of consciousness or requiring third-party assistance for recovery (8). Optimal graft function requires near-normal glycemic control defined by HbA_{1c} ≤6.5% (48 mmol/mol), absence of SHE, insulin independence (including absence of other antihyperglycemic therapy), and a C-peptide increase over pretransplant measurement. Good β-cell graft function requires on-target glycemic control defined by HbA1c <7.0% (53 mmol/mol), absence of SHE, a reduction in insulin requirements of more than 50% compared with pretransplant (or use of noninsulin antihyperglycemic therapy), and a C-peptide increase over pretransplant measurement. Marginal graft function is defined by either HbA_{1c} \geq 7.0% (53 mmol/mol), occurrence of any SHE, or a reduction in insulin requirements of less than 50% in the presence of a C-peptide increase from pretransplant. When C-peptide measures less than 0.5 ng/mL (0.17 nmol/L), or lower than the patient's baseline before transplantation, the graft is considered to have functionally failed (6, 7). Optimal and good function are considered clinically successful outcomes, whereas marginal and failure are not.

In July 2019, a daylong symposium was held as part of the 17th IPITA World Congress in Lyon, France, to examine implementation of the Igls criteria after 2 years of use in clinical practice. The aims included evaluating the utility and limitations of the current criteria in assessing β -cell graft function, identifying possible areas

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/jcem/article/106/10/3049/6290863 by guest on 13 March

2022

Table 1. IgIs definition of functional and clinical outcomes for β -cell replacement therapy (6, 7) (joint publication)

β-cell graft func- tional status	HbA _{1c} , % (mmol/mol) ^a	Severe hypogly- cemia, events per y	Insulin requirements, U·kg ⁻¹ ·d ⁻¹	C-peptide	Treatment success
Optimal	≤6.5(48)	None	None	>Baseline ^b	Yes
Good	<7.0(53)	None	<50% baseline ^c	>Baseline ^b	Yes
Marginal	Baseline	<baseline<sup>d</baseline<sup>	≥50% baseline	>Baseline ^b	No ^e
Failure	Baseline	Baseline ^f	Baseline	Baseline ^g	No

Baseline, pretransplant assessment (not applicable to total pancreatectomy with islet autotransplantation patients).

"Mean glucose should be used to provide an estimate of the glycated hemoglobin, termed the glucose management indicator, in the setting of disordered red blood cell life span.

^bShould also be > 0.5 ng/mL (>0.17 nmol/L) fasting or stimulated.

'Should also be < 0.5 U·kg⁻¹·d⁻¹; might include the use of noninsulin antihyperglycemic agents.

^dShould severe hypoglycemia occur following treatment, then continued benefit may require assessment of hypoglycemia awareness, exposure to serious hypoglycemia (<54 mg/dL [3.0 mmol/L]), and/or glycemic variability/lability with demonstration of improvement from baseline.

^eClinically, benefits of maintaining and monitoring β-cell graft function may outweigh risks of maintaining immunosuppression.

f f severe hypoglycemia was not present before β -cell replacement therapy, then a return to baseline measures of glycemic control used as the indication for treatment (6, 7) may be consistent with β -cell graft failure.

^gMay not be reliable in uremic patients and/or in those patients with evidence of C-peptide production before β-cell replacement therapy.

for improvement, and proposing further refinements to the original criteria. Five experienced transplant centers illustrated of the usefulness of the Igls criteria in various clinical and research settings, and the symposium included discussion of limitations and recommendations for paving the way toward future implementation of the Igls criteria to compare outcomes of β -cell replacement therapies with AP system approaches to diabetes management.

Methods

Utilization of the Igls criteria

To illustrate the various uses of the Igls criteria, patient data from 4 transplant centers were examined. Usefulness in a clinical setting on a population level was demonstrated by data from center A. All consecutive data on patients that had completed at least 1 year of follow-up after either an islet or solitary pancreas transplant in this center were included. In addition, all patients were included who received a simultaneous pancreas-kidney (SPK) transplant in the year 2014 to provide at least 4 years of follow-up. Igls criteria were assessed at 6 months and 1, 2, and 4 years posttransplantation and are presented as a percentage of the population for each of the three β -cell replacement therapy groups (ie, islet transplantation, solitary pancreas transplantation, and SPK transplantation).

Usefulness of the criteria in a clinical setting on an individual level was illustrated by centers B and C using data from islet and pancreas transplant recipients who had completed at least 2 years of follow-up. For center B, patients were assessed at 6 months and 1 and 2 years posttransplantation, longitudinally describing individual patients' graft function according to the Igls criteria using all functional categories. For center C, individual patients' graft function was longitudinally delineated using the dichotomous Igls criteria definition of treatment success (optimal or good β -cell graft function) and treatment failure (marginal or failed β -cell graft function).

Usefulness of the criteria in a research setting was illustrated by data of center D, describing consecutive islet transplant recipients included in a research study of a novel immunosuppressive approach that avoided calcineurin inhibitors as previously reported (9), followed now over a 10-year period.

Comparison with CGM metrics

To address whether CGM metrics should be included as part of functional criteria that would better align glycemic control metrics with the AP field, validation of the Igls criteria against standard CGM metrics of glycemic control was provided using data from another transplant center, experienced with CGM in islet transplant recipients.

All CGM data collected during annual posttransplant follow-up in a cohort of patients with type 1 diabetes (T1D) before and after islet transplantation in center E were analyzed (10). CGM metrics were assessed using a blinded system (Medtronic MiniMed, Northridge, CA) for 3 to 5 consecutive days during usual daily life activities and diet as previously described (11). The percentages of glucose time in range (TIR) 70 to 180 mg/dL (3.9-10 mmol/L) and time below range (TBR) <70 mg/dL (3.9 mmol/L) were categorized according to the Igls criteria as optimal, good, marginal, and failure based on 146, 36, 90, and 30 patient assessments, respectively, and evaluated using 1-way ANOVA.

Results

The Igls criteria provide the ability to present and compare data on multiple clinically important levels. On a population level, the Igls criteria are useful to cross-sectionally present and compare functional outcomes of different \beta-cell replacement modalities (Fig. 1). Using the Igls criteria, functional outcomes of 36 islet transplant recipients (30 islet after kidney [IAK] (12), 4 islet alone [ITA], 2 islet-after-lung (13)), 29 solitary pancreas transplant recipients (26 pancreas after kidney, 3 pancreas transplant alone [PTA]), and 23 SPK recipients from center A were evaluated at 6 months and 1, 2, and 4 years posttransplantation. Good and marginal β-cell graft function is experienced most often with islet transplantation, and optimal and failure with solitary pancreas transplantation, such that treatment success (optimal or good) is experienced by ~60% of recipients over the first 2 years, with more durable function in the pancreas than islet group at 4 years. The highest rate of treatment success is seen with SPK.

The Igls criteria can also be used for individual longitudinal description of β-cell graft function over time. Graft function in individual patients following islet transplantation (1 IAK (14), 2 ITA, 3 simultaneous islet-kidney, 1 simultaneous islet-liver-lung-kidney (15)), 1 solitary pancreas transplantation (PTA), and 8 SPK was assessed at 6 months and 1 and 2 years posttransplantation by center B (Fig. 2A). Islet transplant recipients more often experienced good and marginal functional outcomes with high fluctuation between functional categories, whereas pancreas transplant recipients showed either optimal function or graft failure. Describing β -cell graft function using the binary Igls criteria outcome measure of treatment success (optimal or good) vs treatment failure (marginal or failed) in 7 individuals following ITA and 7 following PTA from center C (Fig. 2B) shows that achieving treatment success is less fluctuant and follows similar patterns in ITA compared with PTA recipients.

Apart from clinical settings, the Igls criteria can also be used in a research setting to describe and compare β -cell graft function. Graft function according to the Igls criteria was structurally assessed in 10 consecutive ITA recipients from center D that received islet transplantation under protocols evaluating belatacept or efalizumab (Fig. 3). A switch in graft function from treatment success to treatment failure according to the Igls criteria always predated the clinical decision to perform a supplemental islet infusion (16, 17) or subsequent pancreas transplant (18).

CGM data were collected in a cohort of 55 patients with T1D before and after ITA (n = 39) or IAK (n = 16) in center E, providing >302 patient-years based on individual follow-up periods of 1 to 10 years (10). After islet transplantation, median (interquartile range) TIR was incrementally improved at 100% (95-100; optimal function), 90% (78-97; good function), 75% (64-89; marginal function) and 58% (44-73; failure) compared with 54% (44-71) pretransplant (P < 0.0001, Fig. 4A). Similarly, TBR was 0% (0-1; optimal function), 0% (0-5; good function), 2% (0-7; marginal function) and 7% (3-13; failure), compared with 9% (3-15) pretransplant (P < 0.0001, Fig. 4B).

Discussion

The Igls criteria represent an important step forward in the process of standardizing the assessment of outcomes for β -cell replacement therapy, allowing for individual patient monitoring and the comparison of outcomes by different treatment approaches (ie, islet and pancreas transplantation). Illustrated by outcome data of experienced transplant centers, the criteria have shown versatility to capture information on different levels in a clinical (at both a



Figure 1. Igls criteria in a clinical setting on a population level. Illustration of the Igls criteria utility for cross-sectional comparison between β -cell replacement modalities, illustrated by consecutive data from center A at 0.5, 1, 2, and 4 years posttransplantation. Igls criteria functional categories are presented as a percentage of each population for islet transplantation (ITx; n = 36), solitary pancreas transplantation (PTx; n = 29), and SPK (n = 23), respectively. Describing the natural course posttransplantation according to current clinical practice, this includes 17 islet transplant recipients that received a subsequent islet infusion by the 2-year assessment, and 1 pancreas transplant recipient with a failed graft at 1 and 2 years receiving a subsequent whole pancreas transplant with optimal graft function at 4 years. SPK, simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation.



Figure 2. Igls criteria in a clinical setting on an individual level. Illustration of the Igls criteria utility for individual longitudinal description of β -cell graft function over time for individual patients after ITA, IAK, simultaneous islet-kidney (SIK), simultaneous islet-liver-lung-kidney (SILLK), PTA, and SPK. (A) Illustrated by data of patients from center B followed-up at 0.5, 1, and 2 years posttransplantation, using all functional categories of the Igls criteria. (B) Illustrated by data of patients from center C, using the binary Igls criteria outcomes of treatment success (optimal or good β -cell graft function) vs treatment failure (marginal or failed β -cell graft function). IAK, islet after kidney; ITA, islet alone; PTA, pancreas transplant alone; SPK, simultaneous pancreas-kidney.



Figure 3. Igls criteria in a research setting. Illustration of the Igls criteria utility for individual longitudinal description of β -cell graft function over time in a research setting, illustrated by 10 structurally and consecutively followed patients that received islet transplantation under protocols investigating belatacept (BELA) or efalizumab (EFA) from center D. Both islet and pancreas transplants were applied in these patients. The binary Igls criteria outcomes of treatment success (optimal or good β -cell graft function) vs treatment failure (marginal or failed β -cell graft function) were used. Is, immunosuppression.


Figure 4. Igls criteria and continuous glucose monitoring metrics of glycemic control. Continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) metrics of glycemic control categorized according to the Igls criteria for scoring β -cell graft function as optimal, good, marginal, or failure, using data from a cohort of islet transplant recipients (n = 55) followed-up to 10 years from center E. CGM parameters incrementally improved with each consecutive category of Igls classification following islet transplantation (P < 0.0001 for both, 1-way ANOVA test for linear trend). Values are represented as median (interquartile range). (A) Glucose time-inrange (TIR, %) 70-180 mg/dL (3.9-10 mmol/L) for each of the functional categories of the Igls criteria. (B) Glucose time-below-range (TBR, %) <70 mg/dL (<3.9 mmol/L) for each of the functional categories of the Igls criteria.

treatment group and at an individual patient level) as well as in a research setting.

Existing registries for pancreas (International Pancreas Transplant Registry [IPTR]) and islet (Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry [CITR]) transplantation have used different definitions for functional graft outcomes. IPTR previously defined pancreas graft failure or success by whether insulin was used or not, irrespective of glucose regulation. Recently, this definition has been revised to insulin requirements ≥ 0.5 units/kg per day (19), which remains limited as an outcome in the absence of glucose criteria. In addition to insulin requirements, CITR requires reporting of measures for glucose regulation (HbA_{1,2}) fasting glucose, severe hypoglycemia events) and C-peptide levels, with primary outcomes defined for insulin independence, HbA_{1,2} $\leq 6.5\%$ (48 mmol/mol), absence of SHE, and C-peptide ≥ 0.3 ng/mL (0.10 nmol/L) (20). Similar metrics are being collected by CITR for a registry of patients undergoing total pancreatectomy with islet autotransplantation (21). Thus, CITR is positioned to implement assessment by the Igls criteria across both allogeneic and autologous islet transplantation, and IPTR could expand its data reporting requirements for pancreas transplant recipients. By combining measures of glucose regulation and β -cell graft function, the Igls criteria allow for treatment success of whole pancreas, isolated islet, or future stem cell-derived islet transplantation with ongoing insulin use, provided goals for glycemic control and elimination of severe hypoglycemia are met, and clinically significant endogenous insulin secretion (C-peptide) has been restored.

Limitations of the Igls criteria

The basis of β -cell graft functional categories on the achievement of HbA_{1c} targets, absence of SHE, reduction in insulin requirements, and restoration of clinically significant C-peptide production is currently limited by the requirement for baseline measures before transplantation. In addition, although the thresholds used for defining a successful graft outcome are unavoidably arbitrary, the rationale for glycemic control metrics (ie, HbA_{1c} and severe hypoglycemia events) is stronger than that for those reflecting graft function to secrete insulin (ie, insulin use and C-peptide levels).

The requirement for good β-cell graft function of a 50% reduction in insulin use (which should also be <0.5 units/ kg per day) is based on expert opinion (22). Insulin requirements are, however, highly variable and depend on factors that not only vary day to day but are also independent of β-cell graft secretory capacity, such as dietary habits, physical activity, insulin sensitivity, kidney function, and the use of noninsulin antihyperglycemic agents. Patient requirements for glucocorticoid therapy, particularly the maintenance of supraphysiologic dosing in combined islet and lung transplants for individuals with β-cell failure because of cystic fibrosis (13, 15), may result in higher insulin requirements from steroid-induced insulin resistance despite all other criteria being optimal/good. Thus, when insulin requirements are the only component leading to classification of marginal β -cell graft function with glycemic control targets being met, it may be difficult to conclude that the treatment is not clinically successful.

For patients with chronic pancreatitis undergoing total pancreatectomy with islet autotransplantation, the assessment for a reduction of insulin requirements or an increase in C-peptide levels relative to baseline prior to intervention (prepancreatectomy) is not possible. Thus, good β -cell graft function that is required to meet criteria for treatment success depends on the presence of insulin requirements <0.5 units/kg per day and C-peptide levels that are >0.5 ng/mL (0.17 nmol/L) fasting or stimulated. In the absence of a stimulated C-peptide, a recent validation study of the Igls criteria in autologous islet recipients substituted a fasting C-peptide \geq 0.2 ng/mL (0.07 nmol/L) that was highly predictive of a stimulated C-peptide >0.5 ng/mL (0.17 nmol/L) when both measures were available for analysis (23). Measurement of C-peptide provides an estimate of the contribution of engrafted islets to glycemic control, enabling determination of whether improvements in HbA_{1c} are due to changes in insulin dosing or to effective secretory function of the β -cell graft.

Incorporation of CGM metrics

At the time of the IPITA/European Pancreas and Islet Transplant Association Opinion Leaders Workshop in 2017, consensus targets for CGM-derived metrics of glycemic control had not been established. Since then, the use of CGM has increasingly expanded in clinical practice. The use of CGM metrics such as TIR may identify changes in glycemia sooner than a change in HbA_{1c}, allow simultaneous assessment of hypoglycemia from TBR, and would allow for more direct comparison of β -cell replacement with AP system outcomes (24, 25). In addition, glucose variability has gained increasing importance as both a therapeutic target and an outcome measure in diabetes clinical trials (26), including of islet transplantation (27), where improvement in glucose variability may be related to improvements in measures of neuropathy (28).

The Igls criteria were well-correlated to CGM parameters in the allogeneic islet transplant recipients reported here, with similar findings recently demonstrated in a smaller cohort of autologous islet transplant recipients (23). These results support an approach that applies CGM metrics to the assessment of β -cell graft function, thus further enabling comparisons of results with AP system technology. As even a marginal β -cell graft function is enough to increase TIR and decrease TBR, these results further support that marginal function could still provide benefit to an individual patient by reducing the risk for experiencing future SHE (29-31).

The increasing use of CGM has led to the recent publication of an international consensus for TIR targets, which may soon be adopted as a surrogate for HbA_{1c} (25). In the international consensus, two situations were distinguished: for adults with T1D or type 2 diabetes, TIR should be greater than 70%, TBR less than 4%, and time above range less than 25%. For older or high-risk patients, avoidance of hypoglycemia is prioritized such that the goal is first aimed at limiting TBR to less than 1%, and decreasing the requirement of TIR to greater than 50% with time above range less than 50% (25). Although such a compromise in glycemic control is appropriate when hypoglycemia is a significant risk, the objective of β -cell replacement therapies to eliminate hypoglycemia should allow for the achievement of TIR >70% to 80% even for high-risk individuals such as those with hypoglycemia unawareness or having already undergone kidney transplantation. These TIR targets are based on validation against HbA_{1c}, whereby TIR >50% relates to HbA_{1c} <8.0%, TIR > 60% to HbA_{1c} <7.5%, TIR > 70% to HbA_{1c} <7.0%, and a TIR > 80% to HbA_{1c} <6.5% (32).

In the results from center E, and as previously reported by the same group (10, 11), those with a failed islet transplant spent only 58% TIR but with 7% TBR, and so clearly struggled with achieving even the less stringent CGM criteria for high-risk patients with T1D. Those with marginal β -cell graft function spent 75% TIR with only 2% TBR, and so are most often achieving adult standards for glycemic control. Those with good or optimal β -cell graft function spent 90 and 100% TIR, respectively, with no TBR, clearly meeting stringent glycemic control targets. Thus, there is close agreement of the Igls criteria for defining β -cell graft function with increasing time spent in the target glucose range and decreasing time spent with exposure to hypoglycemia. This relationship of CGM time spent both within and below the normal glucose range with the CGMindependent metrics used in Igls 1.0 should enable the adoption of CGM metrics as the most accurate approach to compare both cellular therapies and technological approaches to glycemic control.

For high-risk individuals being considered for and receiving β -cell replacement therapy, it is particularly important to also examine time spent with serious, clinically significant hypoglycemia <54 mg/dL (3.0 mmol/L) (33) and glucose variability that more strongly relate to risk for experiencing SHE (34). Moreover, because β -cell replacement therapy targets near-normal glycemic control (even for high-risk patients), <4% TBR is acceptable as long as time spent <54 mg/dL (3.0 mmol/L) is negligible (<1%) because this amount of CGM measured hypoglycemia is present in healthy, nondiabetic individuals (35).

Looking forward: paving the way for Igls 2.0

In summary, the Igls criteria are considered a great improvement for standardized classification of graft function and treatment success for current β -cell replacement therapies, including both isolated islet and whole pancreas

transplantation. Temporal assessment is important and should be included any time a clinical change in β-cell graft function is suspected and at the time of any additional β -cell transplant. Limitations include the absence of CGM metrics that preclude direct comparison of outcomes to AP systems. In addition, insulin requirements were found to be very dependent on confounding factors such as diet, exercise, and glucocorticoids rather than β-cell graft function, and the requirement for obtaining a stimulated C-peptide >0.5 ng/mL (>0.17 nmol/L) to document β -cell graft function in cases in which the fasting level fell below this threshold was felt too cumbersome. Additionally, the dichotomous outcome definition of treatment success and treatment failure was thought to be insensitive to the clinical benefits associated with a marginal β-cell graft function. Together with insulin requirements, C-peptide levels also cannot be used for comparison of cellular to technologic treatment approaches to glycemic control.

Future steps forward to improve upon the current criteria should incorporate CGM metrics to ensure comparison between β-cell replacement therapies and new developments in AP systems technology. We suggest that a new Igls 2.0 form composite criteria in which clinical outcome based on glucose regulation is separated from β-cell graft function, with the latter considered only for further qualification of β-cell replacement modalities (Table 2). Clinical outcome would encompass glycemic control and hypoglycemia and be sufficient for defining treatment success, and only the assessment of β-cell graft function would further require the addition of C-peptide and insulin use criteria. Reflecting the potential of a marginal β-cell function providing clinical benefit, this subdivision also would ensure the possibility for scoring treatment success, even with marginal β -cell graft function. Glycemic control and hypoglycemia could be assessed with or without CGM. Glucose regulation in patients with CGM could be assessed through %TIR and %TBR, whereas in those without CGM through HbA. and the occurrence of SHE.

Because insulin requirements are extremely dependent on individual lifestyle-related factors (36), and are not useful for comparison to AP systems, it was suggested to remove percent reductions for defining β-cell graft function in a future Igls 2.0 criteria. Furthermore, although a threshold for insulin requirements < 0.5 units/kg body weight per day was felt by some to represent a reasonable expectation of a clinically successful β-cell graft with good function (consistent with the IPTR) (19), others felt

Treatment outcome	Glycemic control		Hypoglycemia		Treatment
	HbA _{1c} , % (mmol/mol) ^a	CGM, % time-in-range	Severe hypoglycemia, events per y	CGM, % time < 54 mg/dl (3.0 mmol/L)	
Optimal	≤6.5 (48)	≥80	None	0	Yes
Good	<7.0 (53)	≥70	None	<1	Yes
Marginal	≤Baseline	>Baseline	<baseline<sup>b</baseline<sup>	<baseline< td=""><td>No^c</td></baseline<>	No ^c
Failure	~Baseline	~Baseline	~Baseline ^d	~Baseline	No
β-cell graft function ^e	C-peptide, ng/mL (nmol/L) ^f		Insulin use or noninsu therapy	lin antihyperglycemic	
Optimal	Any		None		
Good	>0.5 (0.17) stimulated		Any		
	≥0.2 (0.07) fasting				
Marginal	0.3-0.5 (0.10-0.17) stimulated		Any		
	0.1-<0.2 (0.04-<0.07) fasting				
Failure	<0.3 (0.10) stimulated		Anv		

Table 2. Proposed Igls criteria 2.0

Baseline, pretransplant assessment (not applicable to total pancreatectomy with islet autotransplantation patients).

Abbreviations: CGM, continuous glucose monitoring; HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin.

<0.1 (0.04) fasting

"Mean glucose should be used to provide an estimate of the HbA1, atrend the glucose management indicator, in the setting of disordered red blood cell life span.

bShould severe hypoglycemia occur following treatment, then continued benefit may require assessment of hypoglycemia awareness, exposure to serious hypoglycemia (<54 mg/dL [3.0 mmol/L]), and/or glycemic variability/lability with demonstration of improvement from baseline.

^cClinically, benefits of maintaining and monitoring β-cell graft function may outweigh risks of maintaining immunosuppression

^dIf severe hypoglycemia was not present before β-cell replacement therapy, then a return to baseline measures of glycemic control used as the indication for treatment (6, 7) may be consistent with β -cell graft failure.

^eCategorization of β-cell graft function must first meet treatment outcome based on measures of glucose regulation.

^fMay not be reliable in uremic patients and/or in those patients with evidence of C-peptide production before β-cell replacement therapy.

success

that only insulin independence should be required for defining optimal β -cell graft function. By removing the amount of insulin that may be required to optimize glycemic control, these revised criteria for insulin use would also allow for more direct application of the Igls criteria to patients undergoing total pancreatectomy with islet autotransplantation.

The treatment goal for C-peptide level as a functional measure of β-cell graft insulin secretion should still meet the stimulated threshold >0.5 ng/mL (0.17 nmol/L) established by the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial as associated with reduced risk for experiencing severe hypoglycemia events as well as for the development and progression of microvascular complications (37). This threshold is also associated with improved glycemic control and avoidance of hypoglycemia following islet transplantation for T1D (38), where it is usually related with a fasting C-peptide of at least 0.2 ng/mL (0.07 nmol/L) (23). C-peptide below this threshold, but at least 0.3 ng/mL (0.10 nmol/L) stimulated (39) (as reported in CITR) (20) or 0.1 ng/mL (0.03 nmol/L) fasted, could be compatible with a marginal β-cell graft. Although lower levels of residual C-peptide detectable by high-sensitivity assays have been associated with a reduced risk of hypoglycemia in T1D (39, 40), in the phase 3 Clinical Islet Transplantation Consortium trial involving individuals with T1D complicated by hypoglycemia unawareness, only those transplant recipients who lost islet graft function defined by a stimulated C-peptide <0.3 ng/mL (0.10 nmol/L) experienced a recurrence of severe hypoglycemia (41), and so should be considered failed.

It is still not known whether the Igls criteria may predict outcomes in β -cell replacement therapy, nor whether the Igls criteria may guide physicians in clinical decision making (eg, whether a shift from optimal to good function should prompt closer metabolic monitoring or immunological surveillance). Finally, given the heavy psychological burden of T1D affecting disease management (42), recent clinical trials of diabetes treatments increasingly include patient-reported outcomes (PROs), which have been recognized as a clinically meaningful outcome in T1D (24). Future updates to the criteria should also take into account PROs, including health-related quality of life, diabetes distress, fear of hypoglycemia, and patient satisfaction with their current treatment (43). It is important to note that the herewith-proposed Igls 2.0 criteria are only preliminary. We propose that experts and practitioners in the field reconvene for another workshop to generate consensus of the incorporation of CGM metrics as proposed here, as well as considering the addition of PROs that could be applied to comparative effectiveness evaluation of both β-cell replacement and AP system approaches to diabetes treatment.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Suzanne Landis of the International Pancreas and Islet Transplant Association, a section of the Transplantation Society, for assistance with organization and filming of the symposium.

Funding: M.R.R. is supported in part by U.S. Public Health Services research grant R01 DK091331.

Additional Information

Correspondence: Michael R. Rickels, MD, MS, Institute for Diabetes, Obesity & Metabolism, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, 12-134 Smilow Center for Translational Research, 3400 Civic Center Boulevard, Philadelphia, PA, USA 19104-5160. Email: rickels@pennmedicine.upenn.edu.

Disclosures: M.R.R. has been a consultant to Semma Therapeutics and Sernova Corporation, and has received research grant support from Xeris Pharmaceuticals. The remaining authors have nothing to disclose.

Data Availability: Some or all datasets generated during and/or analyzed during the current study are not publicly available but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

References

- Larsen JL. Pancreas transplantation: indications and consequences. Endocr Rev. 2004;25(6):919-946.
- Rickels MR, Robertson RP. Pancreatic islet transplantation in humans: recent progress and future directions. *Endocr Rev.* 2019;40(2):631-668.
- Vantyghem MC, de Koning EJP, Pattou F, Rickels MR. Advances in β-cell replacement therapy for the treatment of type 1 diabetes. *Lancet.* 2019;394(10205):1274-1285.
- Beck RW, Bergenstal RM, Laffel LM, Pickup JC. Advances in technology for management of type 1 diabetes. *Lancet*. 2019;**394**(10205):1265-1273.
- Bartlett ST, Markmann JF, Johnson P, et al. Report from IPITA-TTS opinion leaders meeting on the future of beta-cell replacement. *Transplantation*. 2016;100(Suppl 2):S1-44.
- Rickels MR, Stock PG, de Koning EJP, et al. Defining outcomes for beta-cell replacement therapy in the treatment of diabetes: a consensus report on the Igls criteria from the IPITA/EPITA opinion leaders workshop. *Transplantation*. 2018;102(9):1479-1486.
- Rickels MR, Stock PG, de Koning EJP, et al. Defining outcomes for beta-cell replacement therapy in the treatment of diabetes: a consensus report on the Igls criteria from the IPITA/EPITA opinion leaders workshop. *Transpl Int.* 2018;31(4):343-352.
- Seaquist ER, Anderson J, Childs B, et al. Hypoglycemia and diabetes: a report of a workgroup of the American Diabetes Association and the Endocrine Society. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(5):1845-1859.
- Posselt AM, Szot GL, Frassetto LA, et al. Islet transplantation in type 1 diabetic patients using calcineurin inhibitor-free immunosuppressive protocols based on T-cell adhesion or costimulation blockade. *Transplantation*. 2010;90(12):1595-1601.
- 10. Vantyghem MC, Chetboun M, Gmyr V, et al. Ten-year outcome of islet alone or Islet after kidney transplantation in type 1

diabetes: a prospective parallel-arm cohort study. *Diabetes Care*. 2019;**42**(11):2042-2049.

- 11. Vantyghem MC, Raverdy V, Balavoine AS, et al. Continuous glucose monitoring after Islet transplantation in type 1 diabetes: an excellent graft function (beta-score greater than 7) is required to abrogate hyperglycemia, whereas a minimal function is necessary to suppress severe hypoglycemia (beta-score greater than 3). J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(11):E2078-E2083.
- Nijhoff MF, Engelse MA, Dubbeld J, et al. Glycemic stability through Islet-after-kidney transplantation using an alemtuzumabbased induction regimen and long-term triple-maintenance immunosuppression. *Am J Transplant.* 2016;16(1):246-253.
- Spijker HS, Wolffenbuttel BH, van der Bij W, Engelse MA, Rabelink TJ, de Koning EJ. Islet-after-lung transplantation in a patient with cystic fibrosis-related diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2014;37(7):e159-160.
- Lablanche S, Vantyghem MC, Kessler L, et al. Islet transplantation versus insulin therapy in patients with type 1 diabetes with severe hypoglycaemia or poorly controlled glycaemia after kidney transplantation (TRIMECO): a multicentre, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 2018;6(7):527-537.
- Kessler L, Bakopoulou S, Kessler R, et al. Combined pancreatic islet-lung transplantation: a novel approach to the treatment of end-stage cystic fibrosis. *Am J Transplant*. 2010;10(7):1707-1712.
- Faradji RN, Tharavanij T, Messinger S, et al. Long-term insulin independence and improvement in insulin secretion after supplemental islet infusion under exenatide and etanercept. *Transplantation*. 2008;86(12):1658-1665.
- Koh A, Imes S, Kin T, et al. Supplemental islet infusions restore insulin independence after graft dysfunction in islet transplant recipients. *Transplantation*. 2010;89(3):361-365.
- Wisel SA, Gardner JM, Roll GR, et al. Pancreas-after-islet transplantation in nonuremic type 1 diabetes: a strategy for restoring durable insulin independence. *Am J Transplant*. 2017;17(9):2444-2450.
- Gruessner AC, Gruessner RW. Pancreas transplantation of US and non-US cases from 2005 to 2014 as reported to the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) and the International Pancreas Transplant Registry (IPTR). *Rev Diabet Stud.* 2016;13(1):35-58.
- Barton FB, Rickels MR, Alejandro R, et al. Improvement in outcomes of clinical islet transplantation: 1999-2010. *Diabetes Care.* 2012;35(7):1436-1445.
- Bellin MD, Gelrud A, Arreaza-Rubin G, et al. Total pancreatectomy with islet autotransplantation: summary of an NIDDK workshop. Ann Surg. 2015;261(1):21-29.
- 22. Davies MJ, D'Alessio DA, Fradkin J, et al. Management of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes, 2018. a consensus report by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). *Diabetes Care*. 2018;41(12):2669-2701.
- McEachron KR, Yang Y, Hodges JS, et al. Performance of modified Igls criteria to evaluate islet autograft function after total pancreatectomy with islet autotransplantation - a retrospective study. *Transpl Int.* 2021; 34(1):87-96.
- 24. Agiostratidou G, Anhalt H, Ball D, et al. Standardizing clinically meaningful outcome measures beyond HbA1c for type

1 diabetes: a consensus report of the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists, the American Association of Diabetes Educators, the American Diabetes Association, the Endocrine Society, JDRF International, the Leona M. and Harry B. Helmsley charitable trust, the Pediatric Endocrine Society, and the TID exchange. *Diabetes Care*. 2017;40(12):1622-1630.

- 25. Battelino T, Danne T, Bergenstal RM, et al. Clinical targets for continuous glucose monitoring data interpretation: recommendations from the international consensus on time in range. *Diabetes Care*. 2019;42(8):1593-1603.
- Wilmot EG, Choudhary P, Leelarathna L, Baxter M. Glycaemic variability: the under-recognized therapeutic target in type 1 diabetes care. *Diabetes Obes Metab.* 2019;21(12):2599-2608.
- Jalbert M, Zheng F, Wojtusciszyn A, et al. Glycemic variability indices can be used to diagnose islet transplantation success in type 1 diabetic patients. *Acta Diabetol.* 2019; 57(3):335-345.
- Vantyghem MC, Quintin D, Caiazzo R, et al. Improvement of electrophysiological neuropathy after islet transplantation for type 1 diabetes: a 5-year prospective study. *Diabetes Care*. 2014;37(6):e141-142.
- Kilpatrick ES, Rigby AS, Goode K, Atkin SL. Relating mean blood glucose and glucose variability to the risk of multiple episodes of hypoglycaemia in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia*. 2007;50(12):2553-2561.
- Henriksen MM, Andersen HU, Thorsteinsson B, Pedersen-Bjergaard U. Hypoglycemic exposure and risk of asymptomatic hypoglycemia in type 1 diabetes assessed by continuous glucose monitoring. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2018;103(6):2329-2335.
- Beck RW, Bergenstal RM, Riddlesworth TD, Kollman C. The association of biochemical hypoglycemia with the subsequent risk of a severe hypoglycemic event: analysis of the DCCT data set. *Diabetes Technol Ther.* 2019;21(1):1-5.
- Beck RW, Bergenstal RM, Cheng P, et al. The relationships between time in range, hyperglycemia metrics, and HbA1c. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2019;13(4):614-626.
- 33. International Hypoglycaemia Study G. Glucose concentrations of less than 3.0 mmol/L (54 mg/dL) should be reported in clinical trials: a joint position statement of the American Diabetes Association and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2017;40(1):155-157.
- 34. Senior PA, Bellin MD, Alejandro R, et al. Consistency of quantitative scores of hypoglycemia severity and glycemic lability and comparison with continuous glucose monitoring system measures in long-standing type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Technol Ther.* 2015;17(4):235-242.
- Shah VN, DuBose SN, Li Z, et al. Continuous glucose monitoring profiles in healthy nondiabetic participants: a multicenter prospective study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;104(10):4356-4364.
- Pilacinski S, Zozulinska-Ziolkiewicz DA. Influence of lifestyle on the course of type 1 diabetes mellitus. Arch Med Sci. 2014;10(1):124-134.
- Steffes MW, Sibley S, Jackson M, Thomas W. Beta-cell function and the development of diabetes-related complications in the diabetes control and complications trial. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26(3):832-836.
- 38. Brooks AM, Oram R, Home P, Steen N, Shaw JAM. Demonstration of an intrinsic relationship between endogenous

C-peptide concentration and determinants of glycemic control in type 1 diabetes following islet transplantation. *Diabetes Care*. 2015;**3**8(1):105-112.

- Lachin JM, McGee P, Palmer JP, Group DER. Impact of C-peptide preservation on metabolic and clinical outcomes in the diabetes control and complications trial. *Diabetes*. 2014;63(2):739-748.
- 40. Jeyam A, Colhoun H, McGurnaghan S, et al. Clinical impact of residual C-peptide secretion in type 1 diabetes on glycemia and microvascular complications. *Diabetes Care*. 2021;44(2):390-398.
- Hering BJ, Clarke WR, Bridges ND, et al. Phase 3 trial of transplantation of human Islets in type 1 diabetes complicated by severe hypoglycemia. *Diabetes Care*. 2016;39(7):1230-1240.
- 42. van Duinkerken E, Snoek FJ, de Wit M. The cognitive and psychological effects of living with type 1 diabetes: a narrative review. *Diabet Med.* 2020;37(4):555-563.
- 43. Foster ED, Bridges ND, Feurer ID, et al. Improved health-related quality of life in a phase 3 islet transplantation trial in type 1 diabetes complicated by severe hypoglycemia. *Diabetes Care*. 2018;41(5):1001-1008.

2.4 Article 4: Relation between primary graft function and 5-year outcomes of islet allogeneic transplantation in type 1 diabetes: a retrospective cohort study in 1210 participants from the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry

As the association between early islet graft function and sustained graft survival and insulin independence have been previously reported in our single-center cohort study, the present study was therefore designed to explore the relationship between primary islet graft function (PGF, measured with the Beta-2 score at day 28 of the last islet infusion) and 5-year clinical outcomes of IT in the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry (CITR), adjusted for known potential confounders, including recipient and islet graft characteristics, transplant strategies, and immunosuppression regimens.

In this observational cohort study, 1210 patients with T1D from 39 transplant centers worldwide who received allogeneic islet transplantation alone or after kidney transplantation between January 19, 1999, and July 17, 2022, were included.

The primary outcome of the study was the occurrence of unsuccessful transplantation according to the Igls 2.0 definition of success. Secondary outcomes of the study were graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control, and the need for insulin therapy.

The cumulative incidence of unsuccessful IT was 39.9% (95% CI: 36.7-43.1) at one year and 70.7% (95% CI: 67.3-73.8) at five years. PGF was inversely related to unsuccessful IT, with an adjusted subhazard ratio of 0.77 (95% CI: 0.72-0.82) per 5-unit increase in Beta2-score

(p<0.0001). This association was linear, resulting in a dosage-effect response. A similar relationship between PGF and graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control, and need for insulin therapy was observed.

Finally, this study demonstrated in a large international cohort with robust statistical methodology a dose-dependent linear relationship between PGF and 5-year clinical outcomes of IT using the Igls 2.0 refined definition of success and other current clinical outcomes of success, and independently from the number of infusions, total islet mass transplanted, and immunosuppression regimen.

A key finding of this report is to validate the role of PGF in predicting transplant success by informing on day 28 of the last infusion, the decision whether to repeat or not a new islet infusion. An online calculator is available to assist the clinician in making the decision and can predict the probability of the cumulative incidence of the 4 outcomes with good accuracy.

This article "Relation between primary graft function and 5-year outcomes of islet allogeneic transplantation in type 1 diabetes: a retrospective cohort study in 1210 participants from the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry" is actually submitted as first author for publication in the Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology journal.

The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology

Relation between primary graft function and 5-year outcomes of islet allogeneic transplantation in type 1 diabetes: a retrospective cohort study in 1210 participants from the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry --Manuscript Draft--

Manuscript Number:	
Article Type:	Article (Original Research)
Keywords:	primary graft function, islet transplantation, diabetes, cell therapy, registry
Corresponding Author:	Mikael CHETBOUN, M.D. Univ Lille, European Genomic Institute for Diabetes, 59000, Lille, France Lille, FRANCE
First Author:	Mikael CHETBOUN, M.D.
Order of Authors:	Mikael CHETBOUN, M.D.
	Elodie DRUMEZ
	Cassandra BALLOU
	Mehdi MAANAOUI
	Elizabeth PAYNE
	Franca BARTON
	Julie Kerr-CONTE
	Marie-Christine VANTYGHEM
	Lorenzo PIEMONTI
	Michael R. RICKELS
	Julien LABREUCHE
	François PATTOU
Manuscript Region of Origin:	FRANCE
Abstract:	Background: Allogeneic islet transplantation (IT) is a validated therapy for severe type 1 diabetes patients, currently consists of one or more intraportal infusions of allogeneic pancreatic islets, and restores regulated endogenous insulin secretion. However, a progressive decline of islet graft function is observed with time. An association between primary islet graft function (PGF) and sustained graft survival has been reported by single center cohort studies. The primary objective of the study was to explore the relationship between PGF and 5-year clinical outcomes of IT. The secondary objective was to integrate and validate a predictive model of IT outcomes based on the measurement of PGF. Methods: This observational cohort study enrolled all type 1 diabetes patients reported to the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry, who received IT, alone or after kidney transplantation, between 01/19/1999, and 07/17/2022. Exposure was PGF, measured 28 days after the last islet infusion with the Beta2-score. The primary outcome of the study was the incidence of unsuccessful IT. Secondary outcomes were graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control and the need for insulin therapy. A competing risk analysis was conducted to explore the relation between PGF and cumulative incidences of IT outcomes for 5 years, after adjustment on prespecified covariates and handling missing values by multiple imputations. A predictive PGF model for each IT outcome was built and the model performance was assessed and internally validated by using bootstraps resampling method (200 resamples). Findings: 1210 patients in 39 transplantation centers worldwide (mean (SD) aged 47 (11) years, 712 (59.5%) females) received a total islet mass transplanted of 11.8 (8.7-15.9) thousand islet-equivalents per kg of recipient weight. Mean PGF was 14.3 (8.8). The cumulative incidence of unsuccessful IT was 70.7% (95%CI 67.3-73.8) at 5 years. PGF was inversely related to unsuccessful IT with adjusted subhazard ratio (SHR) of

Powered by Editorial Manager® and ProduXion Manager® from Aries Systems Corporation

0.77 (95% CI 0.72-0.82) per 5 units increase of Beta2-score (p<0.0001). This association appeared linear, resulting in a dose-effect response. Similar relation of
PGF with graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control and need for insulin therapy were observed. PGF predicted the probability of cumulative incidence of the four study outcomes with good accuracy with median (range) C-statistic values across imputed datasets of 0.70 (0.60.0.71); 0.56 (0.74.0.73); 0.57
unsuccessful IT, graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control, and the need for insulin therapy, respectively.
Interpretation: This study demonstrated in a large international cohort a linear dose- dependent relation between PGF and 5-year clinical outcomes of IT, independently of the number of infusions, total islet mass transplanted, and immunosuppression regimen. The PGF could guide current clinical practice by informing at day 28 of the
last infusion, the decision whether to repeat the infusion and could serve as an early surrogate endpoint in future clinical trials.

Powered by Editorial Manager® and ProduXion Manager® from Aries Systems Corporation

Relation between primary graft function and 5-year outcomes of islet allogeneic transplantation in type 1 diabetes: a retrospective cohort study in 1210 participants from the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry.

Short running title: Primary graft function and long-term outcome of islet transplantation

Authors:

Mikael Chetboun¹⁻², MD; Elodie Drumez³, MS; Cassandra Ballou⁴, MS; Mehdi Maanaoui¹⁻⁵, MD; Elizabeth Payne⁴, PhD; Franca Barton⁴, MS; Julie Kerr-conte¹, PhD; Marie-Christine Vantyghem¹⁻⁶, MD; Lorenzo Piemonti⁷, MD; Michael R. Rickels⁸⁻⁹, MD; Julien Labreuche³, MS; François Pattou¹⁻², MD.

On behalf of the CITR investigators study group

(a complete list of co-authors and institutions can be found in supplementary appendix)

1 Univ. Lille, U1190 - European Genomic Institute for Diabetes - Inserm U1190 - Institut Pasteur de Lille, F-59000 Lille, France

2 Department of General and Endocrine Surgery, CHU Lille, F-59000 Lille, France

3 Univ. Lille, CHU Lille, ULR 2694 - METRICS: Évaluation des technologies de santé et des pratiques médicales, F-59000 Lille, France

4 Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry Coordinating Center, The EMMES Company, Rockville, Maryland, USA

5 Department of Nephrology, CHU Lille, F-59000 Lille, France

6 Department of Endocrinology, Diabetology, and Metabolism, CHU Lille, F-59000 Lille, France 7 Diabetes Research Institute, IRCCS Ospedale San Raffaele, 20132 Milan, Italy

8 Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes & Metabolism, Department of Medicine, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA

9 Institute for Diabetes, Obesity & Metabolism, University of Pennsylvania Perelman School of Medicine, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA

Corresponding author:

Prof. François Pattou, CHU Lille, Department of General and Endocrine Surgery, Hôpital Huriez, 1 rue Polonovski, 59000 Lille, France Email: francois.pattou@univ-lille.fr, Tel: +333 20 44 42 73 - Fax: +333 20 44 47 58

Article type: Clinical ResearchWord count: 4269 words including abstract of 450 wordsMaterial: 3 figures, 2 tables, 29 references

Supplemental Figures: 2 Supplemental Tables: 3

Summary

Background: Allogeneic islet transplantation (IT) is a validated therapy for severe type 1 diabetes patients, currently consists of one or more intraportal infusions of allogeneic pancreatic islets, and restores regulated endogenous insulin secretion.

However, a progressive decline of islet graft function is observed with time. An association between primary islet graft function (PGF) and sustained graft survival has been reported by single center cohort studies. The primary objective of the study was to explore the relationship between PGF and 5-year clinical outcomes of IT. The secondary objective was to integrate and validate a predictive model of IT outcomes based on the measurement of PGF.

Methods: This observational cohort study enrolled all type 1 diabetes patients reported to the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry, who received IT, alone or after kidney transplantation, between 01/19/1999, and 07/17/2022. Exposure was PGF, measured 28 days after the last islet infusion with the Beta2-score. The primary outcome of the study was the incidence of unsuccessful IT. Secondary outcomes were graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control and the need for insulin therapy. A competing risk analysis was conducted to explore the relation between PGF and cumulative incidences of IT outcomes for 5 years, after adjustment on prespecified covariates and handling missing values by multiple imputations. A predictive PGF model for each IT outcome was built and the model performance was assessed and internally validated by using bootstraps resampling method (200 resamples).

Findings: 1210 patients in 39 transplantation centers worldwide (mean (SD) aged 47 (11) years, 712 (59.5%) females) received a total islet mass transplanted of 11.8 (8.7-15.9)

thousand islet-equivalents per kg of recipient weight. Mean PGF was 14.3 (8.8). The cumulative incidence of unsuccessful IT was 70.7% (95%CI 67.3-73.8) at 5 years. PGF was inversely related to unsuccessful IT with adjusted subhazard ratio (sHR) of 0.77 (95% CI 0.72-0.82) per 5 units increase of Beta2-score (p<0.0001). This association appeared linear, resulting in a dose-effect response. Similar relation of PGF with graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control and need for insulin therapy were observed. PGF predicted the probability of cumulative incidence of the four study outcomes with good accuracy with median (range) C-statistic values across imputed datasets of 0.70 (0.69-0.71); 0.76 (0.74-0.77); 0.65 (0.64-0.66); 0.72 (0.71-0.73) for unsuccessful IT, graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control, and the need for insulin therapy.

Interpretation: This study demonstrated in a large international cohort a linear dosedependent relation between PGF and 5-year clinical outcomes of IT, independently of the number of infusions, total islet mass transplanted, and immunosuppression regimen. The PGF could guide current clinical practice by informing at day 28 of the last infusion, the decision whether to repeat the infusion and could serve as an early surrogate endpoint in future clinical trials.

Research in context

Evidence before this study

Allogeneic islet transplantation (IT) under immunosuppression is a validated cell therapy for selected type 1 diabetes patients with severe unstable disease.

Marfil-Garza and colleagues recently reported in a large single center retrospective cohort that patients who experienced prolonged islet graft survival after IT had sustained metabolic benefits for at least 20 years. However, even when large numbers of islets are transplanted, half of the patients will experience islet graft failure within the first 5 years after IT, as reported by the international Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry (CITR).

Although Herring and colleagues recently reported four factors in the recipient or related to transplantation and immunosuppression and associated with 5-year IT success, however islet transplant failure is multifactorial and the current approach is to repeat islet infusions to increase functional islet mass in the recipient.

This strategy is therefore not always necessary and exposes to ethical, logistical and financial problems with an increased risk of complications related to the procedure and to the immunosuppression as well as alloimmunization.

It is crucial to be able to predict at an early stage, after a first islet infusion, the 5-year success of transplantation to guide the clinician's decision on the need to repeat islet infusion.

We searched in PubMed and Embase databases from Jan. 1, 2000, to Oct. 1, 2022, using the search terms "islet transplantation" AND "outcome" AND ("prediction" OR "prognostic") AND "validation" and we did nont find any validated predictors related to the 5-year outcome of allogenic islet transplantation in type 1 diabetes recipient.

Vantyghem and colleagues reported the association of primary graft function (PGF) (calculated one month after IT with the Beta-score) and islet transplantation outcome at 10-year follow-up in a prospective parallel arm cohort study of 28 patients. Lam and colleagues recently showed that assessing PGF using the Beta-2 score was more accurate than other current tools and was related to transplant outcomes at 5 years.

Added value of this study

In the present study, we demonstrated in the largest IT registry a linear dose-effect relation between PGF (measured at day 28 from the last islet infusion with the Beta2-score) and the 5-year clinical IT outcomes. PGF was an independent validated predictor of IT outcome at 5 years.

Implications of all the available evidence

The PGF measure could guide clinicians by informing at an early stage (day 28 after the last islet infusion) the decision to repeat or not a new islet infusion. PGF could be used as an early surrogate endpoint in future clinical trials.

Introduction

Allogeneic pancreatic islet transplantation (IT) is a validated treatment for type 1 diabetes associated with severe hypoglycemia unawareness and glycemic lability, or after kidney transplantation for end stage renal disease ¹. This beta-cell replacement strategy currently consists of one or more intraportal infusions of allogeneic pancreatic islets, aiming to restore regulated endogenous insulin secretion and improve blood glucose control ². Advances in islet processing and immunosuppression protocols have led to improved outcomes and increased success rates after IT ³. One randomized trial ⁴ and several controlled studies ^{5–9} comparing IT with intensive insulin therapy, showed better metabolic control and reduced the incidence of severe hypoglycemia episodes after IT. Long-term results from two prospective ^{10,11} and several retrospective ^{9,12–15} cohort studies, showed 86-100% patient survival and 52-78% graft survival at ten years, together with improved glycemic control and lability, and a significant reduction in severe hypoglycemic event ¹².

In most centers, islet infusions are repeated to increase the mass of transplanted islets. However, using multiple donors limits its development in the context of organ shortage. It also increases the risk of procedures-related complications and alloimmunization. Furthermore, even when a large number of islets are transplanted, a decline in graft function is often observed with time. The underlying mechanisms remain elusive, and the respective roles of inflammatory, allogeneic, and/or autoimmune response versus the progressive metabolic exhaustion of transplanted islets are unclear.

The prolonged success of IT has been related to the primary graft function (PGF) of transplanted islets ¹⁶, measured one month after the last islet infusion with Beta-score, a validated composite index of islet function based on stimulated serum C-peptide, fasting blood glucose, HbA1c and the need for exogenous insulin. In a prospective cohort study, optimal PGF was observed in 18 out of 28 patients who initially received two or three islet infusions and was associated in these patients with a Kaplan-Meier estimate of 94% (95% CI 63-99) of graft function, and 43% (95% CI 20-64) of insulin independence at 10 years ¹⁰. This relation between early islet graft function and sustained graft survival has been confirmed in two other cohort studies using the Beta2-score, a simplified and continuous version of the Beta-score ^{17,18}. However, none of these studies were designed to distinguish the role of PGF from other potential confounding factors that may impact long-term outcomes including the recipient baseline characteristics, total mass of transplanted islets, number of islet infusions, as well as immunosuppression and other adjuvant treatments administered after transplantation. Clarifying the distinct impact of PGF is important for refining beta-cell replacement strategies. Measuring PGF could inform the need for repeating infusions of human islets or other insulin-secreting cells to reach expected outcomes.

Therefore, the primary objective of this study was to explore the relation between PGF and five-year clinical outcomes of IT using the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry (CITR). This comprehensive global registry compiles all data from most islet transplant programs in North America, Eurasia and Australia ³, allowing the adjustment of the analysis to known potential confounding factors. Our secondary objective was to integrate a predictive model of islet transplantation outcomes based on the measurement of primary graft function and to validate it in the CITR cohort.

Methods

Study design and settings:

This observational cohort study was designed to explore the association of primary islet graft function with the 5-year outcomes of islet transplantation. We analyzed the data from the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry (CITR). The CITR is a single, standardized, worldwide repository of comprehensive human islet transplant data, collected since January 1999. The transplant deidentified database includes variables from pancreatic islet preparations transplanted and recipient data from consenting individuals with type 1 diabetes ³. Participation in CITR is voluntary, both by the islet transplant centers and individual islet transplant recipients. As a registry, the requirements for patient enrollment and participation have been obtained per the site's institutional review board and/or country's oversight body for human research. Requirements for participation are overseen by the CITR Coordinating Center to ensure that participating islet transplant centers comply with Good Clinical Practice regarding data collection and submission. Participating transplant centers must provide annual documentation of adherence to their local Institutional Review or Ethics Board requirements. United States (US) centers must assure compliance with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). This study report followed the Strengthening Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) guidelines.

Participants:

We enrolled all type 1 diabetes patients registered in CITR after an allogeneic islet transplant alone (ITA recipient) to treat severe hypoglycemia episodes and/or impaired hypoglycemia awareness or an islet-after-kidney transplant (IAK recipient) in kidney transplant recipients required for end-stage nephropathy, if they received at least one islet infusion between January 19, 1999, and July 17, 2020 reported to CITR as of August 14, 2020. Baseline recipient characteristics (age in years, sex, race, blood type, duration of diabetes at first islet infusion in years, body weight in kg, height in cm, body mass index in kg/m², HbA1c (glycated hemoglobin) in %, fasting and stimulated C-peptide in ng/mL, fasting blood glucose in mg/dL, daily exogenous insulin needs in IU/kg/day, number of severe hypoglycemia episodes defined as hypoglycemia requiring third party intervention to correct, presence of type 1 diabetesassociated autoantibodies) and transplantation characteristics (date of islet transplantation waiting list, date and mass of each islet infusion received per recipient in islet-equivalent and in islet-equivalent per kg of recipient, number of isolated pancreases received per patient, total islet cell volume transplanted in mL, immunosuppression regimen used) were extracted from the CITR database. We also analyzed follow-up data collected in the CITR, 28 days after islet infusion, and then annually for five years, including fasting C-peptide, fasting blood glucose, glycated hemoglobin, daily exogenous insulin needs, body weight and severe hypoglycemic episodes that occurred since the previous visit. At each new islet infusion, a new follow-up schedule was established as provided for in the CITR protocol.

Exposure and covariates:

The study exposure of interest was the patient's primary islet graft function (PGF) defined as the value of the Beta2-score calculated at day 28 after the last islet infusion, as previously reported ¹⁹. The validated Beta2-score is a continuous variable (0 for no beta-cell function) calculated with values of fasting C-peptide (nmol/L), fasting blood glucose (mmol/L), glycated hemoglobin (%) and daily exogenous insulin needs per kg of patient weight (U/kg per day) As described by Forbes et al ¹⁹, the Beta2-score was calculated using the present formula:

$$BETA-2 \text{ score} = \frac{\left(\sqrt{\text{fasting C-peptide (nmol/L)}} \times (1 - \text{insulin dose [units/kg]})\right)}{Fasting \text{plasma glucose (mmol/L)}} \times 1000 \times \text{HbA1c(\%)}$$

Prespecified covariates included all variables suspected or known to impact islet transplantation outcome: recipient age, sex, body mass index, diabetes duration, daily insulin needs, baseline C-peptide level before islet transplantation, number of islet infusions, total islet mass transplanted per kg of recipient weight, total cell volume transplanted, ITA or IAK recipients, and the use of specific immunosuppression agents (interleukin 2 receptor antagonist, TNF alpha antagonist, T-cell depleting agent, calcineurin inhibitor and M-Tor inhibitor).

Outcomes:

Current islet transplantation outcomes were used in this study. The primary study outcome was the incidence of unsuccessful islet transplantation as defined by the IPITA/EPITA (International Pancreas and Islet Transplant Association / European Pancreas and Islet Transplant Association) IgIs 2.0 consensus: with glycated hemoglobin level greater than or equal to 7.0 % (53 mmol/mol) and/or with at least one episode of severe hypoglycemia since the last visit and/or with serum fasting C-peptide secretion less than 0.2 ng/mL fasting or stimulated ²⁰. Secondary outcomes were: 1) graft exhaustion defined by stimulated C-peptide level inferior to 0.3 ng/mL, 2) inadequate glucose control using the Clinical Islet Transplantation (CIT) consortium ²¹ endpoint: with glycated hemoglobin greater than or equal to 7.0 % (53 mmol/mol) and/or occurrence of at least one episode of severe hypoglycemia since the last visit, and 3) the need for exogenous insulin therapy defined as the administration of exogenous insulin during 14 consecutive days.

Statistical analysis, handling of missing values:

Categorical variables were expressed as frequency (percentage). Quantitative variables were expressed as a mean ± standard deviation in cases of normal distribution or median (interquartile range, IQR) otherwise. Normality of distributions was assessed using histograms and the Shapiro-Wilk test.

For each islet transplantation outcomes (unsuccessful IT, graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control and the need for insulin therapy), we estimated the cumulative incidence using the Kalbfleisch and Prentice method, considering the day 28 after the last islet infusion as the date of origin, and by treating death and delayed islet reinfusion (when a new islet infusion occurred at least one year after the last islet infusion) as competing events.

The association of PGF (defined by the Beta2-score at day 28 after the last islet infusion) with cumulative incidences of each islet transplantation outcomes were explored using Fine and Gray regression models before and after adjustment for prespecified covariates suspected or known to impact islet transplantation outcomes: age at transplantation, sex, body mass index, diabetes duration, daily insulin needs, baseline serum C-peptide level before islet transplantation, number of islet infusions, total islet mass per kg of recipient weight transplanted, total cell volume transplanted, type of recipient (IAK vs ITA), the use of various immunosuppression regimen (yes vs no): interleukin 2 receptor antagonist, TNF alpha antagonist, T-cell depleting agent, calcineurin inhibitor and m-TOR inhibitor. To handle missing data in Beta2-score components and pre-specified covariates adjustment, we used multiple imputations using the regression-switching approach (chained equations with m = 60imputations) using all patients and transplantation's characteristics and Beta2-score components at day 28 after the last islet infusion. The number of imputations was chosen to have a maximal fraction of missing information (FMI)/m <1% in all in the multivariable Fine and Gray regression models. The imputation procedure was performed under the missing-atrandom assumption with the predictive mean-matching method for quantitative variables, logistic regression model for binary variables, and ordinal logistic regression for ordered

categorical variables. Rubin's rules were used to combine the estimates derived from multiple imputed data sets ²².

The shape of relationship between PGF and each islet transplantation outcomes were investigated by after categorization of PGF by quartiles and the proportional hazard assumption was assessed by introducing a time interaction term into Fine and Gray models. The association of PGF with each islet transplantation outcome was first investigated in the overall study population and then assessed in two sensitivity analyses restricted to recipients with a single islet infusion (to avoid biases related to the multiple islet infusion), and to islet transplant alone recipients (to avoid biases related to overestimation of C-peptide levels in the IAK recipients; a sensitivity analysis restricted to IAK recipients was less relevant here because this population was more limited than that of ITA recipients in our study). Unadjusted and adjusted subHazard (sHR) ratio per 5 unit increase in PGF and for upper versus lowest PGF quartiles were derived from Fine and Gray regression models as effect sizes.

We assess the performance of PGF to predict each islet transplantation outcomes in terms of discrimination by calculating the Harrell's C-index of agreement adapted to presence of competing risk ²³ in each imputed dataset and by reporting median (range) values across the 60 imputed datasets ²⁴. We also examined the performance of PGF in term of calibration by comparing mean predicted cumulative incidences (estimated by the univariable Fine and Gray model) to the mean observed cumulative incidences (calculated by the Kalbfleisch and Prentice method) in four risk groups determined by the quartile distributions. To address the overestimation issues in developing prognostic model ²⁵, we performed an internal validation by using bootstraps resampling method (200 resamples) to correct the C-statistic for

overoptimism. Risk prediction charts were built from the univariable model (combined estimates obtained in the 60 imputed data sets.

All statistical tests were performed at the 2-tailed α level of 0.05. Data were analyzed using SAS version 9.4 [SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC 27513, USA].

Role of the funding source:

There was no direct funding source for this study. The corresponding author had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit it for publication. The Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry is supported by Public Health Service research grants UCH DK098086 and UC4 DK114839 from the National Institutes of Health, and in the past by a supplemental grant from the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation International. MRR is supported in part by Public Health Service research grant R01 DK091331.

Results

Patients and transplantation characteristics

A total of 1376 patients were registered in the CITR database after having received at least one islet infusion between January 19, 1999, and July 17, 2020. We excluded from this analysis patients with other forms of diabetes than type 1 diabetes, patients who received a simultaneous islet and kidney transplantation, or kidney-after-islet transplantation, and patients with insufficient data to calculate PGF (Flow chart of the study, Figure 1). Overall, 1210 patients who were transplanted and followed for up to 5 years in 39 transplantation centers worldwide (28 in North America, 7 in Europa, 3 in Australia and 1 in Asia) were enrolled in the present study. Patients were followed up to 5 years after the last islet infusion for a total follow-up of 4670 patients.years. Among the 1210 patients of the present study, 28 deaths were reported during the follow-up. The baseline patient's characteristics, and the characteristics of transplantation are summarized in Table 1.

The mean (SD) age of the recipient was 47 (11) years with 712 (59.5%) female and a diabetes duration of 30 (11) years before transplantation. IT was performed after a median (IQR) of 7.1 (2.6-16.1) months on the waiting list, alone in 986 (82.4%) recipients or after a kidney transplantation in 211 (17.6%) recipients. Patients received a median of 2.0 (1.0-2.0) islet infusions corresponding to a median total islet mass transplanted of 11.8 (8.7-15.9) thousand islet-equivalents per kg of recipient weight, and a median total islet cell volume transplanted of 3.5 (0.0-7.5) mL.

310 (25.9%) patients received a single islet infusion and 887 (74.1%) received multiple islet infusions, including two, three or at least four infusions in 595 (67%), 241 (27%) and 51 (6%) patients, respectively.

The most frequently used immunosuppressive agents were calcineurin inhibitors, m-Tor inhibitors for maintenance and T-cell depleting agents, interleukin 2 receptor antagonists, and TNF alpha antagonists for induction immunosuppression (Table 1).

Overall, the mean value of PGF, the study exposure, estimated by the Beta2-score calculated at day 28 after the last islet infusion, was 14.3 (8.8). In participants who received a single islet infusion, the mean PGF was 9.5 (7.9) compared to patients who received multiple islet infusions where the mean PGF was 16.0 (8.5). ITA recipients had a mean PGF of 13.9 (8.6) and IAK recipients had a mean PGF of 16.2 (9.5) (Appendix, Supplementary Table S1).

Fasting C-peptide, fasting blood glucose, glycated hemoglobin, and daily exogenous insulin needs values used to measure the PGF at day 28 are reported in supplementary Table S1 before and after multiple imputations for handling of missing values.

Association between primary islet graft function and IT success.

In a survival analysis taking into account death and delayed islet reinfusion (i.e. when a new islet infusion occurred at least one year after the last islet infusion) as competing events, 19.6% (95% CI 17.2-22.2) of recipients did not reach IT success at day 28 from last islet infusion (Figure 2A). In this specific population, median PGF was 5.0 (0.6-11.8). The cumulative incidence of recipients who did not reach IT success at 1, 3 and 5 years post last islet infusion

was 39.9% (95% CI 36.7-43.1), 59.3% (95% CI 55.9-62.5) and 70.7% (95% CI 67.3-73.8), respectively.

Following adjustment on prespecified covariates and handling missing values by multiple imputations, the PGF was significantly and inversely related to unsuccessful IT with adjusted subhazard ratio of 0.77 (95% CI 0.72-0.82) per 5 units increase of Beta2-score (p<0.0001) (Figure 3). After categorization of PGF by quartiles, this association appeared linear, resulting in a dose-effect response (Appendix, Supplementary Table S2). Then, patients who benefited from a PGF greater than 20.1 were associated with lower incidence of unsuccessful IT at 5 years compared to patients with PGF fewer than 8, with an adjusted subhazard ratio of 0.35 (95% CI 0.26-0.45) (p<0.0001).

This independent and linear dose-effect association between PGF and unsuccessful IT at 5 years was further confirmed in sensitivity analyses limited to patients who received only a single islet infusion (Appendix, Supplementary Figure S1) and limited to islet transplantation alone recipients (Appendix, Supplementary Figure S2)

Association between primary graft function and secondary outcomes:

Similar results were observed with all three secondary study outcomes. Graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control, and the need for exogenous insulin therapy were observed in 8.8% (95% CI 7.2-10.6), 17.8% (95% CI 15.4-20.2) and 38.2% (95% CI 35.3-41.0) of patients 28 days after the last islet infusion, respectively (Figure 2B-C-D). These patients experienced a median PGF of 0 (0-0.9), 6.7 (1.8-13.8) and 7.6 (4.3-11.5) respectively.

The cumulative incidences of graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control, and need for exogenous insulin therapy at 5 years were 42% (95% CI 38.7-45.3), 67.6% (95% CI 64.2-70.8) and 76.5% (95% CI 73.6-79.1). Following adjustment on prespecified covariates PGF was significantly and inversely related to the cumulative incidence of graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control, and need for exogenous insulin therapy, with adjusted subhazard ratios of 0.63 (95% CI 0.57-0.70), 0.80 (95% CI 0.76-0.85) and 0.77 (95% CI 0.73-0.81), respectively (per 5 units increase of Beta2-score; p<0.0001) (Figure 3). Similarly, these associations between PGF and the three secondary outcomes were all linear, resulting in a dose-effect response (Appendix, Supplementary Table S2).

The independent and linear association between PGF and the three secondary study outcomes, graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control, and need for exogenous insulin therapy was further confirmed in sensitivity analyses limited to patients who received only a single islet infusion (Appendix, Supplementary Figure S1) and limited to islet transplantation alone recipients (Appendix, Supplementary Figure S2)

Prediction of islet transplantation outcomes

Thus, the PGF was able to predict the probability of cumulative incidence of the four IT study outcomes, i.e. unsuccessful IT, graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control, and the need for insulin therapy during the 5-year follow-up with good accuracy.

The median (range) C-statistic values across the 60 imputed datasets of the adjusted models were 0.70 (0.69-0.71); 0.76 (0.74-0.77); 0.65 (0.64-0.66); 0.72 (0.71-0.73) respectively (after correction for over optimism bias by internal validation) (Appendix, Supplementary Table S3).

Calibrations, which reflects the extent to which the model correctly estimates whether the cumulative incidences of the four predicted IT outcomes agree with the cumulative incidences of the four observed IT outcomes, were tested by simulation exercises in the four risk groups determined by the quartile distributions. The predictive equation models were constructed after internal validation of 200 bootstraps resamples.

A prediction matrix built from the univariable models (combined estimates obtained in the 60 imputed datasets) of the risk of the cumulative incidence of the four IT study outcomes as a function of PGF values at 2 and 5 years is provided in Table 2.

Finally, the prediction models developed from the present study were integrated into a software program allowing to display cumulative incidences and median survival of the four IT study outcomes that can be predicted for an individual patient, according to the values of PGF measured simultaneously with glycated hemoglobin, daily exogenous insulin needs, body weight, fasting blood glucose and fasting C-peptide, 28 days after the last infusion. A current version of the calculator is available online (https://lille-model.shinyapps.io/PGF-islet/).

Discussion

In this retrospective cohort study, we analyzed the relation between early islet graft function and the 5 years clinical outcomes of IT. The results demonstrated a linear and independent association between primary graft function, defined as the Beta2-score measured at day 28 from the last islet infusion and the 5-year IT current clinical outcome of the study including unsuccessful IT, graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control, and the need for insulin therapy. One key asset of our study was the use of the CITR, the most comprehensive IT dataset available worldwide, which supports the generalizability of our findings. Our analysis enrolled a total of 1210 type 1 diabetes participants who were transplanted in 39 centers worldwide, using heterogenous allocation systems, patient and islet characteristics and clinical practices. This unique setting allowed us to specifically evaluate the role of early islet graft potency, independently of other factors known to impact IT outcomes, including baseline characteristics of the recipient and transplanted islets, as well as transplantation strategies and immunosuppression regimens.

The distinct impact of early graft function on the long-term survival of vascularized organs is well established. After kidney transplantation, delayed graft function is associated with poor long-term outcome, independently of immunologic factor ²⁶. In IT, the assessment of early graft function is complicated by the frequent repetition of islet infusions. In the present study, we defined PGF as islet graft function measured 28 days after the last infusion, a time sufficient to ensure the restoration of physiological blood flow to the transplanted islets through vascular sprouting ²⁷. Notably, this allows us to study multiple islet infusions as a

whole organ transplant. Several composite indexes have been proposed to measure islet graft function based on simultaneous measurements of serum C-peptide, blood glucose, and the need for exogenous insulin ²⁸. In the present study, we used the Beta2-score ¹⁹, a simple and continuous endpoint derived from a single fasting blood sample measured 28 days after the last islet infusion that could be calculated in the majority of CITR participants on day 28 after the last islet infusion. This allowed us to unveil a dose-effect relation between PGF and the retention of IT success, independently of baseline patient characteristics, transplantation strategies, and immunosuppression regimens (Appendix, Supplementary Table S2). Noteworthy, the retention of IT success and other secondary outcomes were not significantly related to the overall mass of transplanted islets nor to the number of infusions received (data not shown). These results are aligned with those of a large single-center retrospective study, in which long-term graft survival was not associated to total islet mass but rather to islet graft function evaluated between 6 and 12 months ¹². In a prospective cohort study in which recipients deliberately received up to three islet infusions aiming to maximize initial islet graft function ¹⁰, median (IQR) graft function was maintained for 10 years (IQR 8-10) among patients who experienced optimal PGF vs 6.0 years (IQR 1.9-10.0) in those with suboptimal PGF with (p=0.0184). In a retrospective single center study, higher values of Beta2-score measured 75 days after IT were associated with longer duration of insulin independence ¹⁸. Another study showed that patients who achieved and maintained insulin independence had higher Beta2score values 7 days after IT than those who remained insulin dependent ¹⁷. In line with existing evidence, the present study shows that early function of successfully engrafted islets is essential to maximize graft survival after IT, rather than the number of infusions or the total mass of islets transplanted.

Our study has several limitations. Because its design was retrospective and observational, one must remain cautious when interpreting the difference in PGF, since most participants initially received similar interventions. Moreover, a strategy favoring early repeated islet infusions for optimizing PGF could be hampered by donor pancreas availability. Second, we only evaluated efficacy outcomes and not the complications that can occur after IT, such as procedure related adverse events, alloimmunization, or change in kidney function. Thus, the clinical utility of PGF for guiding the decision of supplementary islet infusion, needs to be tested in prospective interventional trials. Furthermore, PGF could only be evaluated using data that were available for most CITR participants. One can therefore not exclude that using more sophisticated methods to evaluate islet graft function, such has dynamic tests of insulin secretory reserve², could further refine the prediction of long-term outcomes. It is also possible that evaluating islet graft function at other time points would have been more efficient. In the present study, evaluating PGF with the Beta2-score at day 28 after last infusion allowed a prediction of good accuracy as shown by the C-statistics of the model in the four different study outcomes. Day 28 also appears as a reasonable time in clinical practice. Our analysis was not adjusted on kidney function which could have impacted Beta2-score values by increasing circulating Cpeptide levels. However, our sensitivity analysis showed that the significance of PGF was maintained in patients receiving islet transplantation alone, i.e. without an associated kidney transplant. Finally, the study design did not allow us to explore the interaction between PGF and recipient characteristics or early adjuvant anti-inflammatory and/or immunosuppressive treatments, which may also have contributed to long-term outcomes of IT as recently suggested in a CITR study on the impact of donor, transplant and immunosuppression factors on transplant success²⁹.

In conclusion, this study demonstrated in a large international cohort of IT recipients a linear and inverse independent relation between primary graft function, measured one month after the last islet infusion (Beta2-score at day 28) and the 5-year cumulative incidence of unfavorable IT outcomes. This distinct association between early graft potency and long-term outcomes has important clinical implications. First, PGF could be used as an early and reliable surrogate endpoint of IT success in future clinical trials. PGF could also guide current clinical practice, by helping to individualize the decision to repeat islet infusions, independently of a predefined islet mass threshold, or the achievement of clinical outcomes such as insulin independence or disappearance of severe hypoglycemia episodes. Overall, our results indicate that, to improve the outcome of current strategies for beta-cell replacement, more attention should be directed to evaluate and optimize early islet potency, i.e. by enhancing the viability and function of transplanted islets or other insulin-secreting cells.

Declaration of interests

There was no direct funding source for the present study. The corresponding author had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit it for publication.

The Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry is supported by Public Health Service research grants UCH DK098086 and UC4 DK114839 from the National Institutes of Health, and in the past by a supplemental grant from the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation International. MRR is supported in part by Public Health Service research grant R01 DK091331.

Contributors

All authors had full access to all the data in the study and accept responsibility to submit for publication MC, MM, JKC, MCV, LP, MR and FP contributed substantially to the conception and design of the study, the acquisition of data, or the analysis and interpretation.

ED JL CB EP FB conducted the data analysis.

MC, MM, JKC, MCV, LP, MR and FP drafted the article.

MC, ED, CB, MM, EP, FB, JKC, MCV, LP, MR, JL and FP reviewed/edited the manuscript.

All authors contributed to the interpretation of data and critical revision of the article.

FP is the guarantor of this work and, as such, had full access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Data sharing

The data underlying the results presented in this article are not publicly available. Deidentified individual participant data, as well as a data dictionary, can be made available by the CITR to investigation centers that provide a methodologically robust study design and agree to report results from the cohort without stratifying results by investigating center.

Acknowledgments

MC would like to thank the "Fondation de l'Avenir", the "Fondation I-Site ULNE", INSERM, University of Lille and the EGID federation for their support during his PhD.

MC and FP would like to thank Pierre Bauvin for his help in setting up the online calculator

MC and FP would like to thank Alain Duhamel and the Emmes company and its collaborators for the scientific, methodological and statistical interactions that have contributed to the present study.

References of the present article

1 Vantyghem M-C, Koning EJP de, Pattou F, Rickels MR. Advances in β -cell replacement therapy for the treatment of type 1 diabetes. *The Lancet* 2019; **394**: 1274–85.

2 Rickels MR, Robertson RP. Pancreatic Islet Transplantation in Humans: Recent Progress and Future Directions. *Endocr Rev* 2019; **40**: 631–68.

CITR. Scientific Summary of the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry (CITR), 11th Allograft Report. 2022 https://citregistry.org/system/files/11th%20Allograft%20report%20May%2031%202022.pdf.

4 Lablanche S, Vantyghem M-C, Kessler L, *et al.* Islet transplantation versus insulin therapy in patients with type 1 diabetes with severe hypoglycaemia or poorly controlled glycaemia after kidney transplantation (TRIMECO): a multicentre, randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology* 2018; **0**. DOI:10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30078-0.

5 Vantyghem M-C, Marcelli-Tourvieille S, Fermon C, *et al.* Intraperitoneal Insulin Infusion Versus Islet Transplantation: Comparative Study in Patients with Type 1 Diabetes: *Transplantation* 2009; **87**: 66–71.

6 Holmes-Walker DJ, Gunton JE, Hawthorne W, *et al.* Islet Transplantation Provides Superior Glycemic Control With Less Hypoglycemia Compared With Continuous Subcutaneous Insulin Infusion or Multiple Daily Insulin Injections. *Transplantation* 2017; **101**: 1268–75.

7 Thompson DM, Meloche M, Ao Z, *et al.* Reduced Progression of Diabetic Microvascular Complications With Islet Cell Transplantation Compared With Intensive Medical Therapy: *Transplantation* 2011; **91**: 373–8.

8 Gerber PA, Locher R, Zuellig RA, *et al.* Glycemia, Hypoglycemia, and Costs of Simultaneous Islet-Kidney or Islet After Kidney Transplantation Versus Intensive Insulin Therapy and Waiting List for Islet Transplantation. *Transplantation* 2015; **99**: 2174–80.

9 Nakamura T, Fujikura J, Anazawa T, *et al.* Long-term outcome of islet transplantation on insulindependent diabetes mellitus: An observational cohort study. *J Diabetes Investig* 2020; **11**: 363–72.

10 Vantyghem M-C, Chetboun M, Gmyr V, *et al.* Ten-Year Outcome of Islet Alone or Islet After Kidney Transplantation in Type 1 Diabetes: A Prospective Parallel-Arm Cohort Study. *Diabetes Care* 2019; published online Sept 9. DOI:10.2337/dc19-0401.

Lehmann R, Graziano J, Brockmann J, *et al.* Glycemic Control in Simultaneous Islet-Kidney Versus Pancreas-Kidney Transplantation in Type 1 Diabetes: A Prospective 13-Year Follow-up. *Dia Care* 2015; **38**: 752– 9.

12 Marfil-Garza BA, Imes S, Verhoeff K, *et al.* Pancreatic islet transplantation in type 1 diabetes: 20-year experience from a single-centre cohort in Canada. *The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology* 2022; **10**: 519–32.

Brennan DC, Kopetskie HA, Sayre PH, *et al.* Long-Term Follow-Up of the Edmonton Protocol of Islet Transplantation in the United States. *Am J Transplant* 2016; **16**: 509–17.

Lablanche S, Borot S, Wojtusciszyn A, *et al.* Ten-year outcomes of islet transplantation in patients with type 1 diabetes: Data from the Swiss-French GRAGIL network. *Am J Transplant* 2021; **21**: 3725–33.

15 Lemos JRN, Baidal DA, Ricordi C, Fuenmayor V, Alvarez A, Alejandro R. Survival After Islet Transplantation in Subjects With Type 1 Diabetes: Twenty-Year Follow-Up. *Diabetes Care* 2021; **44**: e67–8.

16 Vantyghem M-C, Kerr-Conte J, Arnalsteen L, *et al.* Primary Graft Function, Metabolic Control, and Graft Survival After Islet Transplantation. *Diabetes Care* 2009; **32**: 1473–8.

17 Lam A, Oram RA, Forbes S, *et al.* Estimation of Early Graft Function Using the BETA-2 Score Following Clinical Islet Transplantation. *Transpl Int* 2022; **35**: 10335.

18 Bachul PJ, Gołębiewska JE, Basto L, *et al.* BETA-2 score is an early predictor of graft decline and loss of insulin independence after pancreatic islet allotransplantation. *American Journal of Transplantation* 2020; **20**: 844–51.

19 Forbes S, Oram RA, Smith A, *et al.* Validation of the BETA-2 Score: An Improved Tool to Estimate Beta Cell Function After Clinical Islet Transplantation Using a Single Fasting Blood Sample. *American Journal of Transplantation* 2016; **16**: 2704–13.

20 Landstra CP, Andres A, Chetboun M, *et al.* Examination of the Igls Criteria for Defining Functional Outcomes of β -cell Replacement Therapy: IPITA Symposium Report. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2021; **106**: 3049–59.

Hering BJ, Clarke WR, Bridges ND, *et al.* Phase 3 Trial of Transplantation of Human Islets in Type 1 Diabetes Complicated by Severe Hypoglycemia. *Diabetes Care* 2016; **39**: 1230–40.

22 Rubin DB. Multiple Imputation for Nonresponse in Surveys, Subsequent édition. Hoboken, N.J: Wiley-Interscience, 2004.

23 Wolbers M, Koller MT, Witteman JCM, Steyerberg EW. Prognostic models with competing risks: methods and application to coronary risk prediction. *Epidemiology* 2009; **20**: 555–61.

24 Marshall A, Altman DG, Holder RL, Royston P. Combining estimates of interest in prognostic modelling studies after multiple imputation: current practice and guidelines. *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 2009; **9**: 57.

Harrell FE, Lee KL, Mark DB. Multivariable prognostic models: issues in developing models, evaluating assumptions and adequacy, and measuring and reducing errors. *Stat Med* 1996; **15**: 361–87.

26 Yarlagadda SG, Coca SG, Formica RN Jr, Poggio ED, Parikh CR. Association between delayed graft function and allograft and patient survival: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation* 2009; **24**: 1039–47.

27 Jansson L, Carlsson P-O. Graft vascular function after transplantation of pancreatic islets. *Diabetologia* 2002; **45**: 749–63.

28 Caumo A, Maffi P, Nano R, *et al.* Comparative evaluation of simple indices of graft function after islet transplantation. *Transplantation* 2011; **92**: 815–21.

Hering BJ, Ballou CM, Bellin MD, *et al.* Factors associated with favourable 5 year outcomes in islet transplant alone recipients with type 1 diabetes complicated by severe hypoglycaemia in the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry. *Diabetologia* 2022; published online Oct 6. DOI:10.1007/s00125-022-05804-4.
Figures and Tables titles:

Figure 1: Flow Chart of the Study

Figure 2: 5-year cumulative incidence of unfavorable outcomes of islet transplantation: unsuccessful IT (Figure 2A) graft exhaustion (Figure 2B), inadequate glucose control (Figure 2C), and need for insulin therapy (Figure 2D).

Figure 3: Association of primary graft function and 5-year cumulative incidence of unfavorable islet transplantation outcomes in the whole cohort.

Table 1: Patient and transplantation characteristics in the 1210 recipients of the cohort

Table 2: 2-year and 5-year prediction risk matrix of islet transplantation unfavorable outcomes according to PGF values measured 28 days after the last islet transplantation with the Beta2-score.



IAK= Islet-After-Kidney transplantation recipient; ITA= Islet Transplantation Alone recipient; PGF=Primary Graft Function.

Figure 2: 5-year cumulative incidence of unfavorable outcomes of islet transplantation: unsuccessful IT (Figure 2A) graft exhaustion (Figure 2B), inadequate glucose control (Figure 2C), and need for insulin therapy (Figure 2D).



Cumulative incidence curves are shown as solid lines and 95% CI confidence intervals as dashed lines for the four outcomes: unsuccessful IT (green), graft exhaustion (blue), inadequate glucose control (black), and the need for insulin therapy (red). Estimates with 95% CIs are reported at 1-, 3- and 5-years following IT for the four outcomes. The number of

patients at risk and the number of competitive events are plotted for each time point below each survival curve.

For each islet transplantation outcomes (unsuccessful IT, graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control and the need for insulin therapy), we estimated the cumulative incidence using the Kalbfleisch and Prentice method, considering the day 28 after the last islet infusion as the date of origin, and by treating death and delayed islet reinfusion (when a new islet infusion occurred at least one year after the last islet infusion) as competing events. To handle missing data in Beta2-score components and pre-specified covariates adjustment, we used multiple imputations using the regression-switching approach (chained equations with m = 60 imputations) using all patients and transplantation's characteristics and Beta2-score components at day 28 after the last islet infusion.

N.= Number; CI= Cumulative Incidence; IT= Islet Transplantation.

Figure 3: Association of primary graft function and 5-year cumulative incidence of unfavorable islet transplantation outcomes in the whole cohort.



Association of PGF (defined by the Beta2-score at day 28 after the last islet infusion) with cumulative incidence of the four unfavorable islet transplantation outcomes: unsuccessful IT (green), graft exhaustion (blue), inadequate glucose control (black), and the need for insulin therapy (red) are represented with Forest plot. This association was explored using Fine and Gray regression models before and after adjustment on prespecified covariates included all variables suspected or known to impact islet transplantation outcomes (*): recipient age, sex, body mass index, diabetes duration, daily insulin needs, baseline C-peptide level before islet transplantation, number of islet infusions, total islet mass transplanted per kg of recipient weight, total cell volume transplanted, type of recipient (ITA or IAK), and the use of specific immunosuppression agents (interleukin 2 receptor antagonist, TNF alpha antagonist, T-cell depleting agent, calcineurin inhibitor and M-Tor inhibitor). SubHazard ratio (sHR) was calculated for 5 units increase of primary graft function. SHs, 95%CI, and p-values are

calculated after handling missing values by multiple imputations using the regressionswitching approach (chained equations with m = 60 imputations) using all patients and transplantation's characteristics and Beta2-score components at day 28 after the last islet infusion. SHs and 95% CI are represented in a logarithmic scale.

IT= Islet Transplantation; sHR= subHazard Ratio; CI= Confidence Interval; Inadequate GC= Inadequate Glucose Control

	Ν	Values
Patient characteristics at baseline		
Female, n (%)	1196	712 (59.5%)
Age, years	1197	47 ± 10
Race, n (%)	884	
White		885 (97.9%)
Black		9 (1.0%)
Asian		3 (0.3%)
Other		7 (0.8%)
ABO blood type, n (%)	1077	
O group		444 (41.2%)
A group		470 (43.6%)
Other groups		163 (15.2%)
Body Mass Index, kg/m2	810	23.7 ± 3.0
Duration of Type 1 diabetes, years	1004	30 ± 11
Daily exogenous insulin needs, IU/kg/day	938	0.6 ± 0.2
HbA1c, %	1005	7.8 (7.0-8.8)
Fasting blood glucose, mg/dL	819	157 (103-222)
Fasting C-peptide, ng/mL	911	0.00 (0.00-0.09)
Patients with severe hypoglycemia episodes	1024	731 (71.4%)
Transplantation characteristics		
ITA / IAK recipients, n (%)	1197	986 (82.4%) / 211 (17.6%)
Duration on islet transplantation waiting list, months	838	7.1 (2.6-16.1)
Number of pancreas isolated per recipient	1210	2.0 (1.0-2.0)
Number of infusions per recipient	1210	2.0 (1.0-2.0)
Recipients with a single islet infusion, n (%)	1197	310 (25.9%)
Recipients with multiple islet infusions, n (%)	1197	887 (74.1%)
Multiple islet infusion recipients with 2 ; 3 ; \geq 4		595 (67%) ; 241 (27%) ; 51
infusions, n (%)		(6%)
Time between first and last infusion, months		3.9 (0.0-10.8)
Recipients with all infusions in ≤ 3 ; ≤ 6 ; ≤ 12 months, n		532 (44%) ; 733 (61%) ; 915
(%)		(76%)
Total islet mass transplanted, IEQ x1000	928	798 (571-1074)
Total islet mass transplanted, IEQ/kg of recipient weight	851	11 8 (8 7-15 9)
x1000	051	11.0 (0.7 15.5)
in single islet infusion recipients		7.0 (5.4-9.4)
in multiple islet infusion recipients		13.3 (10.7-17.6)
Patients transplanted with < 5 ; 5 to <10 ; 10 to <15 ; \geq 15	851	49 (6%) ; 229 (27%); 315 (37%)
x 1000 IEQ/kg of recipient weight, n (%)		; 258 (30%)
Total islet cell volume transplanted, mL	1197	3.5 (0.0-7.5)
Immunosuppression regimens received, n (%)	1148	

Table 1: Patient and transplantation characteristics in the 1210 recipients of the cohort

T-cell depleting agent	525 (45.7%)
Interleukin 2 receptor antagonist	519 (45.2%)
TNF alpha antagonist therapy	425 (37.0%)
Calcineurin inhibitor	1096 (95.5%)
m-TOR inhibitor	619 (53.9%)

Data are shown as number (percentage), mean ± standard deviation or median (25th to 75th percentile).

n (%)= Number (percentage); IEQ=islet-equivalents is a unit for counting islets with a standardized diameter of 150 micrometers; HbA1c= glycated hemoglobin; ITA= Islet Transplant Alone recipient; IAK= Islet-After-Kidney recipient; TNF= Tumor Necrosis Factor; m-TOR= mammalian target of rapamycin

Table 2: 2-year and 5-year prediction risk matrix of islet transplantation unfavorable outcomes according to PGF values measured 28 days after the last islet transplantation with the Beta2 score.

	Unsuc I	cessful T	Gr exhau	aft ustion	Inadequate GC		Insulin therapy	
DCE	2-	5-	2-	5-	2-	2- 5-		5-
РОГ	year	year	year	year	year	year	year	year
0	77	94	69	89	68	88	83	95
5	67	88	51	74	60	82	74	90
10	56	80	36	56	52	75	64	83
15	47	70	24	40	44	67	54	74
20	38	59	15	27	37	58	45	64
25	30	49	10	17	31	50	36	54
30	24	40	6	11	26	43	29	45
35	18	32	4	7	21	36	23	37
40	14	25	2	4	17	30	18	29

Values are the predicted probabilities (expressed in %) of cumulative incidence of islet

transplantation unfavorable outcomes according to PGF value.

PGF= Primary Graft Function; Inadequate GC= Inadequate Glucose Control

Supplementary Appendix

Supplementary Figure S1: Sensitivity analysis of the association of primary graft function and 5-year cumulative incidence of unfavorable islet transplantation outcomes restricted to recipients with a single islet infusion



Association of PGF (defined by the Beta2-score at day 28 after the last islet infusion) with cumulative incidence of the four unfavorable islet transplantation outcomes: unsuccessful IT (green), graft exhaustion (blue), inadequate glucose control (black), and the need for insulin therapy (red) are represented with Forest plot. This association was explored using Fine and Gray regression models before and after adjustment on prespecified covariates included all variables suspected or known to impact islet transplantation outcomes (*): recipient age, sex, body mass index, diabetes duration, daily insulin needs, baseline C-peptide level before islet transplantation, number of islet infusions, total islet mass transplanted per kg of recipient weight, total cell volume transplanted, type of recipient (ITA or IAK), and the use of specific immunosuppression agents (interleukin 2 receptor antagonist, TNF alpha antagonist, T-cell

depleting agent, calcineurin inhibitor andm-TOR inhibitor). SubHazard ratio (sHR) was calculated for 5 units increase of primary graft function. SHs, 95%Cl, and p-values are calculated after handling missing values by multiple imputations using the regression-switching approach (chained equations with m = 60 imputations) using all patients and transplantation's characteristics and Beta2-score components at day 28 after the last islet infusion. SHs and 95% Cl are represented in a logarithmic scale.

IT= Islet Transplantation; sHR= subHazard Ratio; CI= Confidence Interval; Inadequate GC= Inadequate Glucose Control

Supplementary Figure S2: Sensitivity analysis of association of primary graft function and 5year cumulative incidence of unfavorable islet transplantation outcomes restricted to Islet Transplantation Alone (ITA) recipients



Association of PGF (defined by the Beta2-score at day 28 after the last islet infusion) with cumulative incidence of the four unfavorable islet transplantation outcomes: unsuccessful IT (green), graft exhaustion (blue), inadequate glucose control (black), and the need for insulin therapy (red) are represented with Forest plot. This association was explored using Fine and Gray regression models before and after adjustment on prespecified covariates included all variables suspected or known to impact islet transplantation outcomes (*): recipient age, sex, body mass index, diabetes duration, daily insulin needs, baseline C-peptide level before islet transplantation, number of islet infusions, total islet mass transplanted per kg of recipient weight, total cell volume transplanted, type of recipient (ITA or IAK), and the use of specific immunosuppression agents (interleukin 2 receptor antagonist, TNF alpha antagonist, T-cell depleting agent, calcineurin inhibitor and m-TOR inhibitor). SubHazard ratio (sHR) was calculated for 5 units increase of primary graft function. SHs, 95%CI, and p-values are

calculated after handling missing values by multiple imputations using the regressionswitching approach (chained equations with m = 60 imputations) using all patients and transplantation's characteristics and Beta2-score components at day 28 after the last islet infusion. SHs and 95% CI are represented in a logarithmic scale.

IT= Islet Transplantation; sHR= subHazard Ratio; CI= Confidence Interval; Inadequate GC= Inadequate Glucose Control

Supplementary Table S1: Description of the PGF and its component values before and after

multiple imputation

	Ν	Before handling missing values	After handling missing values (m=60)
Components of the Primary Graft			
Function			
Fasting C-peptide, ng/mL	911	1.38 ± 1.02	1.38 ± 1.02
Daily exogenous insulin needs, IU/kg/day	460	0.10 (0.00-0.26)	0.10 (0.00-0.27)
Fasting blood glucose, mg/dL	826	108 (95-127)	110 (97-130)
HbA1c, %	797	6.43 ± 1.00	6.43 ± 0.98
Primary Graft Function	318	13.8 ± 7.9	14.3 ± 8.8
PGF < 10; 10 to < 20 ;		100 (31%); 150 (47%) ;	388 (32%); 515 (43%) ;
20 to < 30; ≥ 30		63 (20%); 5 (2%)	268 (22%); 39 (3%)
PGF in single islet recipients	108	10.0 ± 7.1	9.5 ± 7.9
PGF in multiple islet recipients	210	15.8 ± 7.6	16.0 ± 8.5
PGF in ITA recipients	251	12.9 ± 7.6	13.9 ± 8.6
PGF in IAK recipients	64	17.4 ± 8.2	16.2 ± 9.5

Data are shown as number (percentage), mean \pm standard deviation or median (25th to 75th percentile). Data are presented before and after handling missing values by multiple imputations using the regression-switching approach (chained equations with m = 60 imputations) using all patients and transplantation's characteristics and Beta2-score components at day 28 after the last islet infusion.

Supplementary Table S2: Association of primary graft function quartile categories and 5-

|--|

			Unadjusted		Adjusted	
IT	PGF	Events /		р		p*
Outcomes	quartiles	Recipients	SHR (95%CI)	value	shr* (95%CI)	value
Unsuccessful						
IT						
	< 8.0	177 / 219	1.00 (ref.)	-	1.00 (ref.)	-
	8.0-14.2	153 / 238	0.51 (0.40-0.63)	< 0.0001	0.56 (0.44-0.70)	< 0.0001
	14.2-20.1	136 / 242	0.38 (0.30-0.49)	< 0.0001	0.44 (0.33-0.56)	< 0.0001
	> 20.1	125 / 243	0.32 (0.25-0.40)	< 0.0001	0.35 (0.26-0.45)	< 0.0001
Graft						
exhaustion						
	< 8.0	165 / 258	1.00 (ref.)	-	1.00 (ref.)	-
	8.0-14.2	96 / 264	0.36 (0.27-0.46)	< 0.0001	0.38 (0.28-0.49)	< 0.0001
	14.2-20.1	71/273	0.22 (0.16-0.30)	< 0.0001	0.25 (0.18-0.35)	< 0.0001
	> 20.1	58 / 276	0.17 (0.12-0.23)	< 0.0001	0.19 (0.13-0.27)	< 0.0001
Inadequate						
GC						
	< 8.0	167 / 230	1.00 (ref.)	-	1.00 (ref.)	-
	8.0-14.2	151 / 245	0.59 (0.47-0.74)	< 0.0001	0.64 (0.50-0.80)	< 0.0001
	14.2-20.1	136 / 247	0.46 (0.36-0.58)	< 0.0001	0.49 (0.37-0.63)	< 0.0001
	> 20.1	124 / 246	0.38 (0.30-0.47)	< 0.0001	0.39 (0.29-0.50)	< 0.0001
Insulin						
therapy						
	< 8.0	255 / 280	1.00 (ref.)	-	1.00 (ref.)	-
	8.0-14.2	211/278	0.61 (0.50-0.73)	< 0.0001	0.65 (0.53-0.78)	< 0.0001
	14.2-20.1	179 / 280	0.40 (0.33-0.48)	< 0.0001	0.42 (0.34-0.52)	< 0.0001
	> 20.1	156 / 283	0.31 (0.25-0.37)	< 0.0001	0.32 (0.25-0.40)	< 0.0001

Association of PGF (defined by the Beta2-score at day 28 after the last islet infusion) described in four risk groups according to quartile categories with cumulative incidence of the four unfavorable islet transplantation outcomes. This association was explored using Fine and Gray regression models before and after adjustment on prespecified covariates included all variables suspected or known to impact islet transplantation outcomes (*): recipient age, sex, body mass index, diabetes duration, daily insulin needs, baseline C-peptide level before islet transplantation, number of islet infusions, total islet mass transplanted per kg of recipient weight, total cell volume transplanted, type of recipient (ITA or IAK), and the use of specific immunosuppression agents (interleukin 2 receptor antagonist, TNF alpha antagonist, T-cell depleting agent, calcineurin inhibitor andm-TOR inhibitor). SubHazard ratio (sHR) was calculated with the first quartile (PGF < 8) as reference. SHs, 95%CI, and p-values are calculated after handling missing values by multiple imputations using the regressionswitching approach (chained equations with m = 60 imputations) using all patients and transplantation's characteristics and Beta2-score components at day 28 after the last islet infusion.

PGF= Primary Graft Function; IT= Islet Transplantation; sHR= subHazard Ratio; CI= Confidence Interval; Inadequate GC= Inadequate Glucose Control

Supplementary Table S3: Discrimination and calibration assessment of primary graft

function measured at day 28 following the last islet infusion to predict unfavorable islet

transplantation outcomes.

	2-year		5-year	
	Observed	Predicted	Observed	Predicted
	U	nsuccessful	islet transplantation	on
PGF quartiles				
<8.0	0.789	0.688	0.882	0.888
8.0-14.2	0.555	0.538	0.721	0.769
14.2-20.1	0.439	0.43	0.641	0.646
>20.1	0.314	0.295	0.608	0.486
C-statistics, median (range)*		0.70 (′0.69 to 0.71)	
		Graft	t exhaustion	
PGF quartiles				
<8.0	0.632	0.547	0.713	0.755
8.0-14.2	0.295	0.324	0.429	0.508
14.2-20.1	0.176	0.204	0.317	0.334
>20.1	0.107	0.097	0.255	0.17
C-statistics,		0.76	(0, 74 + 0, 77)	
median (range)*		0.76 (0.74 (0 0.77)	
		Inadequat	e glucose control	
PGF quartiles				
<8.0	0.715	0.632	0.827	0.829
8.0-14.2	0.527	0.497	0.694	0.723
14.2-20.1	0.434	0.415	0.622	0.627
>20.1	0.303	0.313	0.582	0.501
C-statistics, median (range)*		0.65 (′0.64 to 0.66)	
		Need for	r insulin therapy	
PGF quartiles				
<8.0	0.875	0.773	0.941	0.913
8.0-14.2	0.682	0.608	0.809	0.804
14.2-20.1	0.506	0.493	0.699	0.698
>20.1	0.383	0.35	0.614	0.537
C-statistics, median (range)*		0.72 ((0.71 to 0.73)	

Observed and predicted probabilities of unfavorable islet transplantation outcomes at 2 and 5 years are presented in the table by four risk groups according to PGF quartile categories. Values labeled "observed" were calculated using Kalbfleisch and Prentice method and values labeled "predicted" were calculated as the mean predicted probabilities by the Fine and Gray regression models. Observed and predicted probabilities were calculated after handling missing values by multiple imputations using the regression-switching approach (chained equations with m = 60 imputations) using all patients and transplantation's characteristics and Beta2-score components at day 28 after the last islet infusion.

* median and range values of C-statistics corrected for over optimism bias obtained in the 60 imputed datasets by internal validation using bootstrap resampling method (200 resamples) PGF= Primary Graft Function

Supplementary Appendix: Complete list of co-authors and institutions from the

Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry investigators study group

		Middle	
Institution	First name	initial	Surname
Baylor College of Medicine/The Methodist			
Hospital	John	Α.	Goss
Baylor Regional Transplant Institute	Nicholas		Onaca
Benaroya Research Institute	Carla		Greenbaum
Brussels Free University	Bart		Keymeulen
Brussels Free University	Daniel		Pipeleers
Carolinas Medical Center	Paul		Gores
Columbia University	Mark		Hardy
Columbia University	Beth		Schrope
Emory Transplant Center	Christian		Larsen
Geneva University Hospital/GRAGIL Network	Thierry		Berney
Georgetown University	Khalid		Khan
Institute for Clinical and Experimental Medicine			
(IKEM)	Frantisek		Saudek
Leiden University	Eelco		De Koning
Lille University Hospital	Francois		Pattou
Lille University Hospital	Marie-Christine		Vantyghem
Massachusetts General Hospital	Enrico		Cagliero
Massachusetts General Hospital	James		Markmann
Mayo Clinic	Yogish		Kudva
Medical University of South Carolina	Hongjun		Wang
UK Consortium: Newcastle University	James		Shaw
NIH Clinical Transplant Center	David		Harlan
Nordic Network	Torbjorn		Lundgren
Northwestern University	Daniel		Borja-Cacho
Ohio State University	Amer		Rajab
Royal Adelaide Hospital	Toby		Coates
San Raffaele Institute	Paola		Maffi
San Raffaele Institute	Antonio		Secchi
San Raffaele Institute	Lorenzo		Piemonti
Seoul St. Mary's Hospital	Kun-Ho		Yoon
Southern California Islet Consortium (City of			
Hope)	Fouad		Kandeel
St. Vincent's Institute	Tom		Kay

St. Vincent's Institute	Thomas		Loudovaris
Swedish Medical Center	William	Н.	Marks
Toronto General Hospital	Gary		Levy
Toronto General Hospital	Mark		Cattral
University of Alberta	A.M. James		Shapiro
University of Alberta	Peter		Senior
University of California, San Francisco	Andrew		Posselt
University of California, San Francisco	Peter		Stock
University of Chicago	Piotr		Witkowski
University of Colorado, Barbara Davis Center	Peter		Gottllieb
University of Colorado, Barbara Davis Center	Alexander		Wiseman
University of Illinois, Chicago	Kirstie		Danielson
University of Massachusetts Memorial Health			
Care	Aldo	Α.	Rossini
University of Massachusetts Memorial Health			
Care	Michael	J.	Thompson
University of Miami	Rodolfo		Alejandro
University of Miami	Camillo		Ricordi
University of Minnesota	Bernhard		Hering
University of Minnesota	Melena		Bellin
University of Nebraska	Luciano		Vargas
University of North Carolina Chapel Hill	Chirag		Desai
University of Pennsylvania	Ali		Naji
University of Pennsylvania	Michael	R.	Rickels
University of Tennessee, Memphis	A. Osama		Gaber
University of Virginia	Jose		Oberholzer
University of Virginia	Kenneth		Brayman
University of Wisconsin	Dixon		Kaufman
University of Wisconsin	Jon		Odorico
Virginia Commonwealth University	Marlon		Levy
Washington University, St. Louis	Niraj		Desai
Weill Cornell Medical College	Meredith		Aull
Weill Cornell Medical College	Dolca		Thomas
Westmead Hospital	Philip		O'Connell

Part 3: Discussion and Perspectives

3.1 Findings

These clinical research studies have allowed us to explore the concept of PGF described in a previous study ⁷² and initially measured with the Beta-score in 14 ITA recipients and confirm its impact on IT outcomes.

We firstly explored on the Lille single-center cohort the relationship between PGF and the transplantation outcomes at 5 years on ITA and IAK recipients and secondly, we investigated the impact of PGF on the long-term success of IT (10 years prospective cohort) with multivariable analysis on data from donors and transplantation characteristic in a population who benefited from the Edmonton immunosuppression.

Then, in collaboration with other colleagues, we participated in the refinement of the definition of the β -cell replacement success, in particular by applying the measure of continuous glucose monitoring. This definition was, then, used for the last study of our work. Finally, our last work was concluded on a clinical study exploring the largest population of islet transplant recipients in the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry and using the refined Igls 2.0 success definition as primary outcome.

In this study we investigated the relationship between primary islet graft function (defined as Beta2-score measured on day 28 of the last islet infusion) and four current clinical outcomes of IT at a 5-year follow-up.

Beta2-score measured on day 28 was intentionally chosen because a planned time point is scheduled at day 28 in the registry and because Beta2-score seemed to be more accurate than other indexes and easier to use with a single fasting blood sample to measure PGF.

The strength of our study was the use of the CITR international cohort of allogeneic islet recipients and our analysis included a total of 1210 T1D transplanted recipients in 39 centers

worldwide, using heterogeneous donor graft allocation systems, islet graft and recipient characteristics, and various clinical transplantation and immunosuppression strategies.

We then designed a robust statistical methodology to validate the predictive role of PGF at 5 years on transplantation success, and then to generalize our results into a clinical perspective that will help the clinician in the decision to perform a new islet infusion or not after a previous infusion.

As we have shown, the association between PGF and IT success was linear, in a dose-response manner, demonstrating that increase in PGF is associated with sustained IT success.

We also demonstrated thanks to this large registry the independent relationship between PGF and IT success from other known predictors impacting IT and used to adjust the strength of the relation between PGF and the 5-year outcomes.

3.2 Limitations

The primary islet graft function concept has therefore some limitations.

Indeed, the primary islet graft function in the context of multiple donors is difficult to capture. In kidney transplantation, it is possible to easily evaluate whether the patient has urinated or not the day after the transplantation, or even more precisely by measuring the glomerular filtration rate of the kidney transplant.

Islet transplantation, unlike solid organ transplantation, is currently a sequential cell transplantation of multiple transplants from different donors. This means that the graft is composed of several clusters of free islet cells in the liver sinusoidal capillaries and will require from 1 to 4 weeks to be correctly re-vascularized following infusion in the portal vein.

In IT, the primary islet graft function is therefore the result of interactions between different entities that impact islet functional mass such as donor characteristics, islet cell isolation and culture processes, quality of the recipient and its auto and alloimmune conditions, transplantation and immunosuppression strategies.

Thus, primary islet graft function is a global and composite metric of early islet potency and engraftment and reflects at the time of its measurement factors that cannot always be controlled or appreciated. Finally, PGF is the overall early potency of islet cells transplanted from multiple donors. This composite index accounts for multiple donor factors and is ultimately a proxy for the whole islet graft treated as a "single organ", which we recognize is a potential source of bias.

The Transplant Estimated Function developed by Piemonti and colleagues ⁶⁴ is a different approach because it estimates the daily insulin secretion and therefore the secretory capacity of the graft, has similar performances to the Beta-score and has the benefit of being

normalized to the number of transplanted islets. However, in the registry, we mostly did not have the data between the different islet infusions to calculate it.

The method used to measure primary graft function in the CITR study was the Beta2-score, a composite continuous (0 for no beta-cell function) index requiring a fasting blood sample and calculated with values of fasting C-peptide and blood glucose, glycated hemoglobin and daily exogenous insulin needs per kg of recipient weight.

Several composite indexes have been proposed to measure islet graft function based on measurements of serum C-peptide and blood glucose in fasting or stimulated conditions and based on exogenous insulin requirements ^{65,64,74,66}.

In this study, we chose to use the Beta2-score, because it is a validated index, easy to use and does not require measurement after stimulation by a standardized meal test like the Beta-score. On the other hand, Forbes and colleagues showed that Beta2-score was more accurate than Beta-score in the discrimination of glucose intolerance and insulin independence, which is partly related to its continuous characteristic as opposed to Beta-score as a categorical variable ⁶⁶. Lam and colleagues showed that the Beta2-score measure of primary graft function was more accurate than the Secretory Unit of Islet Transplant Objects (SUITO) index, the homeostasis model assessment index of beta-cell function (HOMA2-B%), the C-peptide/glucose ratio, and the Transplant estimated function (TEF) index to discriminate insulin independence in patients.

Therefore, we cannot exclude that more refined approaches to estimate islet graft functional mass, such as dynamic testing of endogenous insulin resources, could improve the accuracy of predicting long-term outcomes¹.

We originally estimated PGF one month after the last islet infusion as reported in the first two articles of our work^{6,73} and at day 28 from the last infusion in the CITR study because this corresponded to an expected registry time point.

However, assessment of islet graft function at other time points could be more accurate.

Lam and colleagues reported that primary graft function assessed 7 days after islet infusion was related to transplantation success at 5 years in an univariate analysis of the Edmonton cohort ⁷⁵. However, they also clearly showed that the Beta2-score still increased until 4 to 6 weeks after islet infusion.

In the registry, we did not have available visit at 6 weeks and we believe that day 28 seems to be a reasonable time in clinical practice to assess the functional mass of engrafted islets. It also seems to be an appropriate time to ensure the restoration of physiological blood flow to the transplanted islets, as previously suggested ^{76,77}.

In this study, we performed a multivariate analysis to explore the relationship between PGF and transplantation success in order to adjust the strength of the relation between PGF and IT success on known or suspected confounding factors impacting transplantation outcomes. The validated prediction model, in contrast, was univariate and based only on PGF to predict IT success because PGF explained alone IT outcomes with good accuracy as shown by the median (range) C-statistic values of 0.70 (0.69-0.71); 0.76 (0.74-0.77); 0.65 (0.64-0.66); 0.72 (0.71-0.73) for prediction of the cumulative incidence of unsuccessful IT, graft exhaustion, inadequate glucose control, and the need for insulin therapy, respectively.

Some factors also impacted transplantation outcomes, and were not reported in the final manuscript in agreement with the methodological approach.

Indeed, in univariate analysis, m-TOR maintenance immunosuppression was associated with sustained insulin independence and the use of TNF alpha antagonist was associated with

sustained graft function after IT. End to note, the positive impact of anti-TNF potentiated induction has been previously reported in the CITR registry ^{59,78}.

Higher insulin requirements before transplantation was associated with unsuccessful IT, inadequate glucose control and with the need for insulin therapy after IT. Higher recipient body mass index was associated with inadequate glucose control after IT. These factors were previously suspected to impact long-term success of IT ^{6,72,73}.

In our study, the number of islet infusions and the total islet mass transplanted had no impact on the long-term islet graft function, which was in agreement with the results on the Lille cohort 6,73 and also recently reported by the Edmonton group 53 .

However, and this is the most common and frequent approach in IT, we repeat islet infusion to intuitively increase the primary graft function ⁴.

This strategy is therefore not always necessary as Hering and colleagues demonstrated that insulin independence could be achieved with single-donor transplants by careful selection of islet graft and recipient ²¹.

On the other hand, repeated islet infusion exposes to the lack of organ donors, to the risk of alloimmunization, even if the impact of donor specific HLA antibodies on the transplantation outcome is controversial ^{54,55,79}. Finally, the repetition of islet infusion exposes to the risk of complications. Caiazzo and colleagues reported a significant lower primary graft function when patients had procedure-related complications following IT and demonstrated its specific impact on the long-term graft survival ⁵⁰.

Repeated islet infusion represents therefore ethical, logistical, medical and financial issues.

3.3 Perspectives and clinical implications

First, this PhD study showed that primary graft function measured at one month after islet infusion was an accurate predictor of long-term IT outcomes. And our research aimed at exploring, validating and predicting the impact of PGF on clinical IT outcomes at 5 years. This study also highlighted that in order to improve IT outcomes, it is crucial to improve PGF, which reflects the quality of the islet graft. Therefore, PGF in clinical trials could be an early surrogate marker of transplant success. And future clinical trials comparing strategies to improve islet success could use PGF calculated at day 28 as an early primary endpoint.

Thus, there are different approaches to improve islet graft quality and they could be assessed by measuring PGF.

Improving PGF by selecting donors or isolated islets on qualitative parameters is currently not very realistic, because of the lack of donors.

However, if specific biomarkers have been related with clinical transplantation outcomes and could assess early islet potency, their values are not available before the decision of transplanting an islet preparation in a candidate recipient ^{77,80–82}. For this reason, pancreas donors are mostly selected on quantitative criteria, i.e. their potential to deliver a large enough islet mass following isolation as shown with the use of the North American Islet Donor Score (NAIDS) ⁸³ or by using specific tests in the donor ⁸⁴.

In the CITR cohort, we have explored the determinants of primary islet graft function in patients who received a single islet infusion to analyze factors that impacted PGF value (data not reported in the manuscript). Age of the donor, islet culture before transplantation, islet mass transplanted, immunosuppression, type of recipient (ITA or IAK), pre-transplant glycated

hemoglobin level and the recipient's autoimmune status are key factors impacting the Beta2score value measured at 28 days after islet infusion.

As islet processing strategies prior to transplantation could impact islet quality, viability and thus primary islet graft function, promising tools for pancreas organ management, such as hypothermic perfusion following procurement and before isolation, are investigated ^{85,86}.

These innovative enhancements could benefit in improving islet graft quality, at least in marginal donors. However, these highlights need to be studied more extensively on pancreas organs, even if they provided demonstrated benefits in kidney and liver transplantation in humans ⁸⁷.

Improving the engraftment of islet cells and their early potency is probably one of the most promising paths to increase primary islet graft function.

Thus, novel anticoagulation strategies associated with intraportal IT ⁸⁸ or the identification of alternative transplant sites ^{89–91} potentiated by immune-protective strategies are a constant source of research in the field of IT.

To date, intraportal transplantation with heparin anticoagulation remains the approach that has achieved the best clinical outcomes when compared to extra hepatic transplantation as shown in a recent comparative cohort study ⁹².

On the other hand, our study was able to demonstrate that the outcome of IT could be accurately predicted by calculating the PGF 28 days after islet infusion. A clinical application of our study is to help the clinician to decide whether or not to repeat an islet infusion, by measuring the PGF, 28 days after the first infusion. If the predicted outcomes are satisfactory, the transplantation program could be ended, but if the predicted outcomes are judged inadequate for the needs of a given patient, the clinician could decide to put the patient back on the waiting list for a new IT. A predicted risk calculator has been developed and is available online to help clinicians in this decision-making process (<u>https://lille-model.shinyapps.io/PGF-</u> <u>islet/)</u>

The preliminary "proof of concept" report of an ongoing multi-center open-label clinical trial phase 1/2, in several North American expert centers, has shown that pluripotent stem cells derived from endodermal cells and transplanted subcutaneously under immunosuppressive regimen using a macro-encapsulation device in 17 patients with T1D were able to survive and differentiate into insulin-secreting cells in 63% of patients ⁹³. This trial was not able to detect circulating C-peptide in the recipient. Another open-label phase 1/2 study of subcutaneous transplantation of pancreatic endodermal stem cells into macro-encapsulation devices, combined with an immunosuppressive regimen reported increased fasting C-peptide levels and increased C-peptide levels after stimulating with standardized meal challenge at one year in 15 patients ⁹⁴. Finally, the Vertex firm recently reported at the American Diabetes Association 2022 Annual Meeting the first patient treated with an intraportal transplantation of fully differentiated stem cell-derived pancreatic islet cells (VX-880[™]). At day 90 post-transplantation a large increase in fasting and stimulated C-peptide and a significant improvement in glycemic control and exogenous insulin requirements were observed ⁹⁵.

This three recent reports of ongoing clinical studies using insulin-secreting stem cells represent a breakthrough in our field and could dramatically shift the management of type 1 and type 2 diabetes in the near future.

Indeed, these pancreatic islet-like tissues derived from stem cells are an unlimited source of cells. The measurement of PGF could allow to identify in future trials the required and adequate dose of transplanted stem cells to reach a sustainable metabolic success in diabetic patients.

Part 4: References

1 Rickels MR, Robertson RP. Pancreatic Islet Transplantation in Humans: Recent Progress and Future Directions. *Endocr Rev* 2019; **40**: 631–68.

2 Vantyghem M-C, Koning EJP de, Pattou F, Rickels MR. Advances in β-cell replacement therapy for the treatment of type 1 diabetes. *The Lancet* 2019; **394**: 1274–85.

Rickels MR, Fuller C, Dalton-Bakes C, *et al.* Restoration of Glucose Counterregulation by Islet Transplantation in Long-standing Type 1. *Diabetes* 2015; **64**: 1713–8.

4CITR. Scientific Summary of the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry (CITR), 11th
AllograftReport.2022https://citregistry.org/system/files/11th%20Allograft%20report%20May%2031%202022.pdf

5 Barton FB, Rickels MR, Alejandro R, *et al.* Improvement in Outcomes of Clinical Islet Transplantation: 1999–2010. *Dia Care* 2012; **35**: 1436–45.

6 Vantyghem M-C, Chetboun M, Gmyr V, *et al.* Ten-Year Outcome of Islet Alone or Islet After Kidney Transplantation in Type 1 Diabetes: A Prospective Parallel-Arm Cohort Study. *Diabetes Care* 2019; published online Sept 9. DOI:10.2337/dc19-0401.

57 Silva IBB, Kimura CH, Colantoni VP, Sogayar MC. Stem cells differentiation into insulinproducing cells (IPCs): recent advances and current challenges. *Stem Cell Res Ther* 2022; **13**: 309.

8 Ballinger WF, Lacy PE. Transplantation of intact pancreatic islets in rats. *Surgery* 1972; **72**: 175–86.

9 Kemp CB, Knight MJ, Scharp DW, Lacy PE, Ballinger WF. Transplantation of isolated pancreatic islets into the portal vein of diabetic rats. *Nature* 1973; **244**: 447.

10 Reckard CR, Barker CF. Transplantation of isolated pancreatic islets across strong and weak histocompatibility barriers. *Transplant Proc* 1973; **5**: 761–3.

11 Barker CF. Transplantation of the Islets of Langerhans and the Histocompatibility of Endocrine Tissue. *Diabetes* 1975; **24**: 766–75.

12 Ziegler MM, Reckard CR, Barker CF. Long-term metabolic and immunological considerations in transplantation of pancreatic islets. *J Surg Res* 1974; **16**: 575–81.

13 Gray DW, McShane P, Grant A, Morris PJ. A method for isolation of islets of Langerhans from the human pancreas. *Diabetes* 1984; **33**: 1055–61.

14 Warnock GL, Cattral MS, Rajotte RV. Normoglycemia after implantation of purified islet cells in dogs. *Can J Surg* 1988; **31**: 421–6.

15 Ricordi C, Lacy PE, Finke EH, Olack BJ, Scharp DW. Automated Method for Isolation of Human Pancreatic Islets. *Diabetes* 1988; **37**: 413–20.

16 Ricordi C, Lacy PE, Scharp DW. Automated Islet Isolation From Human Pancreas. *Diabetes* 1989; **38**: 140–2.

17 Loganathan G, Balamurugan AN, Venugopal S. Human pancreatic tissue dissociation enzymes for islet isolation: Advances and clinical perspectives. *Diabetes Metab Syndr* 2020; **14**: 159–66.

18 Brandhorst D, Brandhorst H, Johnson PRV. Enzyme Development for Human Islet Isolation: Five Decades of Progress or Stagnation? *Rev Diabet Stud* 2017; **14**: 22–38.

19 Scharp DW, Lacy PE, Santiago JV, *et al.* Insulin Independence After Islet Transplantation Into Type I Diabetic Patient. *Diabetes* 1990; **39**: 515–8.

Shapiro AMJ, Lakey JRT, Ryan EA, *et al.* Islet Transplantation in Seven Patients with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus Using a Glucocorticoid-Free Immunosuppressive Regimen. *N Engl J Med* 2000; **343**: 230–8.

21 Hering BJ, Kandaswamy R, Ansite JD, et al. SIngle-donor, marginal-dose islet

transplantation in patients with type 1 diabetes. *JAMA* 2005; **293**: 830–5.

22 Emamaullee JA, Pepper A, Shapiro AMJ. Chapter 56 - Islet Cell Transplantation. In: Atala A, Lanza R, Mikos AG, Nerem R, eds. Principles of Regenerative Medicine (Third Edition). Boston: Academic Press, 2019: 987–1007.

23 Shapiro AMJ, Ricordi C, Hering BJ, *et al.* International Trial of the Edmonton Protocol for Islet Transplantation. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2006; **355**: 1318–30.

Ryan EA, Lakey JRT, Paty BW, *et al.* Successful islet transplantation: continued insulin reserve provides long-term glycemic control. *Diabetes* 2002; **51**: 2148–57.

25 Bertuzzi F, Grohovaz F, Maffi P, *et al.* Succesful transplantation of human islets in recipients bearing a kidney graft. *Diabetologia* 2002; **45**: 77–84.

Toso C, Baertschiger R, Morel P, *et al.* Sequential Kidney/Islet Transplantation: Efficacy and Safety Assessment of a Steroid-Free Immunosuppression Protocol. *American Journal of Transplantation* 2006; **6**: 1049–58.

27 Traitement innovant du diabète : à la ... | Fédération Française des Diabétiques. https://www.federationdesdiabetiques.org/information/traitement-diabete/pancreasartificiel (accessed Oct 12, 2022).

Ryan EA, Shandro T, Green K, *et al.* Assessment of the Severity of Hypoglycemia and Glycemic Lability in Type 1 Diabetic Subjects Undergoing Islet Transplantation. *Diabetes* 2004;
 53: 955–62.

29 Kovatchev BP, Otto E, Cox D, Gonder-Frederick L, Clarke W. Evaluation of a new measure of blood glucose variability in diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2006; **29**: 2433–8.

30 Clarke WL, Cox DJ, Gonder-Frederick LA, Julian D, Schlundt D, Polonsky W. Reduced awareness of hypoglycemia in adults with IDDM. A prospective study of hypoglycemic frequency and associated symptoms. *Diabetes Care* 1995; **18**: 517–22.

31 Choudhary P, Rickels MR, Senior PA, *et al.* Evidence-Informed Clinical Practice Recommendations for Treatment of Type 1 Diabetes Complicated by Problematic Hypoglycemia. *Diabetes Care* 2015; **38**: 1016–29.

Lablanche S, Vantyghem M-C, Kessler L, *et al.* Islet transplantation versus insulin therapy in patients with type 1 diabetes with severe hypoglycaemia or poorly controlled glycaemia after kidney transplantation (TRIMECO): a multicentre, randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology* 2018; **0**. DOI:10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30078-0.

33 Vantyghem M-C, Marcelli-Tourvieille S, Fermon C, *et al.* Intraperitoneal Insulin Infusion Versus Islet Transplantation: Comparative Study in Patients with Type 1 Diabetes: *Transplantation* 2009; **87**: 66–71.

Holmes-Walker DJ, Gunton JE, Hawthorne W, *et al.* Islet Transplantation Provides Superior Glycemic Control With Less Hypoglycemia Compared With Continuous Subcutaneous Insulin Infusion or Multiple Daily Insulin Injections. *Transplantation* 2017; **101**: 1268–75.

Thompson DM, Meloche M, Ao Z, *et al.* Reduced Progression of Diabetic Microvascular Complications With Islet Cell Transplantation Compared With Intensive Medical Therapy: *Transplantation* 2011; **91**: 373–8.

36 Gerber PA, Locher R, Zuellig RA, *et al.* Glycemia, Hypoglycemia, and Costs of Simultaneous Islet-Kidney or Islet After Kidney Transplantation Versus Intensive Insulin Therapy and Waiting List for Islet Transplantation. *Transplantation* 2015; **99**: 2174–80.

Nakamura T, Fujikura J, Anazawa T, *et al.* Long-term outcome of islet transplantation on insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: An observational cohort study. *J Diabetes Investig* 2020; **11**: 363–72.

38 Berney T, Andres A, Bellin MD, *et al.* A Worldwide Survey of Activities and Practices in

Clinical Islet of Langerhans Transplantation. *Transpl Int* 2022; **35**: 10507.

39 Branchereau J, Ogbemudia AE, Bas-Bernardet SL, *et al.* Novel Organ Perfusion and Preservation Strategies in Controlled Donation After Circulatory Death in Pancreas and Kidney Transplantation. *Transplant Proc* 2022; **54**: 77–9.

40 Benomar K, Chetboun M, Espiard S, *et al.* Purity of islet preparations and 5-year metabolic outcome of allogenic islet transplantation. *Am J Transplant* 2018; **18**: 945–51.

41 Wassmer C-H, Perrier Q, Combescure C, *et al.* Impact of ischemia time on islet isolation success and posttransplantation outcomes: A retrospective study of 452 pancreas isolations. *American Journal of Transplantation* 2021; **21**: 1493–502.

42 Kerr-Conte J, Vandewalle B, Moerman E, *et al.* Upgrading Pretransplant Human Islet Culture Technology Requires Human Serum Combined With Media Renewal: *Transplantation* 2010; **89**: 1154–60.

43 Lehmann R, Graziano J, Brockmann J, *et al.* Glycemic Control in Simultaneous Islet-Kidney Versus Pancreas-Kidney Transplantation in Type 1 Diabetes: A Prospective 13-Year Follow-up. *Dia Care* 2015; **38**: 752–9.

44 Maffi P, Scavini M, Socci C, *et al.* Risks and benefits of transplantation in the cure of type 1 diabetes: whole pancreas versus islet transplantation. A single center study. *Rev Diabet Stud* 2011; **8**: 44–50.

Frank A, Deng S, Huang X, *et al.* Transplantation for type I diabetes: comparison of vascularized whole-organ pancreas with isolated pancreatic islets. *Ann Surg* 2004; **240**: 631–40; discussion 640-643.

Nathan JD, Yang Y, Eaton A, *et al.* Surgical approach and short-term outcomes in adults and children undergoing total pancreatectomy with islet autotransplantation: A report from the Prospective Observational Study of TPIAT. *Pancreatology* 2022; **22**: 1–8.

47 Boucher AA, Wastvedt S, Hodges JS, *et al.* Portal Vein Thrombosis May Be More Strongly Associated With Islet Infusion Than Extreme Thrombocytosis After Total Pancreatectomy With Islet Autotransplantation. *Transplantation* 2021; **105**: 2499–506.

48 Robbins AJ, Skube ME, Bellin MD, *et al.* Portal Vein Thrombosis After Total Pancreatectomy and Islet Autotransplant: Prophylaxis and Graft Impact. *Pancreas* 2019; **48**: 1329–33.

49 Kawahara T, Kin T, Shapiro AMJ. A comparison of islet autotransplantation with allotransplantation and factors elevating acute portal pressure in clinical islet transplantation. *J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci* 2012; **19**: 281–8.

50 Caiazzo R, Vantyghem M-C, Raverdi V, *et al.* Impact of Procedure-Related Complications on Long-term Islet Transplantation Outcome: *Transplantation* 2015; **99**: 979–84.

51 Campbell PM, Salam A, Ryan EA, *et al.* Pretransplant HLA Antibodies Are Associated with Reduced Graft Survival After Clinical Islet Transplantation. *American Journal of Transplantation* 2007; **7**: 1242–8.

52 Warnock GL, Thompson DM, Meloche RM, *et al.* A multi-year analysis of islet transplantation compared with intensive medical therapy on progression of complications in type 1 diabetes. *Transplantation* 2008; **86**: 1762–6.

53 Marfil-Garza BA, Imes S, Verhoeff K, *et al.* Pancreatic islet transplantation in type 1 diabetes: 20-year experience from a single-centre cohort in Canada. *The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology* 2022; **10**: 519–32.

54 Maanaoui M, Chetboun M, Top I, *et al.* The challenge of HLA donor specific antibodies in the management of pancreatic islet transplantation: an illustrative case-series. *Sci Rep* 2022; **12**: 12463.

55 Pouliquen E, Baltzinger P, Lemle A, *et al.* Anti-Donor HLA Antibody Response After Pancreatic Islet Grafting: Characteristics, Risk Factors, and Impact on Graft Function. *Am J Transplant* 2017; **17**: 462–73.

56 Piemonti L, Everly MJ, Maffi P, *et al.* Alloantibody and Autoantibody Monitoring Predicts Islet Transplantation Outcome in Human Type 1. *Diabetes* 2013; **62**: 1656–64.

57 Lemos JRN, Baidal DA, Ricordi C, Fuenmayor V, Alvarez A, Alejandro R. Survival After Islet Transplantation in Subjects With Type 1 Diabetes: Twenty-Year Follow-Up. *Diabetes Care* 2021; **44**: e67–8.

58 Davalli AM, Scaglia L, Zangen DH, Hollister J, Bonner-Weir S, Weir GC. Vulnerability of Islets in the Immediate Posttransplantation Period: Dynamic Changes in Structure and Function. *Diabetes* 1996; **45**: 1161–7.

59 Bellin MD, Barton FB, Heitman A, *et al.* Potent Induction Immunotherapy Promotes Long-Term Insulin Independence After Islet Transplantation in Type 1 Diabetes. *American Journal of Transplantation* 2012; **12**: 1576–83.

60 Biarnés M, Montolio M, Nacher V, Raurell M, Soler J, Montanya E. Beta-cell death and mass in syngeneically transplanted islets exposed to short- and long-term hyperglycemia. *Diabetes* 2002; **51**: 66–72.

61 Eich T, Eriksson O, Lundgren T. Visualization of Early Engraftment in Clinical Islet Transplantation by Positron-Emission Tomography. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2007; **356**: 2754–5.

62 Bennet W, Sundberg B, Groth CG, *et al.* Incompatibility between human blood and isolated islets of Langerhans: a finding with implications for clinical intraportal islet transplantation? *Diabetes* 1999; **48**: 1907–14.

Johansson H, Goto M, Siegbahn A, Elgue G, Korsgren O, Nilsson B. Low Molecular Weight Dextran Sulfate: A Strong Candidate Drug to Block IBMIR in Clinical Islet Transplantation. *American Journal of Transplantation* 2006; **6**: 305–12.

64 Caumo A, Maffi P, Nano R, *et al.* Transplant estimated function: a simple index to evaluate beta-cell secretion after islet transplantation. *Diabetes Care* 2008; **31**: 301–5.

65 Ryan EA, Paty BW, Senior PA, Lakey JRT, Bigam D, Shapiro AMJ. β-Score An assessment of β-cell function after islet transplantation. *Dia Care* 2005; **28**: 343–7.

Forbes S, Oram RA, Smith A, *et al.* Validation of the BETA-2 Score: An Improved Tool to Estimate Beta Cell Function After Clinical Islet Transplantation Using a Single Fasting Blood Sample. *American Journal of Transplantation* 2016; **16**: 2704–13.

67 Terasaki PI, Cecka JM, Gjertson DW, Takemoto S. High survival rates of kidney transplants from spousal and living unrelated donors. *N Engl J Med* 1995; **333**: 333–6.

Ojo AO, Wolfe RA, Held PJ, Port FK, Schmouder RL. DELAYED GRAFT FUNCTION: RISK FACTORS AND IMPLICATIONS FOR RENAL ALLOGRAFT SURVIVAL1. *Transplantation* 1997; **63**: 968–74.

69 Moers C, Smits JM, Maathuis M-HJ, *et al.* Machine Perfusion or Cold Storage in Deceased-Donor Kidney Transplantation. *N Engl J Med* 2009; **360**: 7–19.

70 Olthoff KM, Kulik L, Samstein B, *et al.* Validation of a current definition of early allograft dysfunction in liver transplant recipients and analysis of risk factors. *Liver Transplantation* 2010; **16**: 943–9.

Lee DD, Singh A, Burns JM, Perry DK, Nguyen JH, Taner CB. Early allograft dysfunction in liver transplantation with donation after cardiac death donors results in inferior survival. *Liver Transplantation* 2014; **20**: 1447–53. Vantyghem M-C, Kerr-Conte J, Arnalsteen L, *et al.* Primary Graft Function, Metabolic Control, and Graft Survival After Islet Transplantation. *Diabetes Care* 2009; **32**: 1473–8.

73 Chetboun M, Mapihan KL, Gmyr V, *et al.* Chapter 51 - Optimizing primary graft function in islet allotransplantation: The Lille experience. In: Orlando G, Piemonti L, Ricordi C, Stratta RJ, Gruessner RWG, eds. Transplantation, Bioengineering, and Regeneration of the Endocrine Pancreas. Academic Press, 2020: 637–43.

74 Caumo A, Maffi P, Nano R, *et al.* Comparative evaluation of simple indices of graft function after islet transplantation. *Transplantation* 2011; **92**: 815–21.

Lam A, Oram RA, Forbes S, *et al.* Estimation of Early Graft Function Using the BETA-2 Score Following Clinical Islet Transplantation. *Transpl Int* 2022; **35**: 10335.

Jansson L, Carlsson P-O. Graft vascular function after transplantation of pancreatic islets. *Diabetologia* 2002; **45**: 749–63.

77 Bertuzzi F, Ricordi C. Prediction of Clinical Outcome in Islet Allotransplantation. *Diabetes Care* 2007; **30**: 410–7.

Hering BJ, Ballou CM, Bellin MD, *et al.* Factors associated with favourable 5 year outcomes in islet transplant alone recipients with type 1 diabetes complicated by severe hypoglycaemia in the Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry. *Diabetologia* 2022; published online Oct 6. DOI:10.1007/s00125-022-05804-4.

Piemonti L, Everly MJ, Maffi P, *et al.* Alloantibody and autoantibody monitoring predicts islet transplantation outcome in human type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 2013; 62: 1656–64.
Gala-Lopez BL, Neiman D, Kin T, *et al.* Beta Cell Death by Cell-free DNA and Outcome

After Clinical Islet Transplantation. *Transplantation* 2018; **102**: 978–85.

81 van der Torren CR, Verrijn Stuart AA, Lee D, *et al.* Serum Cytokines as Biomarkers in Islet Cell Transplantation for Type 1 Diabetes. *PLoS One* 2016; **11**: e0146649.

Martens GA, Stangé G, Piemonti L, *et al.* The MicroRNA Landscape of Acute Beta Cell Destruction in Type 1 Diabetic Recipients of Intraportal Islet Grafts. *Cells* 2021; **10**: 1693.

Wang L, Kin T, O'Gorman D, *et al.* A Multicenter Study: North American Islet Donor Score in Donor Pancreas Selection for Human Islet Isolation for Transplantation. *Cell Transplant* 2016; **25**: 1515–23.

84 Hubert T, Strecker G, Gmyr V, *et al.* Acute Insulin Response to Arginine in Deceased Donors Predicts the Outcome of Human Islet Isolation. *American Journal of Transplantation* 2008; **8**: 872–6.

Lepoittevin M, Giraud S, Kerforne T, *et al.* Preservation of Organs to Be Transplanted: An Essential Step in the Transplant Process. *Int J Mol Sci* 2022; **23**: 4989.

Doppenberg JB, Leemkuil M, Engelse MA, Krikke C, de Koning EJP, Leuvenink HGD. Hypothermic oxygenated machine perfusion of the human pancreas for clinical islet isolation: a prospective feasibility study. *Transpl Int* 2021; **34**: 1397–407.

87 Knijff LWD, van Kooten C, Ploeg RJ. The Effect of Hypothermic Machine Perfusion to Ameliorate Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury in Donor Organs. *Front Immunol* 2022; **13**: 848352.

88 von Zur-Mühlen B, Lundgren T, Bayman L, *et al.* Open Randomized Multicenter Study to Evaluate Safety and Efficacy of Low Molecular Weight Sulfated Dextran in Islet Transplantation. *Transplantation* 2019; **103**: 630–7.

89 Van Hulle F, De Groot K, Hilbrands R, *et al.* Function and composition of pancreatic islet cell implants in omentum of type 1 diabetes patients. *Am J Transplant* 2022; **22**: 927–36.

Baidal DA, Ricordi C, Berman DM, *et al.* Bioengineering of an Intraabdominal Endocrine Pancreas. *N Engl J Med* 2017; **376**: 1887–9.

91 Wszola M, Berman A, Gorski L, *et al.* Endoscopic Islet Autotransplantation Into Gastric
Submucosa-1000-Day Follow-up of Patients. *Transplant Proc* 2018; **50**: 2119–23.

92 Verhoeff K, Marfil-Garza BA, Sandha G, *et al.* Outcomes Following Extrahepatic and Intraportal Pancreatic Islet Transplantation: A Comparative Cohort Study. *Transplantation* 2022; published online June 1. DOI:10.1097/TP.000000000004180.

93 Shapiro AMJ, Thompson D, Donner TW, *et al.* Insulin expression and C-peptide in type 1 diabetes subjects implanted with stem cell-derived pancreatic endoderm cells in an encapsulation device. *Cell Rep Med* 2021; **2**: 100466.

Ramzy A, Thompson DM, Ward-Hartstonge KA, *et al.* Implanted pluripotent stem-cellderived pancreatic endoderm cells secrete glucose-responsive C-peptide in patients with type 1 diabetes. *Cell Stem Cell* 2021; **28**: 2047-2061.e5.

95 MARKMANN JF, NAJI A, RICKELS MR, *et al.* 259-OR: Stem Cell–Derived, Fully Differentiated Islet Cells for Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes* 2022; **71**: 259-OR.

Part 5: Abstract

Abstract

Pancreatic islet transplantation (IT) is an established β -cell replacement therapy for the treatment of severe type 1 Diabetes (T1D). The allogeneic human islet isolated from a pancreas procured from a brain-dead donor and transplanted under immunosuppression in the liver allows restoration of endogenous insulin secretion which decreases severe hypoglycemic events and maintains optimal glucose balance and quality of life.

A recent study reported patients with prolonged islet graft survival and sustained metabolic benefits for at least 20 years.

Unfortunately, Half of the patients will experience islet graft failure within the first 5 years after IT, as reported by the international Collaborative Islet Transplant Registry (CITR).

This failure is multifactorial and is due to the characteristics of the donor, recipient, isolation process, cell culture, transplantation and immunosuppressive.

Our work focused on the optimization of IT and especially on the predictive role of the primary islet graft function (PGF).

We firstly explored on the Lille cohort (2003-2012, 28 adult T1D patients), the relationship between PGF and 5-year IT outcomes on islet transplant alone (14 ITA) and islet-after-kidney transplantation (14 IAK) recipients.

PGF, measured with the Beta-score one month after the last islet infusion was optimal in 18 patients (64%) (Beta-score ≥7) and suboptimal in 10 patients (36%) (Beta-score <7).

82%(95% CI, 62-92) of patients sustained graft survival and 39%(22-57) were insulinindependent at 5 years. Optimal PGF recipients had better 5-year graft survival rate than suboptimal PGF recipients with 100% vs 50%(18-75), respectively (P <0.001). 56%(31-75) vs 10%(1-36), (P < 0.001) were insulin-independent at 5 years, respectively. Patients with suboptimal PGF had a 6-fold higher risk of insulin reintroduction, and a 13-fold higher risk of graft failure at 5 years.

28%(13-45) of patients remained insulin independent and graft function was sustained in 78%(57-89) at 10 years. We then confirmed that optimal PGF confirmed to be associated with sustained IT success in the long-term. Type of recipient (ITA/IAK) did not impact success.

In the second part of our work, we participated in the refinement of the definition of the β cell replacement success, by applying the measure of continuous glucose monitoring (CGM). Data were collected for 10 years in 39 ITA and 16 IAK T1D recipients and compared to the four categories of success at any time points.

Following IT, the median (IQR) time spent in the glucose range (70-180 mg/dL) was gradually and significantly improved and the time spent below the range (HYPO <70 mg/dL) was significantly and gradually decreased in patients with failure, marginal, good and optimal categories of success, respectively, and allowed us to refine the definition of success by including CGMS measures.

Finally, our last work explored the largest population of islet transplant recipients in the CITR. PGF confirmed to be related to the 5-year IT success and this association was linear, resulting in a dosage-effect response independently from the number of infusions, total islet mass transplanted, and immunosuppression regimen in this large observational cohort study of 1210 patients. PGF measure, 28 days after the last infusion predicted IT outcome with good accuracy.

147

In conclusion, PGF could guide current clinical practice by informing one month after the last infusion, the decision to repeat a new islet infusion or not and could serve as an early surrogate endpoint in future trials.

Recent ongoing clinical studies reported the first patient treated with intraportal transplantation of pancreatic islet-like cells derived from stem cells and observed significant improvement in glycemic control and decrease in exogenous insulin requirements.

PGF could also allow to identify in future trials the required and optimal dose of transplanted stem cells to reach a sustainable metabolic success in diabetic patients.

Résumé

La transplantation d'îlots de Langerhans (TIL) allogénique intrahépatique, issus des cellules d'un pancréas de donneur cadavérique est une thérapie validée de remplacement des cellules β du diabète de type 1 (DT1) sévère et permet de restaurer la sécrétion endogène d'insuline, diminuent les hypoglycémies sévères et maintiennent un équilibre glycémique optimale. Une étude récente montre des bénéfices métaboliques durables (≥20 ans) chez les patients greffés avec un greffon fonctionnel.

Cependant, dans les 5 premières années, la moitié des patients connaissent une perte du greffon comme rapporté dans le registre international (CITR).

Cet échec est multifactoriel et dépend des caractéristiques du donneur, du receveur, de l'isolement, de la transplantation et de l'immunosuppression.

Notre travail s'est concentré sur l'optimisation de la TIL et sur le rôle prédictif de la fonction primaire du greffon d'îlots (PGF).

Nous avons exploré sur la cohorte lilloise, la relation entre le PGF et les résultats de la TIL à 5 ans chez les receveurs de greffe d'îlots seuls (14 ITA) et de greffe d'îlots après rein (14 IAK). La PGF, mesuré par le Beta-score un mois après la dernière infusion était optimale chez 18 patients (64%) (Beta-score ≥7) et suboptimale chez 10 patients (36%) (Beta-score <7). 82 % (IC95 %, 62-92) des patients ont bénéficié d'une survie du greffon et 39%(22-57) étaient insulino-indépendants à 5 ans. Les patients avec une PGF optimale avaient une survie prolongée du greffon à 5 ans par rapport à ceux présentant une PGF sous-optimale : 100 % vs 50 % (18-75), respectivement (P <0,001). 56%(31-75) vs 10%(1-36) de ces patients (P < 0,001) étaient insulino-indépendants à 5 ans, respectivement. Les patients avec une PGF sous-optimale avaient un risque 6 fois plus élevé de reprise de l'insuline, et 13 fois plus élevé de perte du greffon à 5 ans.

28%(13-45) des patients étaient insulino-indépendants et 78%(57-89) avaient un greffon fonctionnel à 10 ans. La PGF optimale était associée au succès durable de la TIL à 10 ans. Le type de receveur (ITA/IAK) n'avait pas d'impact sur le succès.

Ensuite, nous avons participé au raffinement de la définition du succès des stratégies de remplacement des cellules β , en appliquant les données de la surveillance continue du glucose (CGM) collectées pendant 10 ans chez 39 patients ITA et 16 IAK diabétiques et comparées aux quatre catégories de succès.

Après la TIL, le temps médian (IQR) passé dans l'intervalle glycémique recommandé (70-180 mg/dL) s'est progressivement et significativement amélioré et le temps passé en dessous de cette limite (HYPO <70 mg/dL) a significativement diminué, et ce graduellement dans les catégories croissantes de succès de la greffe nous permettant d'affiner la définition du succès en incluant les mesures du CGMS.

Enfin, nous avons exploré la plus grande population de transplantés d'îlots dans le registre international du CITR chez 1210 patients. La PGF a confirmé être liée au succès de la TIL à 5 ans et cette association était linéaire, avec une réponse dose-dépendante et indépendamment du nombre d'infusions, de la masse totale d'îlots transplantés et du régime d'immunosuppression. La PGF, mesurée 28 jours après la dernière infusion, permettait de prédire le résultat de la TIL avec une bonne précision.

150

En conclusion, la PGF pourrait influencer la pratique clinique actuelle en informant, un mois après la dernière infusion d'îlots, la décision de répéter ou non une nouvelle infusion et pourrait servir de critère de jugement précoce dans les essais futurs.

Des études cliniques récentes en cours ont rapporté le premier patient traité par transplantation intraportale de « d'îlots » pancréatiques dérivés de cellules souches et ont montré une amélioration significative du contrôle glycémique.

La PGF pourrait ainsi permettre d'identifier la dose nécessaire et optimale de cellules souches à transplanter pour atteindre un succès métabolique durable chez les patients diabétiques.